
 

 

 
TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

WATER – SEWER – FIRE – PARK 
22912 Vantage Pointe Drive, Twain Harte, CA  95383 

Phone (209) 586-3172 Fax (209) 586-0424 
 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
THCSD CONFERENCE ROOM 

22912 VANTAGE POINTE DR., TWAIN HARTE 
September 13, 2023 - 9:00 A.M. 

 
 

NOTICE: This meeting will be accessible via ZOOM for virtual participation. 

• Videoconference Link: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83306253137  

• Meeting ID: 833 0625 3137 

• Telephone: (669) 900-6833 

AGENDA 

The Board may take action on any item on the agenda.  
 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance & Roll Call 
 
3. Reading of Mission Statement 

 
4. Public Comment  

This time is provided to the public to speak regarding items not listed on this agenda. 
 

5. Consent Agenda 

A. Presentation and approval of financial statements through August 31, 2023. 

B. Approval of the minutes of the Regular Meeting held on August 9, 2023. 

C. Annual review of Policy #2002 – Discrimination. 

D. Annual review of Policy #3030 – Injury and Illness Prevention Program. 
 
6. New Business 

A. Introduction of Ordinance #31 – Adoption of the Twain Harte Community Services 
District Water Ordinance (Water Code). 

B. Introduction of Ordinance #32 – Adoption of the Twain Harte Community Services 
District Wastewater Ordinance (Wastewater Code). 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83306253137


  

Board Meeting Agenda - Twain Harte Community Services District 
Page 2 of 3 

 

C. Discuss/action regarding updated draft water and sewer rate study revenue 
requirements.  

D. Discussion/action to adopt revisions to Policy #2011 - On-Call Duty.  

E. Discussion/action to approve a letter of support for proposed constitutional 
amendment ACA 13 – Voting Thresholds. 
 

7. Reports 

A. President and Board member reports. 

B. Fire Chief’s report. 

C. Water/Sewer Operations Manager’s report. 

D. General Manager’s report. 
 

8. Adjourn   
 

 
HOW TO VIRTUALLY PARTICIPATE IN THIS MEETING  

The public can virtually observe and participate in a meeting as follows: 

• Computer: Join the videoconference by clicking the videoconference link located at the top of 

this agenda or on our website. You may be prompted to enter your name and email. Your 

email will remain private and you may enter “anonymous” for your name. 

• Smart Phone/Tablet: Join the videoconference by clicking the videoconference link located at 

the top of this agenda OR log in through the Zoom mobile app and enter the Meeting ID# and 

Password found at the top of this agenda. You may be prompted to enter your name and 

email. Your email will remain private and you may enter “anonymous” for your name. 

• Telephone:  Listen to the meeting by calling Zoom at (4669) 900-6833. Enter the Meeting ID# 

listed at the top of this agenda, followed by the pound (#) key.  

* NOTE: your personal video will be disabled and your microphone will be automatically muted. 

FOR MORE DETAILED INSTRUCTIONS, CLICK HERE  

 

SUBMITTING PUBLIC COMMENT 

The public will have an opportunity to comment before and during the meeting as follows: 

• Before the Meeting:  

o Email comments to ksilva@twainhartecsd.com, write “Public Comment” in the subject 

line. In the body of the email, include the agenda item number and title, as well as your 

comments.  

o Mail comments to THCSD Board Secretary: P.O. Box 649, Twain Harte, CA 95383 

 

• During the Meeting:  

o Computer/Tablet/Smartphone: Click the “Raise Hand” icon and the host will unmute 

your audio when it is time to receive public comment. If you would rather make a 

https://www.twainhartecsd.com/files/81b7e7864/How+To+Use+Zoom.pdf
mailto:ksilva@twainhartecsd.com


  

Board Meeting Agenda - Twain Harte Community Services District 
Page 3 of 3 

 

comment in writing, you may click on the “Q&A” icon and type your comment. You may 

need to tap your screen or click on “View Participants” to make icons visible.  

Raise Hand Icon:       Q&A Icon:  

o Telephone: Press *9 if to notify the host that you have a comment. The host will unmute 
you during the public comment period and invite you to share comments. 

o In-Person: Raise your hand and the Board Chairperson will call on you. 

* NOTE: If you wish to speak on an item on the agenda, you are welcome to do so during consideration 
of the agenda item itself. If you wish to speak on a matter that does not appear on the agenda, you may 
do so during the Public Comment period. Persons speaking during the Public Comment will be limited 
to five minutes or depending on the number of persons wishing to speak, it may be reduced to allow all 
members of the public the opportunity to address the Board. Except as otherwise provided by law, no 
action or discussion shall be taken/conducted on any item not appearing on the agenda. Public 
comments must be addressed to the board as a whole through the President. Comments to individuals 
or staff are not permitted. 
 

MEETING ETIQUETTE 

Attendees shall make every effort not to disrupt the meeting. Cell phones must be silenced or set in a 
mode that will not disturb District business during the meeting. 
 

ACCESSIBILITY 

Board meetings are accessible to people with disabilities. In compliance with the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, those requiring accommodations for this meeting should notify the District office 48 
hours prior to the meeting at (209) 586-3172.   
 

WRITTEN MEETING MATERIALS  

If written materials relating to items on this Agenda are distributed to Board members prior to the 
meeting, such materials will be made available for public inspection on the District’s website: 
www.twainhartecsd.com 

 

http://www.twainhartecsd.com/


Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  

Receive and approve the financial statements through August 31, 2023      
 
SUMMARY:  

This item presents the following Fiscal Year 2023-24 financial statements for all District Funds through 
August 31, 2023: 

• Bank Balances – Including a summary of receipts and disbursements. 
 
As a general summary of the financial statements:   

• The finance department is continuing the year-end process and upon completion, will provide 
a summary of the final capital and operating expenses for FY 22-23 and the ongoing capital 
and operating expenses for FY 23-24. 

• Bank balances are healthy and in line with expectations.  In August, large capital project 
payments were made that required a transfer from the Five Star Money Market account to 
the operating Account. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Bank Balances – Including a summary of receipts and disbursements 
 

ITEM #: 05A ITEM TYPE:    ☐ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☒ Both 
 

SUBJECT: Presentation and Approval of Financial Statements through August 31, 2023  
 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☒ N/A    ☐ Advances Goal/Objective #’s: ________________________ 



Account Beginning Balance Receipts Disbursements Transfers
Current 

Balance
U.S. Bank Operating** 96,345                       1,609             (50)                       97,904               
Five Star Bank-Operating** 504,340                    234,343         (575,768)             280,000   442,915             
U.S. Bank - D Grunsky #1* 35,106                       35,106               
U.S. Bank - D Grunsky #2* 41,183                       41,183               
LAIF 3,049,989                 3,049,989          
Five Star Money Market 528,583                    1,099             (280,000)  249,682             

TOTAL 4,255,546$           237,051$   (575,818)$       -$       3,916,779$    
*Davis Grunsky reserve money restricted for Davis Grunsky Loan Payments

** In process of changing operating bank accounts

TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT

BANK BALANCES

As of August 31, 2023



Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  

Approve the minutes of the Regular Meeting held on August 9, 2023.  
 

SUMMARY:  

The California Government Code and District Policy #5060 (Minutes of Board Meetings) requires the District to 
keep a record of all its actions. As such, the District’s Board Secretary prepared draft minutes for the Board’s 
Regular Meeting held on August 9, 2023, in the format required by Policy #5060. The Board’s responsibility is 
to review and approve the draft meeting minutes. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Minutes of the Regular Meeting held on August 9, 2023  

ITEM #: 05B ITEM TYPE:    ☐ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☒ Both 
 

SUBJECT: Approval of the Minutes of the Regular Meeting Held on August 9, 2023.  
 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☒ N/A    ☐ Advances Goal/Objective #’s: ________________________ 



THCSD Minutes August 9, 2023 
Page 1 of 3 

 

 

TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
Board of Directors Regular Meeting  

August 9, 2023 
 
CALL TO ORDER:  President Mannix called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m. The following 
Directors, Staff, and Community Members were present: 

DIRECTORS: 
Director Mannix, President  
Director Sipperley 
Director Knudson  
Director deGroot 
Director Bohlman 

 
STAFF: 
    Tom Trott, General Manager 

 Neil Gamez, Fire Chief  
 Lewis Giambruno, Operations Manager  
 Carolyn Higgins, Finance Officer 
  

AUDIENCE:  12 Attendees  
 

PUBLIC COMMENT ON NON-AGENDIZED ITEMS: 
Bruce Erickson made a public comment.  
 
PRESENTATIONS:  

A. Badge pinning of Volunteer Firefighter Interns. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA:   

A. Presentation and approval of financial statements through July 31, 2023.    
B. Approval of the minutes of the Regular Meeting held on July 12, 2023.  
C. Approval of the minutes of the Special Meeting held on July 18, 2023.  

MOTION: Director Sipperley made a motion to accept the consent agenda in its 
entirety. 
SECOND: Director deGroot  
AYES: Mannix, Sipperley, Knudson, deGroot, Bohlman 
NOES: None 
ABSTAIN: None 

 

NEW BUSINESS:   

A. Discussion/action regarding schedule for completing the Water and Sewer Rate Study, 
updating District Water and Sewer Ordinances, and proposing rate changes. 
 

MOTION: Director Sipperley made a motion to approve the revised timeline for 
completing the Water and Sewer Rate Study, updating District Water and Sewer 
Ordinances, and proposing rate changes. 
SECOND: Director Knudson 



THCSD Minutes August 9, 2023 
Page 2 of 3 

 

AYES:  Mannix, Knudson, Sipperley, deGroot, Bohlman 
NOES: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
 

B. Discussion/action to adopt Resolution #23-30– Approving a Fiscal Year 2023-24 Budget 
Adjustment for the Community Center Improvements Project. 

MOTION: Director Sipperley made a motion to adopt Option 2 of Resolution #23-
30 – Approving a Fiscal Year 2023-24 Budget Adjustment for the Community 
Center Improvements Project.  
SECOND: Director deGroot  
AYES:  Mannix, Sipperley, deGroot, Bohlman, Knudson 
NOES: None 
ABSTAIN: None  
 

C. Discussion/action to adopt Resolution #23-30 – Approving a Fiscal Year 2023-24 Water 
Fund Budget Adjustment and Authorizing the General Manager to Execute Agreement 
Amendments for the Grant-Funded Water System Evaluation and Modernization 
Project. 

MOTION: Director Bohlman made a motion to adopt Resolution #23-30 - 
Approving a Fiscal Year 2023-24 Water Fund Budget Adjustment and Authorizing 
the General Manager to Execute Agreement Amendments for the Grant-Funded 
Water System Evaluation and Modernization Project. 
SECOND: Director Knudson 
AYES:  Mannix, Knudson, Sipperley, deGroot, Bohlman 
NOES: None 
ABSTAIN: None 

 
D. Discussion/action regarding pickleball player concerns and development of potential 

pickleball court use rules. 
 

MOTION: Director deGroot made a motion to bring the pickleball player concerns 
and proposed rules to the Park and Recreation committee meeting in September 
to review.   
SECOND: Director Sipperley   
AYES:  Mannix, Sipperley, deGroot, Bohlman 
NOES: None 
ABSTAIN: Knudson 

 
REPORTS: 

President and Board Member Reports 

− Director Knudson provided a report on his attendance of the Planning Commission 
meeting regarding the Twain Harte Shopping Center.  

Fire Chief Report by Chief Gamez  

− A verbal summary of the written report was provided by Chief Gamez.   

Water/Sewer/Park Operations Report Provided by Operations Manager Giambruno 
- A verbal summary of the written report was provided.  



THCSD Minutes August 9, 2023 
Page 3 of 3 

 

General Manager Report Provided by General Manager Trott 

− A verbal summary of the written report was provided. 
 
CLOSED SESSION: The Board of Directors convened into closed session at 10:21 a.m. 

A. Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation: 
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9(b)  
(1 case) 

 
President Mannix reconvened the meeting into regular session at 10:46 a.m. with no reportable 
action.  
 
ADJOURNMENT: 

The meeting was adjourned at 10:47  a.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted,      APPROVED: 
      
_______________________    ____________________                                            
   
Kimberly Silva, Board Secretary     Eileen Mannix, President    



Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  

Accept the Annual Review of Policy #2002 – Discrimination.  
 

SUMMARY:  

Policy #2002 (Discrimination) requires the Board to perform an annual review of the Policy to ensure it is up-
to-date and continues to protect the rights of all employees against discrimination. All employees are 
encouraged to submit written or verbal comments as to its effectiveness.  
 
The Board’s Finance/Policy Committee reviewed Policy #2002 and recommends that no changes be made at 
this time.   
 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Policy #2002 – Discrimination   

ITEM #: 05C ITEM TYPE:    ☐ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☒ Both 
 

SUBJECT: Annual Review of Policy #2002 – Discrimination.   
 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☒ N/A    ☐ Advances Goal/Objective #’s: ________________________ 



 THCSD 2002 Discrimination Policy 
 Page 1 of 2 

 
 
POLICY TITLE: Discrimination 
POLICY NUMBER: 2002 

ADOPTED: March 21, 2006    

AMENDED: 9/11/2014, 9/9/2020 

LAST AMENDED: November 12, 2020 

LAST REVIEWED: September 14, 2022 

 
2002.10  There shall be no discrimination in any personnel action, including 
recruitment, appointment, performance evaluation, promotion, the granting of 
leave, and any disciplinary or grievance action for the following: 

• Age (40 and over) 

• Ancestry, National Origin 

• Disability, mental and physical  

• Genetic Information 

• Gender Identity, Gender Expression 

• Marital Status 

• Medical Condition 

• Military and Veteran Status 

• Race, Color 

• Religion, Creed 

• Sex, Gender (including pregnancy, childbirth, breastfeeding or related 
medical conditions.) 

• Sexual Orientation  
 
2002.20 Protections against discrimination and harassment shall extend to 
unpaid interns and volunteers. There shall be no discrimination against unpaid 
interns or volunteers in regards to selection, termination, training and treatment 
for any of the reasons listed above or other protections provided by law. 
Furthermore, unpaid interns, volunteers, and persons providing services 
pursuant to a contract shall not be subjected to harassment in the workplace for 
any of the reasons listed above or other protections provided by law.   
 
2002.30 All employees are protected from illegal conduct from any workplace 
source, including third parties who are in the workplace.  
 

 TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
 Policy and Procedure Manual  



 THCSD 2002 Discrimination Policy 
 Page 2 of 2 

2002.40 There shall be no discrimination, for any of the reasons stated above 
or provided by law, in any actions taken by the District in dealing with our 
customers or the general public.   
 
2002.50 To ensure that this policy is protecting the rights of all employees 
against discrimination, this policy shall be reviewed annually by the Board of 
Directors in a regular meeting.  All employees should be reminded of the Board’s 
consideration of the policy and encouraged to submit written or verbal comments 
as to its effectiveness.   
 
2002.60 To ensure that employees understand these protections and mandated 
procedures, a copy of this policy will be provided to employees upon hire and an 
updated electronic copy will be posted in a location accessible to all employees. 
New employees and unpaid interns shall acknowledge receipt of the policy in 
writing and shall be required to undergo training within six months of starting their 
employment or volunteer internship. Seasonal or temporary employees 
employed less than six months shall undergo training within 30 days of starting 
their employment. 
 
2002.70 Reporting Complaints: There are several avenues of reporting a 
confidential complaint other than to a direct supervisor, the different avenues of 
reporting include:  

• Report to direct supervisor. 

• Report to your supervisor’s supervisor. 

• Report to General Manager. 

• If the complaint is in regards to General Manager, report to the President 
of the Board of Directors. 

 
2002.80 Response to Reported Complaints: Every reported incident of 
discrimination will be documented, tracked and promptly investigated by qualified 
personnel or a District representative with the cooperation of the employee 
and/or the public member reporting the discrimination.  This policy requires 
anyone who receives a complaint of misconduct to report the complaint to the 
General Manager. If the complaint is in regards to the General Manager, the 
recipient of the complaint can report to the President of the Board of Directors. 
Confidentiality of all persons involved in the incident shall be maintained.  
Employees will not be exposed to retaliation as a result of the making a 
complaint or participating in any workplace investigation. The results of any 
investigation of alleged discrimination shall promptly be communicated to the 
employee or public member.  Where charges of discrimination by an employee 
are substantiated, appropriate corrective action will be taken.  Appropriate action 
might range from counseling to termination. 
 



Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  

Accept the Annual Review of Policy #3030 – Injury and Illness Prevention Program.  
 

SUMMARY:  

The District adopted Policy #3030 (Injury & Illness Prevention Program) to identify and eliminate conditions, 
practices, policies and procedures that compromise safety. The Board conducts an annual review of this Policy 
as part of its effort to maintain a safe workplace and to ensure it is complying with applicable laws and 
regulations governing safety.  
 
The Board’s Finance/Policy Committee reviewed Policy #3030 and recommends that no changes be made at 
this time.   
 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Policy #3030 – Injury and Illness Prevention Program.  

ITEM #: 05D ITEM TYPE:    ☐ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☒ Both 
 

SUBJECT: Annual Review of Policy #3030 – Injury and Illness Prevention Program.  
 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☒ N/A    ☐ Advances Goal/Objective #’s: ________________________ 



 THCSD 3030 Injury and Illness Prevention Program 
         Page 1 of 12 

 
POLICY TITLE: Injury and Illness Prevention Program  
POLICY NUMBER:   3030 

ADOPTED:  September 17, 1996   

AMENDED:  7/8/2010, 5/9/2013, 9/10/2015, 10/12/2017, 9/15/2021 

LAST AMENDED: September 15, 2021 

LAST REVIEWED: September 14, 2022 
 
3030.10 Safety Policy  

3030.11 No function at Twain Harte Community Services District is so critical 
as to require or justify a compromise of safety and health.  We believe that 
everyone benefits from a safe and healthful work environment.  We are 
committed to maintaining a safe workplace and to complying with applicable 
laws and regulations governing safety. 

 
3030.12 To achieve this goal, the District has adopted this Injury & Illness 
Prevention Program (IIPP).  The IIPP is the responsibility of all employees as 
we work together to identify and eliminate conditions, practices, policies and 
procedures that compromise safety. 
 
3030.13 To this end, each and every manager, supervisor and employee has 
the authority to take action to prevent mishaps. It takes positive and genuine 
effort to assure a safe work environment.  The alternative is wasted money 
and wasted time due to occupational injuries and illnesses and their 
associated pain and suffering. 

 
3030.14 Our expectations are that everyone will: 

A) Complete initial and ongoing safety training, including review of this 
IIPP. 

B) Do the right thing the first time. 
C) Seek to integrate safety into all tasks. 
D) Avoid taking short cuts. 
E) Take time to assure a safe workplace. 
F) Have a safe and healthy work experience here at the District. 

 
3030.15 All employees shall review the IIPP and are expected to strive to 
achieve the District’s ultimate goal of an injury-free workplace. 
 

 3030.20 Responsibilities 
 

3030.21 Managers/Supervisors/Employees 

Managers, supervisors, and employees have the responsibility of providing a 

 TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
 Policy and Procedure Manual  



 THCSD 3030 Injury and Illness Prevention Program 
         Page 2 of 12 

safe place to work including plant facilities, equipment, standards and 
procedures, adequate supervision and recognition for a job done properly.  
Managers and Supervisors are responsible for training all of their employees 
to perform their jobs properly and safely.  Managers and Supervisors teach, 
demonstrate, observe and enforce compliance with established safety 
standards. 
 
3030.22  IIPP Administrator 

The IIPP Administrator is the General Manager or his/her designee.  The IIPP 
Administrator has the responsibility for the implementation, maintenance, and 
update of this program. 
 
3030.23 Employees  

Employees have the responsibility of performing their tasks properly and 
safely. They are to assure themselves that they know how to do the job 
properly and ask for additional training or assistance when they feel there is a 
gap in their ability, knowledge, or training.  They should never undertake any 
task, job, or operation unless they are able to perform it safely.  

 
3030.30 Compliance 
 
  3030.31 Management Responsibility  

Management is responsible for ensuring that the District safety and health 
policies are clearly communicated and understood by employees.  Managers 
and supervisors are expected to enforce the rules fairly and uniformly. 

 
  3030.32 Employee Responsibility 

All employees are responsible for using safe work practices, for following 
directives, policies and procedures, and for assisting in maintaining a safe 
work environment. 

 
  3030.33 Performance Evaluations 

As part of employees' regular performance reviews, they are evaluated on 
their compliance with safe work practices and on what they have done to 
ensure a safe workplace for their respective employees. 
 

  3030.34 Employee Recognition 

Employees who make a significant contribution to the maintenance of a safe 
workplace, as determined by their supervisors, receive written 
acknowledgment that is maintained in the employees' personnel files. 

 
3030.35 Employee Training 

Employees who are unaware of correct safety and health procedures are 
trained or retrained. 



 THCSD 3030 Injury and Illness Prevention Program 
         Page 3 of 12 

 
3030.36 Employee Correction 

Employees who fail to follow safe work practices and/or procedures, or who 
violate the District’s rules or directives, are subject to disciplinary action, 
according to Policy 2150 and/or appropriate union Collective Bargaining 
Agreements. 

 
3030.40 Communication 
 
  3030.41 Two-Way Communication 

Management recognizes that open, two-way communication between 
management and staff on health and safety issues is essential to an injury-
free, productive workplace.  
 

  3030.42 The District System of Communication 

The following system of communication is designed to facilitate a continuous 
flow of safety and health information between management and staff in a form 
that is readily understandable. 

A) An orientation program is given to all new employees and includes a 
review of the Injury & Illness Prevention Program and a discussion of 
policy and procedures that the employee is expected to follow.  This 
program is documented on the New Employee Safety Orientation 
Checklist. 

B) The District has safety meetings where safety is freely and openly 
discussed by all present.  Such meetings are held monthly and all 
employees are expected to attend and are encouraged to participate 
in discussion.  All such meetings are documented on the Employee 
Meeting & Training Report Form. 

C) From time to time, written safety notifications are provided directly to 
individual employees or are posted on District bulletin boards. 

D) Other methods of communicating pertinent health and safety 
information are used as they are identified. 

 
  3030.43 Safety Suggestions and Hazard Reporting 

A) All employees are encouraged to inform their supervisors, or other 
management personnel of any matter, which they perceive to be a 
workplace hazard, or a potential workplace hazard.  They are also 
encouraged to report suggestions for safety improvement.  This 
reporting can be done orally, but preferably in writing on the Identified 
Problem Report Form.  When done in writing, the notification may be 
given directly to the supervisor, the IIPP Administrator or other 
management personnel. 

B)  If an employee wants to remain anonymous, an employee may 



 THCSD 3030 Injury and Illness Prevention Program 
         Page 4 of 12 

complete an Identified Problem Report Form anonymously by not 
filling in his/her name or signing the form.     

C)  No employee shall be retaliated against for reporting hazards or 
potential hazards, or for making suggestions related to safety. 

D)  Management reviews all submitted Identified Problem Report Forms. 

E)  If employees provide their names in regards to the notification, they 
are informed of what is being done within 5 working days of receipt, 
and receive updates as applicable. 

F) The resolution is communicated to employees in accordance with 
Section 3030.42 under the subject of Communications. 

 
3030.50 Hazard Identification & Evaluation 

Inspection of the workplace is our primary tool used to identify unsafe 
conditions and practices.  While we encourage all employees to identify and 
correct hazards and poor safety practices continuously, certain situations 
require formal evaluation and documentation. 

 
  3030.51 Safety Inspections 

Documented internal safety inspections are conducted on a monthly basis.  
Hazards found are corrected on the spot or recommendations are submitted for 
future corrections.  A member of management/supervision and at least one 
employee conduct the monthly tour.  The goal is to have each employee have at 
least one opportunity per year to participate in a monthly inspection. Inspections 
are documented on the Safety Inspection Form/Action Form. 

 
 3030.52  Additional Inspections 

Inspections are also conducted in accordance with Cal-OSHA requirements: 

A) Whenever new substances, processes, procedures or equipment 
present a new safety or health hazard. 

B) Whenever management/supervision become aware of a new or 
previously unrecognized hazard, either independently or by receipt of 
information from an employee. 

C) Whenever it is appropriate to conduct an unannounced inspection. 
 

3030.53  Confined Space Inspections 
All routine confined space inspections/entry shall be performed by trained and 
licensed contractors.  District employees shall not perform confined space 
inspection/entry. 

 
3030.60 Injury/Illness Investigation 
 
  3030.61  Investigation 

All accidents resulting in injury or property damage, however slight, including 



 THCSD 3030 Injury and Illness Prevention Program 
         Page 5 of 12 

near misses or near hits, are investigated immediately to determine the primary 
and contributing causes within seven working days.  This information is 
documented on the Investigation Report and analyzed to assist in obtaining 
corrective actions to prevent similar accidents from occurring in the future.  The 
responsibility to see that this investigation is performed rests with the IIPP 
Administrator. 

 
  3030.62 Reporting 

All facts, findings, and recommendations are documented on the Investigation 
Report.  Management reviews Investigation Reports with a view towards 
determining adequacy of corrective action. 

 
3030.70 Correction of Hazards 
 

3030.71 When a hazard exists, it is corrected on a timely basis based on the 
severity of the hazard.  If imminent danger exists to any employees, 
management and supervision remove these employees from the danger at 
once, and personnel, who are provided with the necessary safeguards, correct 
the hazard.  Documentation of hazard correction is completed on at least one of 
the following forms: 

1. Identified Problem Report Form 

2. Investigation Report Form 

3. Safety Inspection Form/Action Plan 
 
3030.80 Training 
 
  3030.81  Orientation - New Employees  

The initial orientation on general safety is conducted within two days of 
employment.  The orientation is documented on the New Employee Safety 
Orientation Checklist.  This orientation includes: 

A) Review of the Twain Harte Community Services District: 

1. Injury & Illness Prevention Program 
2. Respiratory Protection Plan 
3. Exposure Control Plan 
4. Hazard Communication Program 
5. Personal Protective Equipment Requirements 
6. Emergency Action Plan 
7. Fire Prevention Plan 
8. Code of Safe Practices 
9. Occupational Injury & Illness Reporting Requirements 

B) Overview of how to prevent: 

1. Overexertion 
2. Strains and sprains 



 THCSD 3030 Injury and Illness Prevention Program 
         Page 6 of 12 

3. Slips, trips and falls 
4. Cuts and lacerations 
5. Electrical shock 
6. Driving accidents 
7. Other occupational injuries or illnesses identified via loss 

analyses and investigations 

C) At a minimum, all new hires are given a copy of the District’s Injury & 
Illness Prevention Program and those rules, procedures and 
regulations  that apply to their work environment.  New employees 
sign and date their receipt of this information. 

 
 3030.82  Initial On-The-Job Training 
 

3030.82.1 When an employee first starts to work, a manager/supervisor 
will train the employee in all aspects of safety for the purpose of 
educating the new employee on the hazards of the work environment 
and the safety procedures that are required to be used to mitigate those 
hazards.   

 
3030.82.2 This training is done by using the "New Employee Training 
Checklist" which is signed by the supervisor and the employee when 
the training is completed, and then becomes a permanent part of the 
employee's personnel file.  The "New Employee Training Checklist" is 
filled out during the employee's initial on-the-job training, and both the 
supervisor and employee sign and date the checklist. 

 
 3030.83 Specific District-wide Training 

A) First Aid, CPR, and/or Bloodborne Pathogen Training 

1. Designated employees receive first-aid training in accordance 
with the Cal-OSHA requirement that there is always at least 
one person available to provide first aid.   

2. Some locations require all employees to be trained due to the 
small number of employees at the work site. 

3. Based upon available time, the Twain Harte CSD may also 
provide CPR training. 

4. Based upon potential exposures, bloodborne pathogen 
training may also be given. 

 
B) Emergency Preparedness 

This training includes the District’s Emergency Action Plan structure 
and how each employee fits into that structure, i.e., what the 
employee is expected to do under specific circumstances such as 
fire, earthquake, medical emergency and bomb threat. 
 

C) Defensive Driver Driving 



 THCSD 3030 Injury and Illness Prevention Program 
         Page 7 of 12 

Besides discussions on defensive driving that are part of regular 
safety training meetings, the District strives to provide at least one 
formal defensive driving course every four years for those 
employees who drive District vehicles and/or their private vehicles 
on District business. 

 
D) Ergonomics 

Management provides ergonomic training to those employees who 
have to complete tasks that involve lifting, pushing, pulling and/or 
repetitive motion.  At a minimum, employees receive training on 
proper lifting techniques, and if necessary, computer workstation set 
up. 

 
 3030.84 Retraining 

 
A) Reasons for retraining include change of job assignment, change of 

operations or materials, observation of poor work habits, or update 
of training methods.  Managers/supervisors/IIPP Administrator 
perform retraining: 

1. When an existing employee changes job functions.  
2. On at least an annual basis as a refresher program. 

 
B) Such training includes a review of those topics covered in the new 

employee orientation, other general workplace safety issues, job-
specific hazards and/or hazardous materials, as applicable.  All 
retraining is documented on the New Employee Meeting & Training 
Report Form. 

 
 3030.85 Specialized Training 
 

A) Managers and supervisors are trained in their responsibilities for the 
safety and health of their employees.  Such training includes both 
safety management and technical subjects. 

 
B) Managers and supervisors are also trained in the hazards and risks 

faced by the employees under their immediate direction. 
 

C) Managers/Supervisors/IIPP Administrator: 

1. Determine safety-training needs. 
2. Implement new training programs. 
3. Evaluate the effectiveness of these programs. 

 
D) In addition, training is provided whenever: 

1. New substances, processes, procedures or equipment pose a 
new hazard and there is a lack of skill or knowledge to deal 



 THCSD 3030 Injury and Illness Prevention Program 
         Page 8 of 12 

with the situation.   
2. Management, supervision, or the IIPP Administrator becomes 

aware of a previously unrecognized hazard and there is a lack 
of skill or knowledge to deal with the hazard. 

 
E) All employees delivering or supervising live fire training at District 

facilities shall be in compliance with State Fire Training Instructor 
Standards and in compliance with National Fire Protection 
Association (NFPA) 1403.  

F) All fire, water and sewer personnel shall be trained to use the 
extractor decontamination machine and shall comply with all 
sections of the Exposure Control Plan. 

 
3030.90 Emergency Response Guidelines for Hostile or Violent Incidents 
 

3030.91 Purpose of the Policy   

To provide direction for the District Board of Directors and staff regarding 
responses to hostile or violent incidents, including possible armed intruders or 
related threats on District facilities or properties. 

 
3030.92 Background  

The potential for hostile or violent incidents on District facilities or operational 
locations always exists.  In recent timeframes, incidents involving armed 
intruders have occurred with increasing frequency involving injuries and 
deaths at government institutions, offices and educational facilities.  Often, an 
intruder is a person who is an ex-employee, customer or person known to the 
agency involved.  The person often is upset at an event or person who works 
at the facility.  However, armed intruders can be any variety of persons who 
have an anger situation affecting one or more staff members or other related 
persons to the District.  Often, incidents involving armed intruders escalate to 
include multiple persons and potentially taking of hostages, including District 
customers.  Threats of these types and risks are to be considered extreme 
emergencies and the safety and well-being of employees and/or customers is 
the highest priority. 
 
3030.93 Response to an Incident   

Any evidence of the exposure to a hostile or violent person or situation on 
District facilities or operating areas should be taken seriously for safety 
purposes.  Any Director or staff employee observing or sensing that a violent 
or hostile situation is occurring, should consider taking precautionary and 
safety actions: 

   
Any event resulting in awareness of a possible violent act, including possible 
gunfire, explosion, fighting, scuffling, could indicate an incident of violent 
potential.  Any staff person observing such potential activities should take 



 THCSD 3030 Injury and Illness Prevention Program 
         Page 9 of 12 

steps to protect themselves and others in the District premises including but 
not limited to: 

  
A) Attempt to communicate the situation to everyone in the facility by 

means of telephone, paging, email and/or radio system, including 
basic information that a potential incident is occurring.  If a 
perpetrator(s) is seen or known, information on the person(s) should 
be provided. 
 

B) Since different types and levels of workplace violence may require 
various responses, establishing basis information on the type of 
event is essential.  Examples are: 

1. Gunfire - Awareness of gunfire in the facility should result in 
evacuation to the extent that is possible.  If not possible, 
securing of rooms or offices and notification to others by 
phone or email is encouraged.  Calling emergency resources 
via 911 is imperative, once safe to call.  Remain in the most 
secure location possible until contacted by public safety 
personnel or a facility supervisor, etc. 

2. Explosion – An explosion could occur naturally or by violent 
intention.  Awareness of an explosion or fire in the facility 
should result in immediate evacuation, in accordance with 
established procedures for fire.  Response to a planned 
location is important to make known who is out of the facility. 

3.  Physical or Bomb Threat – Awareness of a telephone or in 
person threat to facility or staff should be met with action to 
evacuate and clear staff from the threatened area.  Calling 911 
as soon as possible is imperative. 

4. Situations Involving Hostages – If a possible hostage incident 
is known, evacuation of the facility is paramount to safety of 
persons in the area.  Contact 911 immediately. 

5. Irate Customer/Threat at Counter or Meeting – In cases where 
any person acts to threaten a staff person or customer at a 
District facility in a manner causing fear for safety, action to 
summon public safety personnel by 911 should be taken.  In 
no way should steps be taken to challenge or subdue such a 
person, except in defense of life of self or immediate others at 
facility. 

6. In the event that a volatile situation occurs at a Board of 
Directors or other public meeting, the person chairing/hosting 
the meeting should take steps to control the situation or 
adjourn the meeting to abate the confrontation, if possible.  In 
the event of a threatening or hostile situation, call 911 
immediately and proceed with evacuation or other appropriate 
actions. 



 THCSD 3030 Injury and Illness Prevention Program 
         Page 10 of 12 

 
3030.94.1 Planning for Emergency Incidents   

Steps should be taken to plan response capabilities for emergencies in 
addition to fires, earthquakes, etc. that may involve hostile situations.  These 
include but are not limited to: 

A) Preparation of a facility evacuation plan from each room.  Post the 
plan at each doorway and hallway exit.  Have a safe area zone for 
staging established. 

B) Lock down procedures to secure the facility in a hostile or violent 
incident for both exterior and interior doors. 

C) Develop an emergency notice code for intercom, email and radio to 
facility and District staff.  Use of a code is recommended. 

D) Develop a radio communication alert code to notify other District 
staff so they will not return to the facility during the incident until 
cleared to do so by public safety personnel. 

E) Training of all personnel in dealing with customers, employees and 
other persons in aggravated situations and how to identify and 
assess potential threats or volatile situations.  All employees 
assigned or expected to serve at the front desk or counter shall 
receive such training regularly. 

 
All employees and members of the Board of Directors shall receive training 
on response to violent or hostile incidents.  In the event of a potential incident, 
notify a supervisor or the General Manager, as is possible, or call 911 when 
an active incident is occurring.  If assessment of a possible threat is needed, 
the General Manager or ranking staff person shall be notified for considering 
validity of the threat or safety risk.  Public safety agency shall be contacted by 
911 whenever a perceived threat is considered valid. 

 
3030.95   Actions for Violent or Armed Threat Situation   

The existence or potential for an event involving a violent person or armed 
intruder at a District facility should be considered an emergency condition.  
Actions could include up to and all of: 

A) Notify your supervisor or General Manager and other staff 
immediately if a threat is received but not actively in process.  If 
validated, contact public safety by calling 911 immediately. 

B) The General Manager or ranking staff member shall evaluate the 
situation and consider appropriate actions, including shutting down 
operations and evacuation and/or locking down the facility until 
public safety response abates the threat. 

C) Initiate notification to other facility staff of active threat by emergency 
code procedure.  Evacuate the facility wherever possible.  Secure 
money or computer equipment if time allows. 



 THCSD 3030 Injury and Illness Prevention Program 
         Page 11 of 12 

D) Activate an alarm for notifying other staff or an alarm company if one 
is engaged by the District.  A call contact would be included in 
procedure to double check for safety at the facility. 

E) Upon sighting an armed intruder, an alert to all employees should be 
made by page, email or radio. 

F) Secure your work area or evacuate, if safely possible.  If not able to 
evacuate, find a safe hiding place and stay put until contacted by 
public safety personnel. 

G) Once outdoors after an evacuation, proceed to planned staging area 
to report in for identification.  Inform public safety personnel of any 
information on the incident. 

H) Attempt to remain calm and assist others; wait for instructions from 
public safety or supervisory personnel. 

I) Do not attempt to look around to see what is happening.  Evacuate 
whenever possible and with others in areas you see directly.  Do not 
confront or attempt to apprehend a violent perpetrator unless directly 
attacked for self-defense.  Do not assume someone already called 
911; call them immediately. 
 

3030.96 Post Event Actions   

Following the clear announcement of ending of a violent or hostile person 
situation, contact public safety or supervisory personnel for instructions.  Report 
any knowledge or firsthand observations of the incident.  Contact your family and 
immediate friends so they will not take any actions to respond unnecessarily.  
Await direction as to return to work or other steps, dependent on level of the 
incident.  If not able to do so, consult with your supervisor or notify the ranking 
person on-site. 

 
An Emergency Response Coordinator shall evaluate and debrief any major 
incident to take needed steps to abate the conditions after the event and prepare 
as necessary for continued operations.  Planning and actions to address 
conditions are expected and your input is important via your supervisor.  There 
may be the potential to lock-down or close the facility for some time or corrective 
steps.  If deemed needed, seek direction on what actions you should take to 
assist in procedure. 
 

3030.100 Documentation, Plans and Records 

3030.101 Documentation Forms and Plans 

In addition to this IIPP, the following shall be maintained by the District to provide 
consistent document of IIPP implementation and to supplement the safety 
measures set forth herein: 

 
A) Documentation Forms: The following IIPP forms shall be used to 



 THCSD 3030 Injury and Illness Prevention Program 
         Page 12 of 12 

document implementation of the IIPP.  The IIPP Administrator is 
authorized to revise these forms or add forms to better document 
IIPP implementation or fit the District’s operations.  Revision or 
addition of forms shall not require Policy revision or Board action. 

1. Acknowledgement of Receipt of the General Code of Safe 
Practices 

2. Acknowledgement of Receipt of the Injury & Illness Prevention 
Program 

3. Employee Meeting & Training Report Form 
4. Identified Problem Report 
5. Investigation Report 
6. New Employee Safety Orientation Checklist 
7. Safety Inspection Form/Action Plan  

 
B) Plans:  The following plans shall be created and maintained to 

supplement the safety requirements of this IIPP. The IIPP 
Administrator is authorized to revise these plans or add plans to 
improve safety or fit the District’s operations.  Revision or addition of 
plans shall not require Policy revision or Board action. 

1. Respiratory Protection Plan 
2. Exposure Control Plan 
3. Hazard Communication Program 
4. Emergency Action Plan 
5. Fire Prevention Plan 
6. Code of Safe Practices 

       
3030.102 Record Keeping Summary   

In coordination with other management, the IIPP Administrator is responsible for 
maintaining all documentation relating to the implementation of the IIPP.  For the 
purpose of displaying a tracking history of occupational safety and health 
programs and activities, all documents are maintained in accordance with the 
District’s Records Retention Policy.  

 
   

 

 
 

 



Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

Introduce Ordinance #31 – Adoption of the Twain Harte Community Services District Water Ordinance (Water 
Code). 
 

SUMMARY:  

In accordance with Strategic Plan Objective 5.14, the District is reviewing and updating (as necessary) its 
ordinances.  After reviewing the District’s existing Water Ordinance (Ordinance #22), which was adopted in 
1992, staff determined that it needed a significant update.  
 
The District’s Water Ordinance establishes requirements for the District’s water system, including but not 
limited to charges and fees, billing administration, service connections, facility extensions and conservation. 
The proposed Water Ordinance (Ordinance #31) updates the District’s Water Ordinance (or Water Code) to 
align with recent laws and best practices. It also aligns with pertinent portions of Tuolumne Utilities District’s 
(TUD) Water Rules and Regulations since the District purchases its primary water supply from TUD. The 
updated Ordinance also provides regulations for accessory dwelling units, as discussed and directed by the 
Board at its special meeting on July 18, 2023. 
 
If the Board approves introduction of this Ordinance #31, it will be posted according to the requirements of 
the law and will be considered for adoption at a public hearing held during the October Board meeting. If 
adopted, Ordinance #31 will supersede all other water-related ordinances. 
 
The Board’s Water/Sewer Committee thoroughly reviewed Ordinance #31 at its September meeting and 
recommends that the Board introduce the Ordinance.  
 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Ordinance #31 – Adoption of the Twain Harte Community Service District Water Ordinance (Water 
Code)  

ITEM #: 06A ITEM TYPE:    ☐ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☒ Both 
 

SUBJECT: 
Introduction of Ordinance #31 – Adoption of the Twain Harte Community Services District Water 
Ordinance (Water Code)   

 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☒ N/A    ☐ Advances Goal/Objective #’s: __5.14______ 



TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES 

DISTRICT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WATER CODE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT  

ORDINANCE NO. 31 

 

ADOPTION OF THE TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT WATER 
ORDINANCE (WATER CODE) 

 

The Twain Harte Community Services District Board of Directors, hereby ordains as follows: 

 

 

  



 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION 1 - PURPOSE AND DEFINITIONS ........................................................... 1-1 

1.01 SHORT TITLE .................................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.02 PURPOSE .......................................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.03 DEFINITIONS ..................................................................................................................................... 1-1 

SECTION 2 - GENERAL WATER SERVICE AND USE REQUIREMENTS .............. 2-1 

2.01 SERVICE SUBJECT TO REGULATIONS ................................................................................................. 2-1 
2.02 PROPERTY OWNER LIABILITY ............................................................................................................ 2-1 
2.03 NON-LIABILITY OF DISTRICT .............................................................................................................. 2-1 
2.04 SERVICE INTERRUPTIONS .................................................................................................................. 2-1 
2.05 WATER PRESSURE CONDITIONS ........................................................................................................ 2-1 
2.06 USER RESPONSIBILITY FOR WATER ................................................................................................... 2-1 
2.07 WATER RESALE PROHIBITED ............................................................................................................. 2-2 
2.08 USER RESPONSIBILITY FOR FACILITIES .............................................................................................. 2-2 
2.09 DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY FOR FACILITIES ......................................................................................... 2-2 
2.10 DAMAGE TO DISTRICT FACILITIES ...................................................................................................... 2-2 
2.11 TAMPERING WITH DISTRICT FACILITIES ............................................................................................... 2-2 
2.12 REQUESTS TO CHANGE DISTRICT FACILITIES ..................................................................................... 2-2 
2.13 ELECTRICAL GROUNDS PROHIBITED .................................................................................................. 2-2 
2.14 INSTALLATION OF WELLS .................................................................................................................. 2-3 

SECTION 3 - WATER SERVICE RATES, CHARGES AND FEES ........................... 3-1 

3.01 ESTABLISHMENT OF RATES, CHARGES AND FEES............................................................................... 3-1 
3.02 PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSIBILITY FOR RATES, CHARGES AND FEES ............................................... 3-1 
3.03 REGULAR WATER SERVICE RATES AND CHARGES ............................................................................. 3-1 

3.03.1 BASE CHARGE ................................................................................................................... 3-1 
3.03.2 CONSUMPTION CHARGE ..................................................................................................... 3-1 

3.04 PRIVATE FIRE PROTECTION WATER SERVICE RATES AND CHARGES ................................................... 3-1 
3.04.1 BASE CHARGE ................................................................................................................... 3-1 
3.04.2 CONSUMPTION CHARGE ..................................................................................................... 3-1 

3.05 CONNECTION FEES AND CAPACITY CHARGES .................................................................................... 3-1 
3.05.1 CAPACITY CHARGES FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS ...................................................... 3-2 

3.06 MISCELLANEOUS FEES ...................................................................................................................... 3-2 
3.07 CHANGE OF USE ............................................................................................................................... 3-2 
3.08 TEMPORARY SUSPENSION OF REGULAR WATER SERVICE RATES ....................................................... 3-3 

SECTION 4 - BILLING AND ENFORCEMENT FOR NON-PAYMENT ..................... 4-1 

4.01 BILLING ............................................................................................................................................ 4-1 
4.02 BILLING FREQUENCY ......................................................................................................................... 4-1 
4.03 DELIVERY OF BILLS ........................................................................................................................... 4-1 
4.04 DIRECT BILLING OF TENANTS ............................................................................................................ 4-1 
4.05 ESTIMATED BILLS ............................................................................................................................. 4-1 
4.06 PRORATED BILLS .............................................................................................................................. 4-1 
4.07 BILL PAYMENT .................................................................................................................................. 4-2 
4.08 DELINQUENT BILLS ........................................................................................................................... 4-2 

4.08.1 DELINQUENT DATE ............................................................................................................. 4-2 
4.08.2 PENALTIES ......................................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.08.3 DELINQUENT NOTICES ........................................................................................................ 4-2 
4.08.4 DISPUTED BILLS ................................................................................................................. 4-2 
4.08.5 PAYMENT TO AVOID FLOW RESTRICTION OR SHUTOFF ......................................................... 4-3 
4.08.6 FLOW RESTRICTION OR SHUTOFF FOR NON-PAYMENT ......................................................... 4-3 



 

ii 

4.09 ALTERNATIVE PAYMENT PLANS, FEE WAIVERS AND ACCOUNT CREDITS ............................................. 4-3 
4.10 UNPAID ACCOUNTS – PROPERTY LIEN ............................................................................................... 4-3 
4.11 UNPAID ACCOUNTS – COUNTY TAX ROLL .......................................................................................... 4-3 
4.12 COLLECTION BY LEGAL ACTION ......................................................................................................... 4-4 

SECTION 5 - SERVICE CONNECTIONS .................................................................. 5-1 

5.01 APPLICATION FOR SERVICE ............................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.02 NEW SERVICE CONDITIONS................................................................................................................ 5-1 
5.03 GUARANTEE OF APPLICANT ............................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.04 QUOTES FOR SERVICE ....................................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.05 SERVICE CONNECTION REQUIREMENTS .............................................................................................. 5-2 
5.06 SERVICE CONNECTION SIZE, LOCATION AND INSTALLATION ................................................................ 5-3 
5.07 METERS ............................................................................................................................................ 5-3 
5.08 CROSS-CONNECTIONS AND BACKFLOW PREVENTION ......................................................................... 5-3 
5.09 CUSTOMER DISCONNECTION OF SERVICE PROHIBITED ........................................................................ 5-4 

5.09.1 EXCEPTIONS FOR CERTAIN PROJECTS ................................................................................ 5-4 
5.09.2 EXCEPTIONS FOR ABANDONED CONNECTIONS ..................................................................... 5-4 

5.10 DISCONNECTION OF SERVICE BY DISTRICT ......................................................................................... 5-4 
5.11 UNAUTHORIZED SERVICE CONNECTIONS ............................................................................................ 5-5 

SECTION 6 - EXTENSION OR IMPROVEMENT OF FACILITIES ............................ 6-1 

6.01 REQUIRED EXTENSION OR IMPROVEMENT OF FACILITIES ..................................................................... 6-1 
6.02 EXTENSION OR IMPROVEMENT APPLICATION ...................................................................................... 6-1 
6.03 PROJECT APPROVAL ......................................................................................................................... 6-1 
6.04 ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW CHARGE .................................................................................................... 6-1 
6.05 DESIGN, INSTALLATION AND OWNERSHIP OF FACILITY EXTENSIONS .................................................... 6-1 
6.06 SIZING OF FACILITIES AND MINIMUM PRESSURE .................................................................................. 6-2 
6.07 LOCATION OF FACILITIES ................................................................................................................... 6-2 
6.08 LAND RIGHT SCHEDULE .................................................................................................................... 6-2 
6.09 PAYMENT OF COSTS .......................................................................................................................... 6-2 
6.10 INSPECTION AND NOTICE OF COMPLETION .......................................................................................... 6-3 
6.11 ACCEPTANCE OF FACILITIES .............................................................................................................. 6-3 
6.12 WARRANTY RESPONSIBILITIES ........................................................................................................... 6-3 
6.13 DOCUMENTATION OF PROJECT COSTS ............................................................................................... 6-3 
6.14 COSTS REIMBURSED BY THE DISTRICT ............................................................................................... 6-3 

SECTION 7 - FIRE SERVICE .................................................................................... 7-1 

7.01 CONDITIONS OF SERVICE ................................................................................................................... 7-1 
7.02 PUBLIC FIRE HYDRANTS .................................................................................................................... 7-1 
7.03 PRIVATE COMMERCIAL FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEM ............................................................................. 7-1 
7.04 UNAUTHORIZED USE OF FIRE HYDRANTS ........................................................................................... 7-2 

SECTION 8 - TEMPORARY SERVICE ..................................................................... 8-1 

8.01 DURATION AND PAYMENT .................................................................................................................. 8-1 
8.02 TEMPORARY SERVICE THROUGH FIRE HYDRANTS .............................................................................. 8-1 
8.03 TEMPORARY EMERGENCY CONNECTION ............................................................................................. 8-1 

SECTION 9 - CONSERVATION ................................................................................ 9-1 

9.01 CONSERVATION POLICY .................................................................................................................... 9-1 
9.02 WATER SHORTAGE CONTINGENCY PLAN ........................................................................................... 9-1 
9.03 PHASED WATER CONSERVATION PROGRAMS ..................................................................................... 9-1 

9.03.1 PHASE I – ONGOING WATER CONSERVATION ....................................................................... 9-1 
9.03.2 PHASE II – VOLUNTARY CONSERVATION MEASURES ............................................................ 9-1 



 

iii 

9.03.3 PHASE III – MANDATORY CONSERVATION MEASURES .......................................................... 9-2 
9.03.4 PHASE IV – MANDATORY CONSERVATION MEASURES FOR EXTREME EMERGENCY ................ 9-4 

9.04 ENFORCEMENT ................................................................................................................................. 9-6 
9.05 VARIANCES ....................................................................................................................................... 9-6 
9.06 LOW WATER USE PLUMBING FIXTURES REQUIRED ............................................................................. 9-6 

SECTION 10 - MISCELLANEOUS AND ENFORCEMENT ...................................... 10-1 

10.01 INTERPRETATION AUTHORITY .......................................................................................................... 10-1 
10.02 ENFORCEMENT OF THIS CODE .......................................................................................................... 10-1 
10.03 UNLAWFUL ACTS ............................................................................................................................ 10-1 
10.04 PENALTY ........................................................................................................................................ 10-1 
10.05 APPEALS ........................................................................................................................................ 10-1 
10.06 SUPERSEDES .................................................................................................................................. 10-1 
10.07 SEVERABILITY ................................................................................................................................. 10-1 

SECTION 11 - PUBLICATION, EFFECTIVE DATE AND ADOPTION ..................... 11-1 

11.01 PUBLICATION .................................................................................................................................. 11-1 
11.02 EFFECTIVE DATE ............................................................................................................................. 11-1 
11.03 ADOPTION....................................................................................................................................... 11-1 

EXHIBIT A - AMENDMENTS ..................................................................................... 11-1 

 

 

 



 

1-1 

SECTION 1 - PURPOSE AND DEFINITIONS 

1.01 Short Title 

This Ordinance shall be known as the “Twain Harte Community Services District Water Code” 
and may be cited as such.  

1.02 Purpose 

This Code establishes uniform requirements for design, construction, operation and maintenance 
of both public and private water supply, storage and distribution facilities and water service 
connections served by the water system of the Twain Harte Community Services District 
(hereinafter referred to as “District”).  It also provides for the user charges and fees for the  
equitable distribution of cost of all users. Uniform application of these Regulations to all 
Customers served by the District water system shall enable the District to comply with the water 
quality requirements set by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the State Water 
Resources Control Board (SWRCB) and such other state and/or national standards of 
performance which may apply.   

1.03 Definitions 

Accessory Dwelling (ADU) – An attached or detached residential dwelling unit that provides 
complete independent living facilities for one or more persons and is located on a lot with a 
proposed or existing primary residence. It shall include permanent provisions for living, sleeping, 
eating, cooking, and sanitation on the same parcel as the single-family or multifamily dwelling is 
or will be situated. An accessory dwelling unit also includes the following: (A) An efficiency unit. 
[and] (B) A manufactured home, as defined in Section 18977 of the Health and Safety Code. For 
billing purposes, a dwelling unit on a parcel zoned for multi-family residential will only be 
considered an accessory dwelling unit after all other dwelling units allowed under the specific 
parcel zoning have been constructed. 

Adequate and Reserve Capacity - Water mains capable of supplying, to applicant's land, 
potable water within the velocity and pipe size specifications set forth in the District Regulations, 
contained herein. 

Application for Service - Written application requesting Twain Harte Community Services 
District service to a specific parcel of land, as indicated on a form provided by the District, 
together with such plans, specifications and fees as the District's Regulations shall, from 
time-to-time, require. 

AWWA - American Water Works Association, a national association of water purveyors. 

Backflow Prevention Device - Equipment used to protect the District's public water supply 
against actual or potential cross-connection with other sources of water supply or with sources of 
possible contamination. 

Board - The Board of Directors of the Twain Harte Community Services District. 

Bulk Usage - Water sold to a temporary customer by the truck load usually through fire hydrants, 
measured by a portable meter supplied by the District. 

Capacity Charge - A charge required for the purpose of replacing the capacity of the District’s 
facilities (supply, treatment, storage, transmission and distribution) to be used by a project or a 
new service where such capacity has not been previously provided by a developer. 



 

1-2 

Certificate of Lien - Written certificate of an overdue balance owing to the District by any user, 
duly recorded with the Tuolumne County Recorder. 

Change of Use - When the primary water use changes from one classification to another, 
increases quantity, and/or adds multiple uses.  

Check Valve Assembly - A mechanical device installed on a water line to restrict the flow of 
water in one direction only. 

Code – See Water Code. 

Connection Fees - A charge imposed upon all applicants for service at the time service is sought 
from the District.  “Connection fee” is a general term that encompasses a variety of one-time 
charges imposed upon applicants for service.  A “connection fee” includes, but is not limited to, 
the fees charged to make the physical connection to the District’s system, service lateral 
installation charges, meter set charges, new account administration fees, and capacity charges 
(which compensate the District for expenses in incurred in providing existing capacity or an 
increase in needed capacity). 

Control Valve - A device used to control the flow of water in water line or in fire hydrant laterals. 

Customer – Any person or entity, including without limitation a parcel or property owner, or 
tenant, supplied or entitled to be supplied with water service by the District in accordance with 
established rules, regulations, rates and charges. 

Disconnection – A water meter has been physically removed from the meter box; the water 
service lateral has been cut and capped; or other permanent method has been employed to 
ensure that water is not able to flow into the property.  All capacity, including capacity previously 
provided by Developers, associated with a disconnected service line shall be permanently 
forfeited upon disconnection and monthly service charges shall cease upon approval by the 
District.   

Discontinuance – A water meter is still physically present but a District controlled flow restriction 
device been placed on the serve to limit water from flowing to the customer. See FLOW 
RESTRICTION. 

District - Twain Harte Community Services District, a California Special District organized under 
Sections 61000 et. seq. of the Government Code.  May also be referred to as THCSD. 

Dwelling Unit – Any structure containing living, sleeping, cooking, and sanitation facilities. At a 
minimum, cooking facilities shall include a sink that is separate from the bathroom sink. See 
Residential Living Unit.  

Engineer - The District Engineer of the Twain Harte Community Services District. 

Finance Officer – The Finance Officer of the Twain Harte Community Services District. 

Flow Restriction – A device placed on a customer’s meter by the District to restrict flow through 
the customer’s service as a result of non-payment. The device shall significantly restrict flow, but 
provide enough water for basic human needs – drinking, cooking and sanitation.  

General Manager – The General Manager of the Twain Harte Community Services District. 

Guest Living Unit – Any accessory living area occupied by temporary guests, without 
compensation of any kind as a condition of occupancy, and used as sleeping quarters only.  A 



 

1-3 

Guest Living Unit may have sleeping and sanitation facilities, but no living, cooking or 
housekeeping facilities. A Guest Living Unit includes either: (1) a structure detached from a 
primary residential living unit or (2) an independent living area attached to a primary residential 
living unit that has its own separate entrance.  

ISO - Fire demand pipe size requirements as specified by the most current edition of the fire 
suppression rating schedule published by the Insurance Service Office. 

Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit – A unit that is no more than 500 square feet in size and 
contained entirely within a single family residence. A junior accessory dwelling unit may include 
separate sanitation facilities or may share sanitation facilities with the existing structure. 

Meter - The device capable of measuring the quantity of water delivered to a designated parcel. 

Monthly Fixed Charge –  The monthly fixed charge for every account to which water service is 
provided and readily available through a connection to the District’s system, whether or not water 
is used through said connection. 

Multi-Family Residential - A parcel with a water service that serves a structure with more than 
one attached dwelling unit, such as duplexes, triplexes, apartments and accessory dwelling units. 
For the purposes of billing, detached accessory dwelling units will also be considered a multi-
family residential unit. 

New Service - Refers to application for metered water service to lands not currently served by 
the District.  

Operations Manager – The Operations Manager of the Twain Harte Community Services 
District. 

Parcel - A piece of real property designated by the County of Tuolumne by a single assessor's 
parcel number. 

Parcel Owner - The person or persons whose name or names appear on the Tuolumne County 
Tax Assessor’s latest equalized assessment roll as the owner of a parcel that is receiving utility 
service or that is located within the District’s geographical boundaries.  The Parcel Owner is 
responsible for the payment of all rates, charges, and fees, including penalties thereon regarding 
any furnished services. 

Private Fire System - Fire suppression service in the form of a sprinkler system to a designated 
parcel of land. 

Property Owner – See Parcel Owner. 

Regulations – See Water Code.  

Residential Living Unit – Any structure containing living, sleeping, cooking, and sanitation 
facilities. At a minimum, cooking facilities shall include a sink that is separate from the bathroom 
sink. See Dwelling Unit.  

Service Connections - Water facilities including a tap on a water main and the service lateral 
pipe from the main to and including the meter as located by the District and including the curb 
stop and meter box. 

Service Valve - The equipment located on the District's lateral pipe to the user's property, and 
which is the method by which service to the affected land is controlled. 



 

1-4 

Shall and Will - "Shall" is mandatory and "Will" is permissive. 

Single Family Residence –The primary residential dwelling unit on a parcel. For billing 
purposes, all separate/detached dwelling units on a parcel will be billed as separate single family 
residential units, unless the dwelling unit is classified as an accessory dwelling unit. 

Standard Specifications and Plans of the District - This refers to the specific requirements of 
the District relative to plumbing facilities and equipment and includes improvement standards and 
specifications as well as detailed drawings and all Amendments thereto and changes thereof. 

Tenant – A person who occupies land or property rented from a landlord, including without 
limitation a parcel or property owner.  See Customer. 

THCSD – See District. 

Unimproved Property - Refers to parcels of land upon which no structure requiring water service 
has heretofore been placed or presently exists. 

Water Code – The entirety of this Ordinance, which establishes requirements for design, 
methods of construction, operation and maintenance of both public and private water supply, 
storage and distribution facilities and water service connections served by the District’s water 
system.  

Water Service – Water or water infrastructure that is provided, including but not limited to, 
residential, non-residential, agricultural, commercial and industrial customers. 

Water System – The District water conveyance system, including treatment plants, tanks, 
pumps, pipes, canals, reservoirs, drainage courses and any other appurtenance that exists in 
support of the water system.  Any water system constructed or reconstructed by the District; or 
any private water system acquired by the District by whatever means. 

Water User – Users receiving water service as defined herein, specifically under Water Service 
in this section. 

 



 

2-1 

SECTION 2 - GENERAL WATER SERVICE AND USE REQUIREMENTS 

2.01 Service Subject to Regulations 

Water service will be provided to properties within the Twain Harte Community Services District 
boundary in accordance with this Code, adopted and amended from time to time by the Board of 
Directors.  By applying for or receiving water service from the District, each user covenants and 
agrees to be bound by and to comply with all regulations of this Code.  

2.02 Property Owner Liability 

The Property Owner shall be ultimately responsible for water use associated with his/her parcel, 
including but not limited to, service connection; installation, operation and maintenance of private 
water equipment/facilities; water use; and payment of any costs, rates, charges or fees related 
thereto. Tenant occupancy of a property shall not relieve the Property Owner of this liability, even 
if the tenant is a District Customer.  

2.03 Non-Liability of District 

The District will exercise reasonable care and diligence to deliver a continuous, sufficient supply 
of water of good quality at the District connection to the customer's premises.  However, the 
District is not, and will not be liable for any loss, damage or inconvenience to any person or 
equipment by reason of shortage, insufficiency, suspension, discontinuance, service interruption, 
increase or decrease of water pressure, or by a water quality problem. 

2.04 Service Interruptions 

The District reserves the right at any and all times to shut off water delivery for the purpose of 
maintenance, making repairs, or alterations to the system.  Reasonable effort will be made when 
feasible to give advance notice of interruption of service to all water users affected. The District 
shall not be liable for any loss or damage or insufficiency of supply if caused by accident, act of 
God, fire, strikes, riots, war or any other cause beyond the District’s control. 

2.05 Water Pressure Conditions 

The District will attempt to provide a minimum of 20 psi (pounds per square inch) at the meter for 
each District user; however, the user, by applying for water service from the District, accepts such 
conditions of pressure and service as are provided by the Water System at the location of the 
proposed service connection.   

User may, upon their own discretion, install a booster pump facility on the user side of the meter.  
All operation and maintenance shall be the responsibility of the user and the District assumes no 
liability for its use, condition, deterioration or damage.   
 
A pressure regulator or pressure reducing valve shall be installed and maintained by the 
customer on each connection where the water pressure at the meter exceeds 80 pounds per 
square inch (psi), per the Uniform Plumbing Code.  

2.06 User Responsibility for Water 

Ownership and responsibility for water, including risk of loss or damage resulting from its use, 
passes from the District to the water user at the outlet of the meter or District-owned valve, 
backflow device, or double check valve assembly at the customer’s point of connection.  Water 
users shall only use water for the purpose identified on the application for service, consistent with 
all District Regulations.   



 

2-2 

2.07 Water Resale Prohibited 

Except with the prior written authorization of the District, no user shall resell any water furnished 
by the District; nor shall any user permit the use of any water furnished by the District on any 
premises other than specified in the user's application for service. 

2.08 User Responsibility for Facilities 

Water Users are responsible for all privately owned equipment, pumps, appliances, pipes, water 
heaters, or other facilities connected to the public water supply on the discharge side of the water 
meter. It is the responsibility of the water user to protect private facilities by installation of 
switches, valves, sensors, or sediment traps or screens or other protective devices.  Damage to 
private facilities resulting from water outages, volume or pressure variations or accumulations of 
line sediment, discoloration or scale formation will not be compensated by the District.   

2.09 District Responsibility for Facilities 

Operation, maintenance and replacement of the District-owned Water System shall be under the 
exclusive control of the District under the direction of the General Manager. The District's 
ownership of and responsibility for operation and maintenance of Water System facilities shall 
end at the discharge side of water meters that are installed by the District.  

2.10 Damage to District Facilities 

The user shall be responsible to pay the District for costs of repairing or replacing any District 
facilities damaged as a result of construction or other work or activities on the user's property. 

2.11 Tampering with District Facilities 

No person other than those designated and authorized by the District, shall at any time in any 
manner operate, interfere with, or tamper with the District’s property or Water System.  This 
includes, but is not limited to, buildings and facilities, communication equipment, curbstops, 
valves, gates, hydrants, standpipes or other appurtenances. 

The cost of repairing any damage resulting from tampering with District Facilities will be billed to 
the responsible party and shall include, without limitation, the cost of labor, materials and 
equipment. Any tampering qualifying as a misdemeanor under the California Penal Code shall be 
referred to the District Attorney for prosecution. 

2.12 Requests to Change District Facilities 

Customers may request that the District make changes to its facilities (i.e. relocation of a meter or 
service connection for customer convenience).  If the District deems that the requested changes 
are suitable for continued service and do not add an undue burden to the District’s operations, the 
District may make such changes. If changes are approved, the customer is required to make a 
payment sufficient to cover the District’s cost of work, as determined by the District, prior to the 
performance of work. 

2.13 Electrical Grounds Prohibited 

Ground wire connections to any plumbing which ultimately is connected to the District’s Water 
System is prohibited, unless approved in writing by the General Manager. 

 

 



 

2-3 

2.14 Installation of Wells 

It shall be unlawful to install wells within the District boundaries without firs securing the written 
permission of the District Board. 

 



 

3-1 

SECTION 3 - WATER SERVICE RATES, CHARGES AND FEES 

3.01 Establishment of Rates, Charges and Fees 

The District Board shall, by resolution, establish a schedule of rates, charges and fees for water 
service and new water connections. Water service rates, charges and fees shall be set and 
established in accordance with law. The District may from time to time increase its rates, charges 
and fees or adopt new rates, charges and fees pursuant to applicable provisions of law. 

3.02 Property Owner Responsibility for Rates, Charges and Fees 

The Property Owner is responsible for the timely payment of all rates, charges and fees related to 
water service for his/her property. 

3.03 Regular Water Service Rates and Charges 

3.03.1 Base Charge 

A monthly fixed charge will be applied to all customers, based on user classification, number of 
dwelling units and meter size, to provide for ongoing operation, maintenance, repair and 
improvement of the District’s water system. The District finds that the continued operation of the 
District’s water system provides a benefit to all of its customers and all customers have a 
responsibility to pay base charge in order to maintain the water system whether or not they take 
delivery of water. 

Base charges for accessory dwelling units will be proportional to the actual capacity used by a 
typical accessory dwelling unit in the District. Guest living units will not be subject to base charges 
beyond the charges attributed to the customer’s residential dwelling unit(s). 

3.03.2 Consumption Charge 

A consumption charge will be applied to all customers, at a rate per 1,000 gallons of water 
delivered through the customer’s meter each month, to provide for variable costs related to water 
treatment and delivery.  

3.04 Private Fire Protection Water Service Rates and Charges 

3.04.1 Base Charge 

A monthly fixed charge will be applied to all customers with service connections that supplies 
water exclusively to privately owned and maintained sprinklers and fire hydrants used solely for 
fire protection. The charge will be based on the base charge set a 1” non-residential meter. 

3.04.2 Consumption Charge 

A consumption charge will be applied to all customers with a private fire protection service 
connection at a rate per 1,000 gallons of water delivered through the customer’s meter each 
month. 

3.05 Connection Fees and Capacity Charges 

Applicants for new service connections shall be required to pay all applicable connection fees and 
capacity charges related to user classification and size of service. Connection fees and capacity 
charges will be established by the District Board, by resolution, and specifically determined for 



 

3-2 

each proposed connection by the General Manager or his/her designee.  Connection fees and 
capacity charges shall be paid prior to District’s approval of new service connection application. 

3.05.1 Capacity Charges for Accessory Dwelling Units  

Capacity charges will not be applied to accessory dwelling units that are less than 750 square 
feet.  Capacity charges for accessory dwelling units larger than 750 square feet shall be 
proportional to the capacity required to serve said unit. 

3.06 Miscellaneous Fees 

The District shall adopt, and amend as needed, a miscellaneous fee policy to establish 
reimbursement of miscellaneous water-related services provided for the direct benefit of a 
customer, agency or other party. Such services include, but are not limited to: additional billings, 
property transfers, account set-up, tenant account set-up, new service application, other 
applications, appeals, service flow reduction/shutoff, door notice for service flow reduction/shutoff, 
after hours reinstatement of service or after hours call, service shutoff/turn-on for customer 
convenience, meter testing, inspections, and backflow prevention device inspections. Some 
services provided to the customer may be billed based on actual costs incurred by the District. 

3.07 Change of Use 

Water Users shall immediately notify the District in writing if the user makes any property changes 
or improvements that alters the type of water use or the size, character or extent of private water 
facilities in a manner that would increase or decrease water charges and fees. “Immediately” shall 
mean at the time a building permit is issued for altering the property or at the time the change of 
use actually commences (if no permit is issued). 

Examples of changes in use include, but are not limited to, the following changes:  

1. Improvements that change the classification of use (i.e. changing from residential use to 
commercial) or add a new classification of use to the existing use (i.e. adding commercial 
use to an existing residential use.). 

2. Improvements that change property use, including, but not limited to, addition of dwelling 
units, parcel splits, additional buildings, or other possible multiple use divisions. 

3. Improvements to the property that, in the opinion of the District, require an increase in 
water pressure and/or quantity.  This includes improvements made to satisfy the 
Tuolumne County or District fire suppression standards. 

 
At the discretion of the General Manager, changes in use may require the submittal of an 
amended application for service. A change in use may require payment of additional capacity 
fees and/or additional or modified service connections. If the change requires an increase in 
service charges, said increase will be implemented on, or applied retroactively to, the date at 
which the change of use actually commences. If the change requires a decrease in service 
charges, said decrease will be implemented at the time the District receives and verifies 
notification. 

Failure to report a change of use, when discovered by the District, may require payment equal to 
twice the avoided user charges in effect during the period of time since such unauthorized 
change of use was made and twice the additional connection fee in effect at the time of 
discovery. Properties found to have unauthorized changes of use may be disconnected or be 
subject to flow reduction until payment of said payments are paid.   

The General Manager, at his/her discretion, may reduce said penalties for changes of use based 
on the specific circumstances related to the change of use. 



 

3-3 

3.08 Temporary Suspension of Regular Water Service Rates 

At the sole discretion of the General Manager, the District may allow a maximum six-month 
suspension of monthly service charges in the event that the customer requests services be shut 
off as a result of a catastrophic event that renders a dwelling unit uninhabitable (such as fire, 
etc.). Such suspensions will only be granted to customers who have continuously used and 
maintained their water service in an active billing status for at least one year. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

4-1 

SECTION 4 - BILLING AND ENFORCEMENT FOR NON-PAYMENT 

4.01 Billing 

Charges for water service will be billed to customers who: 

1. Receive water service from the District; or 

2. Have capacity allocated to the property, regardless of whether a service lateral or meter 
has been installed. 

A customer account will be billed whether or not the property is vacant, or water is being 
consumed.  No credit or discount will be allowed or approved for any vacant properties regardless 
of the reason for the vacancy.  

4.02 Billing Frequency 

Water service charges will be billed on a monthly basis following monthly meter reading, which 
will be read as nearly as possible at equivalent monthly intervals.  

4.03 Delivery of Bills 

Bills will be sent physically and/or electronically to the customer at the address of the property 
owner or tenant (should the property owner agree to have the tenant billed directly). Customer 
shall be responsible to keep the District advised of the address to which the bills are to be 
delivered. Non-receipt of a bill shall not relieve the owner of any obligation to the District. 

4.04 Direct Billing of Tenants 

As a courtesy, property owners that rent or lease property with water service may have the billing 
sent directly to their tenant or tenant’s agent.  To accomplish this, the owner shall first complete 
an Owner – Authorization for Tenant Service which application may be required to be updated 
from time to time at the District’s sole determination.  The tenant is then required to complete a 
Tenant – Water/Sewer Agreement for Service prior to the District changing the billing name and 
address. Even with completion of both agreements, if the tenant becomes delinquent, the 
property owner shall ultimately be responsible for all delinquent charges, fees, interest, and 
penalties. The property owner shall have access to information regarding the account status of 
their tenant upon request.  If tenant becomes more than 30 days delinquent, the District may 
revoke tenant billing privileges and the account will be closed in the tenant’s name and billing will 
be placed back into the owner’s name. Billing will remain in property owner’s name once tenant 
privileges have been revoked.  

4.05 Estimated Bills 

If a meter fails to register correctly or cannot be read, the bill will be based on the District's 
estimate of the quantity of water delivered, taking into consideration seasonal water demand and 
any other factors that are material and significant in arriving at a fair charge. 

4.06 Prorated Bills 

For bills calculated for less than a full billing period, the bill will be prorated from the first day of 
the billing period to the date of service or from the commencement of service until the last day of 
the billing period.  

 



 

4-2 

4.07 Bill Payment 

Bill payment requirements are as follows: 

1. Responsibility: The Property Owner is responsible for the timely payment of all rates, 
charges and fees related to water service for his/her property, even if the property 
owner’s tenant is a customer. 

2. Due Date: Water charges are due and payable to the District on the first working day of 
each month for service received the preceding month. 

3. Delivery of Payment: Customer shall make bill payments to the District in a manner 
acceptable to the District as provided on the bill and/or the District’s website.  

4.08 Delinquent Bills 

4.08.1 Delinquent Date 

Payments shall be considered delinquent at the close of business on the 20th day of the month. 

4.08.2 Penalties 

Should any bill not be paid in full before becoming delinquent, a one-time penalty charge of ten 
and one-half percent (10.5%) shall be added. The penalty charge will continue to be added to any 
new balances that become delinquent until all delinquent charges, fees, penalties and interest are 
paid in full. Current charges due and payable will not be accepted without payment of all 
delinquent charges, fees, penalties and interest. 

Failure to pay delinquent bills will result in the District placing a flow restriction device on the 
customer’s service connection, as described below. 

4.08.3 Delinquent Notices 

Delinquent notices shall be delivered as follows: 

1. First Notice (15-day): Prior to any service flow restriction for non-payment, the District 
shall mail a written notice to the customer stating that the bill is delinquent and that water 
service flow will be restricted fifteen (15) days after the date of the notice. The notice shall 
provide contact information for the District, the past due amount, and any opportunities to 
request alternative payment plans through the latest revision of the District’s alternative 
payment plan policy. 

2. Second Notice (48-hour): A second notice shall be delivered to the customer, either in 
person or by mail, forty-eight (48) hours prior to a flow restriction device being placed on 
the customer’s service for non-payment. The notice shall be considered delivered if hung 
on the door or entry way to the building receiving water service. A separate fee will be 
charged to the customer for delivery of the second notice. 

3. Tenants and Owners: If the property owner and tenant have entered into agreements 
with the District to have the account in the tenant’s name, the first delinquent notice shall 
be sent to both the tenant and the property owner.  

4.08.4 Disputed Bills 

Delinquency notices shall inform the customer that any disputed portion of the billing may be 
reviewed with the General Manager or Finance Director within thirty (30) days of the date of the 
Notice. The customer shall send a written statement supporting the basis for dispute to the 



 

4-3 

District office, attention of the General Manager.  Billing adjustments may be considered based 
on a history of no greater than 6 months from the date of most recent billing period. 

4.08.5 Payment to Avoid Flow Restriction or Shutoff 

To avoid service flow restriction and or shutoff for non-payment, even if the customer has 
disputed the bill, the customer must provide full payment of the past due amount of the bill prior to 
the date of flow restriction or shutoff provided in the delinquent notices. Customers may also 
contact the District to request an alternate payment plan per the District’s latest adopted 
alternative payment plan policy.  

4.08.6 Flow Restriction or Shutoff for Non-Payment 

If customers fail to pay the past due balance by the date provided in the delinquent notices, the 
District will restrict flow through or shutoff the customer’s service connection due to non-payment. 
Flow restriction or shutoff shall be subject to the following: 

1. Flow Restriction: Flow restriction devices installed on a customer’s service line will 
significantly restrict flow through the service connection. The restricted water flow is 
considered sufficient to provide for basic drinking, cooking and sanitation needs, although 
such water may be supplied at an inconvenience to the customer due to the reduced flow 
rate and pressure.  

2. Shutoff: At its option, the District may choose to shutoff services for non-payment. Should 
the District opt to shutoff services for non-payment, it must adopt and implement a 
separate shutoff policy that fully complies with the requirements of California law. 

3. Restriction/Restoration of Flow: Water service will only be restricted and/or restored from 
restriction between 8:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. on business days (excludes weekends and 
holidays). After full payment of past due bill balances and fees, the customer may request 
that water service be restored after hours or on a weekend or holiday. If, at the discretion 
of the District, an operator is available to make such restoration, the customer may opt to 
pay a fee to have water service restored. 

4. Continued Billing: Customers will continue to be billed normal service charges and rates 
even if their service connection is restricted or shutoff. 

4.09 Alternative Payment Plans, Fee Waivers and Account Credits 

The District Board shall adopt, and update as it deems necessary, a policy to provide for 
alternative payment plans to provide alternatives that help customers avoid service flow 
restrictions and/or disconnections. The policy shall also provide conditions for waiver of fees and 
account credits. 

4.10 Unpaid Accounts – Property Lien 

All unpaid water service accounts may become a lien against the real property to which the 
service is rendered when the General Manager or the Finance Officer has determined that the 
recovery of the amount due may be uncertain, then the General Manager or the Finance Officer 
shall cause to be filed with the County Recorder a Certificate of Lien, setting forth the amount of 
the delinquent charges, including any interest and penalties therein, the name and address of the 
property owner. 

4.11 Unpaid Accounts – County Tax Roll 

The amount of any charges for water service that are delinquent and unpaid for sixty (60) days or 
more on or before July 1st of each year, shall be added to and become a part of the annual taxes 



 

4-4 

upon such property, and shall constitute a lien on that property as of the same time and in the 
same manner as general taxes upon such property. The Finance Officer shall furnish to the 
County Board of Supervisors and the County Auditor a statement of such delinquent and unpaid 
charges on or before August 10th of that year and shall provide all other notifications required by 
law. 

4.12 Collection by Legal Action 

The General Manager is authorized and directed to institute and prosecute, in the name of the 
District, appropriate legal action for the collection of the delinquent water rates, charges and fees. 

 

 



 

5-1 

SECTION 5 - SERVICE CONNECTIONS 

5.01 Application for Service 

Application for water service shall be made in writing on forms provided by the District, and 
signed by the legal owner of the subject property.  Applications shall be supported by plot maps, 
assessor's parcel number, description of proposed construction, construction type, number of 
dwelling units, date the service is to begin, the name and billing address of the owner, and where 
deemed necessary by the District the domestic water requirements in gallons per day. 

5.02 New Service Conditions 

The following requirements must be met to obtain a service connection: 

1. The property to be served must be within the geographical boundaries of the Twain Harte 
Community Services District, and within or adjacent to an area being served or servable 
by the District. 

2. The property to be served and the proposed location of the new service must be located 
adjacent to an existing District water main. 

3. The District must possess an adequate water supply to provide service to the property, 
as determined solely by the District. At the discretion of the General Manager, the District 
may accept an alternative water supply from the Property Owner to provide for adequate 
water use on the property.  

4. The District’s Water System must possess adequate capacity and pressure to provide 
safe and reliable water service and fire protection to the property, as determined solely by 
the District. Should the determination reveal that the District's existing facilities are 
inadequate to serve a new connection, the new service or services shall not be allowed 
to connect into the system unless and until the applicant provides such adequate 
extension and improvements, including additional water supply, treatment, storage and 
distribution system, and/or pays capacity charges as required by the District.  The 
location, capacity and design of such extensions and improvements shall be determined 
solely and conclusively by the District. 

5. Use of the service must not significantly impair service to existing District customers. 

6. The Property Owner must pay all connection and capacity fees and any other applicable 
charges and fees. In areas where the District also provides sewer service, the Property 
Owner must apply and pay connection fees for both treated water and sewer service 
simultaneously. Service connections will not be installed prior to payment of said fees. 

5.03 Guarantee of Applicant 

The submission of an application shall constitute the Property Owner’s agreement to comply with 
all the Regulations in this Code and other ordinances, policies and regulations relating to water 
service, including, but not limited to, the timely required payment for water service. 

5.04 Quotes for Service 

The District will respond to requests for general information on fee schedules within an area 
serviced by the District’s Water System free of charge.  The District will also provide quotes for 
new service capacity and connection fees for connection of specific properties that can be readily 
served by the District’s Water System. To receive a property-specific quote, applicants must 



 

5-2 

complete an application for service to determine specific use and service needs. Quotes for 
service are subject to the following: 

1. The District will guarantee quotes for 60 days for new services, where the applicant is the 
property owner as of the date of the quote. 

2. Provision of a quote does not include a guarantee of service. 

3. Material differences between an application and the subsequent intended use of District 
services, as determined by the General Manager, may render the quote invalid. 

4. Quotes will not be provided for properties that require an extension of facilities. 

5.05 Service Connection Requirements 

The following requirements must be met for all service connections: 

1. Separate Services per Parcel. A service connection shall not serve more than one parcel.  
However, the property owner may apply for as many separate services for the same 
parcel as he/she may reasonably require. The District’s General Manager may, at his/her 
sole discretion, require separate services for each separate dwelling unit or commercial 
building located on the same parcel. Each service will be subject to normal service 
charges and fees.  

The District reserves the right to limit the number of houses or buildings, or the area of 
the land under one ownership, to be supplied by one service connection.  A service 
connection shall not be used to supply adjoining property of a different owner or to supply 
the property of the same owner on opposite sides of a public street or alley. 

2. Division of Presently Serviced Parcels. When a parcel which is presently serviced by the 
District is divided into two or more parcels, the existing service connection shall be 
considered as belonging to the parcel which it directly enters. Prior to delivery of water to 
the new parcel(s), the new parcel(s) shall require installation of a new service connection, 
payment of appropriate capacity and connection fees. 

3. Meters. Each service connection shall be metered with its own separate meter furnished 
and maintained by the District. 

4. Customer Control Valve. The customer, at his/her own expense, shall install and maintain 
a control valve on his/her side of the service connection as close as is possible to the 
meter location, public right-of-way, or easement in which the water main serving the 
customer’s property is located. The customer shall not use the District’s service 
connection valve to turn water on and off.  

5. Customer Pressure Regulator. The customer shall, at his/her own expense, install and 
maintain a pressure regulator or pressure reducing valve shall be installed and 
maintained by the customer on each connection where the water pressure at the meter 
exceeds 80 pounds per square inch (psi), per the Uniform Plumbing Code.  

6. Backflow Prevention Devices. The customer shall, at his/her own expense, install and 
maintain a District-approved backflow prevention device to provide protection from 
hazards getting back into the District’s treated water system. Such types of hazards may 
include, but are not limited to, a separate irrigation system on a property, a business that 
uses chemicals, a property with a sewage lift station, a cross-connection of potable and 
non-potable water system, or other potential hazards as determined by law or the District. 

 



 

5-3 

5.06 Service Connection Size, Location and Installation 

The District will furnish and install a service of such size and location as it approves. The service 
will typically be installed from its water distribution main to the curb line or property line of the 
parcel or the edge of District easement. Unless approved otherwise in advance by the District, 
only employees or agents of the District shall install service connections. Any work the District 
allows to be performed by others will require District inspection and acceptance.  

5.07 Meters 

The following requirements apply to all meters: 

1. Meter Installation Location. Meters will be located as close as possible to the curb line or 
property line of the parcel or the edge of District easement. Unless approved otherwise in 
advance by the District, only employees or agents of the District shall install service 
connections. All meter installation costs will be the owner’s responsibility. No rent or other 
charge will be paid by the District for a meter or other facilities located on a customer’s 
property.  

2. Change in Meter Location. Meters relocated for the convenience of the customer will be 
relocated at the customer’s expense. Meters relocated to protect the District’s property 
will be relocated at the District’s expense. If the lateral distance which the customer 
desires to move the meter exceeds eight (8) feet, the District may require the customer to 
pay for the installation of a new service connection for the desired location.  

3. Size of Meter. The size of the meter will be determined by the District based on the type 
of use specified in the customer’s new service application. With District approval, the 
customer may determine the size of the meter for each service connection compatible 
with provisions of the American Waterworks Association Standard as revised at the date 
of the application. 

4. Change of Meter Size. The meter will be replaced by a meter of different size upon the 
customer request (if approved by the District) or as required by a change of usage.  The 
customer shall be responsible for all costs associated with the meter installation and any 
upgrades to the service lateral, as required, including, but not limited to the cost of the 
meter, plus additional connection fees and other fees. 

5. Testing Meters. The District will test the accuracy of any meters upon the written request 
of the customer. Customers shall pay a fee for all such tests. If a meter is found to be 
working improperly, it will be repaired or replaced by the District and the customer will not 
be responsible for paying the meter testing fee.   

5.08 Cross-Connections and Backflow Prevention  

All treated water customers with actual or potential cross-connections with other sources of water 
supply or sources of possible contamination on their property shall be required to comply with the 
regulations set forth in the lates revision of the California Administrative Code, Title 17, 
“Regulations Relating to Cross Connections”, which requires periodic inspection and certification 
of a properly functioning backflow control device to protect the District’s water system. The 
District’s requirements for such devices and procedures for installation and testing shall be set 
forth in the District’s Standard Specifications and Details and/or an adopted cross connection 
management policy. The customer shall be responsible for reimbursing the District for regular 
inspection and testing of the backflow devices. 

Water service may be refused or discontinued to any property where there exists a cross-
connection violation. 



 

5-4 

 

5.09 Customer Disconnection of Service Prohibited 

Once a service line is extended to a parcel, the customer may not disconnect the service under 
any circumstances and the property owner shall be responsible for all related monthly rates, 
charges and fees.  No refunds of connection or capacity fees shall be allowed. Capacity shall not 
be allowed to be transferred amongst parcels except through the conditions of approval contained 
in a development agreement for a subdivision which development agreement is issued by the 
District. 

5.09.1 Exceptions for Certain Projects 

At the sole discretion of the General Manager, an exception may be granted for existing service 
lines not utilized by a development, redevelopment or demolition project.  Customers must 
request such disconnection in writing along with copies of any applicable permits issued by local 
agencies prior to consideration by the District.  In cases where the project does not require a 
permit, such as in certain demolition projects, a site inspection by the District shall be required.  
An approved disconnection requires customers to remove, at their expense, the unneeded 
service line(s) at the main or another location determined by the District Engineer.  All capacity, 
including capacity previously provided by Developers, associated with a disconnected service line 
shall be permanently forfeited upon disconnection and monthly service charges shall cease upon 
final approval by the District.  Once disconnected, if service is desired at the property in the 
future, owner shall submit a new service application along with payment of the current connection 
and/or capacity fees applicable at time of application. 

5.09.2 Exceptions for Abandoned Connections 

At the sole discretion of the General Manager an exception may be granted under this section for 
existing service lines where it can be determined, to the District’s satisfaction, that service has not 
been utilized for a period of ten years or more and there is no structure on the property.  
Customers must request disconnection in writing with documentation demonstrating the property 
has not been occupied for at least ten years.  A site inspection by the District may be required.   
An approved disconnection requires customers to remove, at their expense, the unneeded 
service line(s) at the main or another location determined by the District Engineer.  All capacity, 
including capacity previously provided by Developers, associated with a disconnected service line 
shall be permanently forfeited upon disconnection and monthly service charges shall cease upon 
approval by the District.  Once disconnected, if service is desired at the property in the future, 
owner shall submit a new service application along with payment of the current connection and/or 
capacity fees applicable at time of application. This exception shall not apply to commercial 
properties and will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis for residential properties located within 
a subdivision where water mains were previously constructed to serve the parcel in question. 

5.10 Disconnection of Service by District 

The District reserves the right to disconnect any connection to its water distribution system and/or 
to discontinue or shutoff water service for any of the following reasons, without notice unless 
otherwise indicated. 

1. The customer fails to comply with any of the District's Regulations, after notice by mail or 
in person; 

2. The service is being furnished without proper authorization or application; 

3. There is evidence of unauthorized tampering or interference with the District's facilities; 

4. The District or a State or County Public Health Officer finds that there exists a known or 



 

5-5 

potential hazard to the health or safety of the customer or any water user of the District, 
including hazards resulting from discharges from the customer’s private sewer facilities; 

5. The customer fails, after notice from the District, to remove an obstruction that prevents 
access to the water meter; 

6. Excessive or wasteful use of water as described in Section 12, after notice by mail or in 
person that the same be terminated. 

5.11 Unauthorized Service Connections 

No person shall cause a service connection to be made without prior authorization of the District, 
and every person who does so shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.  Such person may be required 
to pay a penalty for the unauthorized service connection equal to twice the estimated user’s 
charges in effect during the period of time such unauthorized service connection was made and 
used and twice the Connection Fee in effect at the time connection is authorized.  Such 
unauthorized connections may be disconnected by District at such person’s expense, until such 
service connection is authorized and the penalties and other charges or fees are paid.  The 
payment penalties as provided herein may be reduced to 25% of the user charges and 
then-applicable Connection Fee provided such person makes application and pays all charges 
and fees within ten (10) working days of written notification that such service connection is 
unauthorized and provided that the connection is not in violation of any other provisions contained 
herein or as provided by law. 

 



 

6-1 

SECTION 6 - EXTENSION OR IMPROVEMENT OF FACILITIES 

6.01 Required Extension or Improvement of Facilities 

When water is requested for property within the District which does not abut an adequate District 
water main, an extension or improvement of the District's system shall be required.  Extensions or 
improvements shall include facilities to provide water supply, treatment, storage and distribution 
as determined solely by the District.  Provision of the required elements or payment of in-lieu fees 
as determined by the District for any element of service not physically constructed or supplied, 
shall be addressed by agreement between the District and the developer and shall, in all cases, 
require approval by District Board of Directors.  Water service includes fire hydrant installations 
throughout the Scope of this Regulation. 

6.02 Extension or Improvement Application 

An extension or improvement of facilities shall be initiated by completing an application and 
depositing an application fee with the District, as described herein.  The application must be 
signed by the property owner.  The application shall become null and void: 

1. Three (3) months after the date of the application unless an extension has been granted 
or improvement of facilities agreement has been signed by the Board of Directors and the 
developer. 

2. Eighteen (18) months after the date of the executed agreement unless construction has 
been completed, and accepted by District.  A maximum twelve (12) month extension of 
time may be granted upon request of the developer and approved in writing by the 
General Manager. 

6.03 Project Approval 

Extension or improvement of facilities applications shall be reviewed by the District Engineer or 
District Engineer's designate.  If further information is required, the developer's Engineer, at the 
developer's expense, will prepare the additional information needed.  The property owner shall 
sign the extension or improvement of facilities agreement which incorporates the requirements of 
the District. The agreement will not be effective unless approved by the District’s Board of 
Directors. No additional work shall commence until the agreement has been signed by all parties. 

6.04 Environmental Review Charge 

Unless any required environmental processing has been done by the County or another agency, 
the District may determine that an initial study or environmental impact report is required for a 
proposed extension facility necessary to serve a developer's land.  The developer shall be 
responsible for the costs of preparing such a study and/or report, including associated costs 
incurred by the District for overhead, preparation, and hearings.  

6.05 Design, Installation and Ownership of Facility Extensions 

The character and design of the extension or improvement of facilities required to serve any 
parcel of land shall be determined solely by the District.  The developer shall have the facilities 
designed by a qualified registered civil engineer.  All costs associated with facilities design and 
installation shall be borne by the developer.  Design of the facilities shall be in accordance with 
good engineering practice and not less than the District's Minimum Design Standards.  
Improvement plans shall be approved by the District Engineer.  The facilities shall be installed in 
accordance with the approved plans and specifications and the District's Standard Plans and 
Specifications as they exist at the time of approval. 



 

6-2 

Unless installed by the District, the developer shall have the facilities installed by an experienced, 
licensed contractor approved by the District.  District reserves the right to waive this requirement 
at its discretion. 

All construction materials such as pipe, valves, fittings, concrete, sand, asphalt, etc., shall be 
supplied in accordance with Standard District Specifications.  The District reserves the right to 
construct, with its own personnel or by contract, taps on existing mains, extensions involving 
complicated connection to, or interference with the District's existing facilities or other unusual 
facilities.  The developer may be required to furnish an irrevocable letter of credit, bond or other 
acceptable surety to insure payment for construction of any facilities for which the District 
assumes responsibility.  Upon completion, inspection and acceptance by the District, the facilities 
shall be owned and operated by the District as part of its water system. 

6.06 Sizing of Facilities and Minimum Pressure 

Pipeline sizing shall be in accordance with the following: 

1. The normal minimum pipeline size for water shall be six (6) inches (except as provided 
below).  

2. The District Engineer or his designate may require larger or allow smaller pipeline size, if 
in his opinion, a larger size is needed or a smaller pipeline size would be appropriate. 

3. Each new distribution system that expands the existing system service connections by 
more than 20 percent or that may otherwise adversely affect the distribution system 
pressure shall be designed to provide a minimum operating pressure throughout the new 
distribution system of not less than 40 pounds per square inch at all times excluding fire 
flow. 

6.07 Location of Facilities 

The extension or improvement of facilities shall be located only on land owned by the District in 
fee, in streets with an acceptable encroachment permit, existing public utilities easements, or in 
an easement granted to the District.  The location is subject to the District's approval of 
alignment, accessibility and safety of the facilities.  The developer shall convey or grant to the 
District without cost such land and/or easements the District determines necessary for the 
facilities.  The District may also require an easement for future extensions.  Land shall be 
conveyed to the District, free and clear of liens or encumbrances except encumbrances of record 
that are acceptable to the District.  Easements shall be granted in a form satisfactory to the 
District.  The pipeline shall abut all parcels served. An easement shall be granted to District along 
the entire length of the developer's parcel except in cul-de-sacs, dead-end roadways or other 
situations where the District determines that the pipeline may terminate and remote service be 
provided.  

6.08 Land Right Schedule 

The developer shall provide all land, easements and rights-of-way to the District prior to District 
acceptance of facilities. 

6.09 Payment of Costs 

The developer shall pay the District's actual costs including, but not limited to:  Engineering 
analysis, designs, plan review or preparation of environmental impact documents, hearings, 
review or preparation of improvement plan, construction inspection, as-built drawings, project 
management and usual overhead expenses allocated to such work.  The developer shall deposit 
District's estimate of engineering review, inspection, and project administrative costs prior to 
performance of any work by the District.  Upon completion of the work, if the amount deposited 



 

6-3 

with the District is less than actual costs, the difference shall be paid to the District prior to the 
commencement of service.  Any amount deposited in excess of actual cost will be refunded. 

6.10 Inspection and Notice of Completion 

The District shall inspect the construction of all facilities to be owned and operated by the District.  
The District will not accept or provide service through a facility which has not been inspected, is 
satisfactory to and is accepted by the District Engineer.  

6.11 Acceptance of Facilities 

Upon completion of the construction, final inspection and approval by the District Engineer, 
submission of as-built drawings acceptable to the District and payment of any outstanding monies 
due, the project shall be accepted by the District.  The District shall then issue proof of service to 
the County Building Department.  The facilities shall be owned, operated and maintained by the 
District except as otherwise specified in an agreement. 

6.12 Warranty Responsibilities 

For a period of two (2) years from the date of acceptance by the District, the property owner shall 
warrant for the repair of all defects, leaks or failure occurring in the facilities, which are, as 
determined by the District, due to negligence in the manufacture and/or installation of the facilities 
and not due to improper operation of the system by the District or its agents, acts of a third party 
or acts of God.  Failure by the property owner to pay for any of the repairs described above after 
being billed by the District may result in a discontinuance of service. 

The developer, or the developer's representative, shall submit a two (2) year warranty surety 
bond, (in form acceptable to the District), certificate of deposit, or irrevocable letter of credit, in an 
amount established by contract with the District. 

6.13 Documentation of Project Costs 

The developer shall provide the District with copies of all invoices for materials, equipment, labor 
and District costs for construction of the portion of the project that is to be deeded to the District.  
Those invoices shall be marked "PAID" and signed by the developer or his authorized agent, or at 
District’s option an estimate may be prepared at the developer's expense either by the District or 
by a registered professional engineer establishing the best possible value of the project for 
accounting, warranty and other purposes.  

6.14 Costs Reimbursed by the District 

Reimbursement of documented project costs to a developer for extension or improvement of 
permanent facilities, when other users later benefit from such facilities, shall be subject to a 
reimbursement agreement.  It shall be the intent of this regulation to provide a fair and equitable 
return to the original developer provided others within an area designated by the District make 
use of the extended or improved facilities within a ten year period following completion of 
construction.  The District will collect and disburse funds for repayment of verified project costs 
under the conditions set forth below. 

1. The District shall be under no obligation to make any reimbursement payment 
whatsoever, except as outlined in this section.  All questions as to the meaning of any 
portion of this section shall be as interpreted by the District. 

2. Reimbursable facilities must be constructed in accordance with District's standard 
specifications from plans submitted and approved prior to construction, inspected by the 
District during and after construction and the costs must be documented to District's 



 

6-4 

satisfaction. 

3. Any applicant within an Area of Benefit designated by the District who requires service 
through facilities or improvements constructed by others pursuant to a reimbursement 
agreement and who did not contribute to the cost of construction or required in-lieu fees, 
shall pay a pro rata reimbursement fee prior to service being supplied, including an 
Administrative Fee of 3% or $250, whichever is greater.  An area of benefit which 
identifies parcels having access to the constructed facility or improvement shall be 
determined by District's Engineer and a map of the area shall be attached as Exhibit A to 
the reimbursement agreement.  In no case shall reimbursement exceed the documented 
cost of construction less the proportionate share of the project utilized by the original 
developer.  Reimbursement payments required of future applicants for service within the 
area of benefit shall be based solely upon parcel area according to the following formula: 

Developer's  Verified Construction  Area of 
Payment  Cost (dollars)_______  Applicant's 
Obligation     =  Total Area of Benefit      X Parcel 
(dollars)   (acres)   (acres) 

  
Where extensions are constructed in subdivisions, reimbursement amounts may be 
based on the number of lots within the area of benefit instead of acreage. 

4. On an annual date specified in the reimbursement agreement, the District will disburse 
collected reimbursement funds to the developer without interest.  Developer shall keep 
the District informed of any change of mailing address.  If the developer is an entity of 
more than one individual, District shall disburse funds to a designated escrow account 
and shall have no responsibility or liability for the further distribution of such funds. 

5. The developer's rights to reimbursement funds shall not be transferable or assignable 
without the express written consent of the District Board of Directors. 

6. Any expense for collection, enforcement, disbursement, litigation or any other reason 
connected with administration of a reimbursement agreement which exceeds the 
administration fee cited in paragraph four (4) above, may be deducted from 
reimbursement funds collected by the District before disbursement of the remainder of 
such funds to the developer. 

7. The District will not administer reimbursement from the developer's own existing or 
proposed parcels or from parcels to be acquired by the Developer. 

8. Parcel owners within the area of benefit will not be required to connect to the developer's 
extension if an alternate route is preferable in the sole opinion of the District.  



 

7-1 

SECTION 7 - FIRE SERVICE 

7.01 Conditions of Service 

The District will provide water service for fire hydrants and other facilities used exclusively for fire 
protection, at such pressures and at such rates of flow, as are available from time to time from the 
District's operation of its storage, transmission, and distribution facilities.  The District shall not be 
liable for any damage in any manner arising out of the non-availability of adequate water flows or 
water pressure, at any hydrant or facility used for fire protection. 

7.02 Public Fire Hydrants 

1. Public fire hydrants may, at the District's option, be installed and connected to the 
District's mains when requested by the public fire protection entity having jurisdiction, or 
when required as a condition to the issuance of a building permit or the acceptance by 
the County Board of Supervisors of a subdivision plat. 

2. When a hydrant is installed on an existing main and the construction is to be performed 
by the District, the applicant shall deposit with the District the estimated cost of labor, 
materials, engineering, inspection and usual overhead expenses in the installation of the 
hydrant assembly, hydrant lateral, control valve and the connection to the District 
facilities. 

3. A hydrant may be installed by the applicant with District approval.  The installation shall 
be performed at applicant's expense, by a contractor holding a Class A or C34 license.  
The applicant shall deposit, prior to installation, the estimated cost of District inspection, 
engineering and usual overhead expenses. 

4. The type of hydrant shall be determined by the District and the site location shall be 
jointly determined by the District and the responsible public fire protection entity, 
excluding those hydrants that are installed by the District for the District's sole use as a 
means of flushing the District's water mains. 

5. All installed fire hydrants shall be for the sole use of the appropriate fire district for the 
suppression of fire and for other obvious protection emergency use.  The only exception 
to this rule is the permitted use, granted by the District, to contractors for construction 
water, or fire districts for the testing of hydrant flows.  

6. All new fire hydrants shall belong to and be maintained by the District with the exception 
of private fire hydrants which are installed under agreement with the District.  Fire 
hydrants shall be installed within a permanent easement granted to the District or in an 
existing Public Right of Way.  The District will bear the expense of performing hydrant 
maintenance resulting from normal wear and tear when such conditions are reported by 
the responsible agency or when otherwise brought to the attention of the District. 

7.03 Private Commercial Fire Protection System 

In order to operate a private fire protection system the applicant shall fulfill the following 
conditions: 

1. The land to be served is within the geographical area of the Twain Harte Community 
Services District and within an area served or servable by the District. 

2. The Applicant's land has been annexed to the District and has become subject to any 
bonded indebtedness of the District. 



 

7-2 

3. The District possesses an adequate supply of water capable of serving a private fire 
system. 

4. The private fire commercial suppression system is for the sole and exclusive benefit and 
use of the Applicant and is located entirely within Applicant's property. 

5. The said private fire suppression system will be connected to an isolated service to be 
used exclusively for the suppression of fire or for the testing of the fire prevention system. 

6. The type and location of the said private fire suppression system has been approved by 
the responsible fire protection agency. 

7. The Applicant assumes full responsibility for all maintenance and repair of the said 
system from the underground fitting prior to the inlet side of the backflow preventer. 

8. The size and design of the service connection, backflow preventer and cold water fire 
service type meter shall be subject to approval by the District and shall comply with all 
applicable ISO standards and requirements. 

9. The backflow preventer with the bypass meter shall be furnished by the Applicant and 
installed in compliance with the District's Standards and Specifications.  

10. In the event that water is taken through an existing commercial fire service connection for 
any other use than firefighting or testing, the District reserves the right to disconnect such 
a system, or in the alternative, to require the installation of an upgraded detector check 
valve assembly at the expense of the Applicant upon whose land the system is installed. 

11. An application for service is required on forms provided by the District, and signed by the 
legal owner of the subject property. 

12. The applicant will be required to maintain a current billing status and pay service charges. 

13. Applicants for new commercial fire service connections will be required to install and 
maintain a backflow prevention device. 

7.04 Unauthorized Use of Fire Hydrants 

No person, other than authorized fire personnel shall open, or draw water from, any fire hydrant 
connected to the District's distribution system without prior specific authorization of the District.  
First violators of this section who withdraw water without authorization shall receive a warning 
and instruction on proper procedure. Upon second violation, violators shall be $500 and 
prohibited from utilizing district bulk facilities for a period of three months.  Subsequent violations 
by the same entity shall be prohibited from utilizing district facilities for a period of one year and 
shall be fined $1000 per offense. 



 

8-1 

SECTION 8 - TEMPORARY SERVICE 

8.01 Duration and Payment 

Except for construction water services described below, other temporary water service shall be 
limited to ninety (90) days, after which capacity fees shall be required. Service which does not 
require installation of a permanent connection shall require the installation of a meter, payment of 
a total estimated cost of installing and removing the connection and a reasonable security deposit 
for the meter.  Service charges for any temporary service installed pursuant to this section shall 
be determined in accordance with the rates established by this Water Code. 

8.02 Temporary Service Through Fire Hydrants 

Temporary service for water used in construction and other temporary needs shall be provided at 
locations approved by the District through portable meters furnished by the District.  The District 
shall require, as a condition to such service, the payment of a reasonable security deposit for the 
meter and service charges and rates. Existing customers who have active water service accounts 
and are current with their account balances may be issued temporary hydrant meters without 
initial payment of a security deposit.   

8.03 Temporary Emergency Connection 

Requests for temporary emergency connection to the District water system must demonstrate a 
serious health and safety related emergency and must be approved by the General Manager.  
Applicants for emergency connection shall be responsible to pay all costs related to that 
connection, including without limitation design, construction, in-lieu capacity, connection, and 
monthly rates in accordance with the then current rate schedule adopted by the District.  Multiple 
requests for the same emergency connection may require permanent connection to the District’s 
water system at the discretion of the General Manager. 



 

9-1 

SECTION 9 - CONSERVATION 

9.01 Conservation Policy 

It is the District’s Policy to take reasonable and prudent measures to conserve water and energy 
in the operations and development of the District.  The District in its operation shall: 

1. Develop pricing structures to encourage conservation of water and energy. 

2. Promote through public relations a public consciousness of the need to conserve. 

3. Assist customers to optimize efficient use of water. 

4. Maintain facilities to conserve water. 

5. Design facilities with conservation of water and energy in mind. 

6. Construct facilities to conserve or retrieve water and energy. 

7. Seek to halt all illegal use of water. 

9.02 Water Shortage Contingency Plan 

The District shall adopt and update from time to time, a Water Shortage Contingency Plan (WSC 
Plan) to set forth a plan of action to be followed during the various stages of a water shortage. 
The WSC Plan shall be used in conjunction with this Water Code to protect and preserve public 
health, welfare, and safety and minimize the impacts of water supply shortage or other water 
supply emergency conditions. 

9.03 Phased Water Conservation Programs 

The District shall have the power to restrict use of District water during any shortage or other 
emergency, upon the making of any findings or the taking of any other actions that may be 
authorized or required by law, including Sections 350-359 and 71640-71644 of the Water Code.  

9.03.1 Phase I – Ongoing Water Conservation 

The District will implement the following conservation measures on an ongoing basis: 

1. Education programs. 

2. Promotion of water-saving landscaping. 

3. Community education programs.  

4. Requirement of low-flow fixtures in new developments.  

5. Meter and/or flow control for all customer accounts and plant production activities. 

6. Maintain tiered water rates for treated water. 

7. Prohibit wasteful use of water. 

8. Review for accuracy water measuring and/or metering devices. 

9.03.2 Phase II – Voluntary Conservation Measures 

If the District Board of Directors determines that there is a potential threat of an emergency or 
water shortage based on forecasted precipitation, snowpack and reservoir levels, or if Tuolumne 



 

9-2 

Utilities District calls for Phase II conservation measures, the District Board of Directors shall 
adopt a resolution that: 

1. Declares a threat of emergency or shortage exists; and 

2. Identifies a water reduction goal; and 

3. Implements Phase II conservation measures immediately. 
 
Phase II conservation measures include: 

1. Increase public awareness. 

2. Prohibit fire hydrant flow testing. 

3. Restaurants shall serve water only upon customer request. 

4. Voluntary customer water usage reduction: 

Notify water customers of low water year, request reduction from previous year’s usage, 
and provide information on conservation methods. 

5. Contact high water users:  

Contact highest water users to encourage use of water conservation methods. 

9.03.3 Phase III – Mandatory Conservation Measures 

If the District Board of Directors determines that an emergency or water shortage exists based on 
forecasted precipitation, snowpack and reservoir levels, or if Tuolumne Utilities District calls for 
Phase III conservation measures, the District Board of Directors shall adopt a resolution that: 

1. Declares a state of emergency for the District service area until such time that the Board 
of Directors determines that conditions no longer merit Phase III conservation measures; 
and 

2. Identifies a water reduction goal; and 

3. Implements Phase III conservation measures immediately. 
 

The meeting to consider the resolution must be a public hearing, providing customers the 
opportunity to be heard regarding the declaration of water shortage emergency conditions.  

 
Phase III conservation measures include (in addition to Phase II measures): 

1. Water reduction goal: 

 Establish a Phase III water reduction goal based on severity of the emergency, for 
approval by the District Board of Directors.  If Tuolumne Utilities District has declared 
Phase III conservation measures, the District’s water reduction goal must match or 
exceed the water reduction goal identified by Tuolumne Utilities District.  The water 
reduction goal may be updated as conditions change.   

The water reduction goal is defined as a percent reduction of the prior year’s water 
usage.  The water reduction goal may not exceed 50%.  

2. Landscape watering restrictions: 

a. Watering of lawns, gardens and other outdoor vegetation by use of irrigation 
systems, hoses, faucets or other outlets connected to the public water supply is 
prohibited, unless specified otherwise below. 



 

9-3 

b. Individual garden plants or trees may be irrigated only by the use of buckets, 
containers or properly maintained irrigation drip systems. 

c. Watering lawns is allowed whenever the reduction goal is 40% or less. 

d. Landscape watering allowed under this section may only be undertaken at the 
following times: 

i. Properties with addresses ending in an even number may irrigate only on 
Thursday and Sunday. 

ii. Properties with addresses ending in an odd number may irrigate only on 
Wednesday and Saturday. 

iii. Irrigation may only occur between 7:00 p.m. and 9:00 a.m. 

e. Irrigation which results in water running onto driveways, gutters, streets, 
adjoining property, and/or any other water runoff is prohibited. 

3. Washing of cars, boats, trailers, equipment or other vehicles by hose or by use of water 
directly from faucets or outlets connected to the public water supply is prohibited. 
Washing such vehicles may occur at District-approved commercial washing facilities that 
utilize water recycling capabilities.  

4. Washing of sidewalks, walkways, driveways, patios, parking lots, graveled areas, tennis 
courts or other hard-surfaced areas, including commercial establishments, by hose or by 
use of water from faucets or other outlets connected to the public water supply is 
prohibited. 

5. New construction service applications shall be granted upon condition that water shall 
be used only for interior purposes and landscaping that does not require watering. Any 
landscaping requiring the use of water shall be delayed until repeal of Phase III 
restrictions. 

6. Use of water in decorative fountains, pools, recreational ponds and the like shall be 
limited to the minimum necessary to preserve aquatic life if present. 

7. Use of water for dust control, earth compaction, and other outdoor construction activities 
is prohibited. 

8. Filling of new or existing swimming pools, spas and recreation ponds is prohibited. 

9. Fire hydrants shall be used only for emergency purposes. 

10. Leak Restrictions: 

a. Allowing any plumbing system leak to remain un-repaired, without reasonable 
cause, for seven calendar days following written notification by the District is 
prohibited.   

b. Failure to repair leaks as specified is subject to the following special 
enforcement: 

i. Water service will be shut off until such time that leak(s) are repaired. 

ii. Reinstatement of water service will be subject to the fees listed on the 
District’s most current rate schedule. 



 

9-4 

11. Excessive Water Use: 

a. Excessive water use, without reasonable cause, is prohibited. 

b. Excessive water use is defined as monthly water use that exceeds a certain 
percentage of the prior year’s usage for the same month.  This percentage varies 
based on the reduction goal and is determined by the following chart: 

Reduction Goal Excessive Use Percentage 

20 to 25% 90% 

30 to 35% 85% 

40 to 45% 80% 

50% 75% 

Example: If the reduction goal is 40%, excessive water use is monthly use that 
exceeds 80% of last year’s monthly use. 

c. Monthly water use less than 3,000 gallons will not be considered excessive. 

d. Commercial and industrial customers may contact the District to discuss the 
individual water needs required to maintain their business. 

e. Excessive water use is subject to the following special enforcement: 

i. First Violation. Payment of a $50 penalty. 

ii. Second Violation. Payment of a $100 penalty and customer’s service will 
be restricted by a flow restriction device for 30 days. 

iii. Third Violation. Payment of a $500 penalty and customer’s water service 
will be restricted by a flow restriction device until the Board of Directors 
repeals the state of emergency or threat of emergency or shortage. 

iv. Continued Violation. Payment of a $500 penalty and continued water 
service restriction.  District may pursue misdemeanor charges pursuant 
to Water Code 71644, resulting in 30 days in jail, or a $600 fine, or both. 

9.03.4 Phase IV – Mandatory Conservation Measures for Extreme Emergency 

If the District Board of Directors determines that an extreme emergency or water shortage exists 
based on forecasted precipitation, snowpack and reservoir levels, or an emergency event, or if 
Tuolumne Utilities District calls for Phase IV conservation measures, the District Board of 
Directors shall adopt a resolution that: 

1. Declares a state of emergency for the District service area until such time that the Board 
of Directors determines that conditions no longer merit Phase III conservation measures; 
and 

2. Identifies a water reduction goal; and 

3. Implements Phase IV conservation measures immediately. 
 

The meeting to consider the resolution must be a public hearing, providing customers the 
opportunity to be heard regarding the declaration of water shortage emergency conditions.  
 
Phase IV conservation measures include (in addition to Phase III measures): 



 

9-5 

1. Water reduction goal: 

 Establish a Phase IV water reduction goal based on severity of the emergency, for 
approval by the District Board of Directors.  If Tuolumne Utilities District has declared 
Phase IV conservation measures, the District’s water reduction goal must match or 
exceed the water reduction goal identified by Tuolumne Utilities District.  The water 
reduction goal may be updated as conditions change.   

The water reduction goal is defined as a percent reduction of the prior year’s water 
usage.  The water reduction goal may not exceed 50%.  

2. Immediately notify appropriate media outlets, and post local road signage     notifying 
the public of the current water use restrictions. 

3. Landscape/outdoor watering by hose or by use of water directly from faucets or outlets 
connected to the public water supply shall be strictly prohibited. 

4. New construction services shall not be started until after the repeal of Phase IV 
restrictions.  

5. Excessive Water Use: 

a. Excessive water use, without reasonable cause, is prohibited. 

b. Excessive water use is defined as monthly water use that exceeds a certain 
percentage of the prior year’s usage for the same month.  This percentage 
varies based on the reduction goal and is determined by the following chart: 

Reduction Goal Excessive Use Percentage 

20% 90% 

25% 85% 

30% 80% 

35% 75% 

40% 70% 

45% 65% 

50% 60% 

Example: If the reduction goal is 40%, excessive water use is monthly use that 
exceeds 70% of last year’s monthly use. 

c. Monthly water use less than 3,000 gallons will not be considered excessive. 

d. Commercial and industrial customers may contact the District to discuss the 
individual water needs required to maintain their business. 

e. Excessive water use is subject to the following special enforcement: 

i. First Violation. Payment of a $50 penalty and customer’s service will be 
restricted by a flow restriction device for 30 days. 

ii. Second Violation. Payment of a $100 penalty and customer’s water 
service will be restricted by a flow restriction device until the Board of 
Directors repeals the state of emergency or threat of emergency or 
shortage. 

iii. Third Violation. Payment of a $500 penalty and continued water service 



 

9-6 

restriction.  District may pursue misdemeanor charges pursuant to Water 
Code 71644, resulting in 30 days in jail, or a $600 fine, or both. 

9.04 Enforcement 

In addition to any and all lawful remedies, violations of this section shall result in the following penalties, 
unless special enforcement measures are otherwise specified: 

1. First Violation: 
Customer will receive a written warning from the District that a further violation will result in 
water restrictions and penalties. 

2. Second Violation: 
Customer’s water service will be restricted by a flow restriction device for 30 days. The 
device will be removed upon payment of the reconnection fee established in the District’s 
Schedule of Rates and Charges. 

3. Third Violation: 
Customer’s water service will be restricted by a flow restriction device until the Board of 
Directors repeals the state of emergency or threat of emergency or shortage and upon 
payment of the reconnection fee established in the District’s Schedule of Rates and 
Charges. 

9.05 Variances 

Variances may be granted from any of the above regulations by the General Manager upon application in 
writing stating the detailed circumstances meriting special consideration. Appeals of decisions by the 
General Manager may be taken to the Board of Directors. 

9.06 Low Water Use Plumbing Fixtures Required 

All applicants for new water service connections for new construction shall be required to furnish proof of 
installation in residential, commercial and/or industrial buildings, ultra-low flow toilets and shower heads 
per the latest low flow standards.  



 

10-1 

SECTION 10 - MISCELLANEOUS AND ENFORCEMENT 

10.01 Interpretation Authority 

The General Manager is authorized to make interpretations of this Water Code. 

10.02 Enforcement of this Code 

The General Manager, or his/her designee, are authorized by Government Code sections 53069.4 and 
61064 to cite violators of District Ordinances, including all provisions of this Water Code, and they shall 
perform the aforementioned task in a professional manner without malice or personal bias. 

10.03 Unlawful Acts 

The District will cause the prosecution of all violations of Sections 498, 624 and 625 of the Penal Code of 
the State of California and all Ordinances and Codes which make the interference with the orderly supply 
of water to the District users a crime. 

10.04 Penalty 

Any person or entity violating any of the provisions of this Water Code shall be deemed guilty of a 
misdemeanor and, upon conviction, shall be punishable by a fine of not more than five hundred dollars 
($500), or by imprisonment in the County Jail for not more than six (6) months, or by both such fine and 
imprisonment, including any court costs incurred. 

10.05 Appeals 

Any person or entity dissatisfied with an imposed condition or decision of the General Manager or other 
authorized District employee relating to any subject covered by this Water Code, may appeal to the 
District Board of Directors.  

All appeals shall be submitted in writing to the District within 30 days after the party has been made 
aware of the decision. The written appeal shall clearly state the following: 

1. Identity of the appellant and their interest in the decision. 

2. The decision or imposed condition being appealed. 

3. Specific reasons why the appellant believes the decision or conditions imposed were unjustified 
or unappropriated. 

4. A statement of appellant’s goal or desired outcome of proposed Board action regarding the 
appeal. 

10.06 Supersedes 

This Water Code shall supersede all prior Ordinances related to the District’s water system and water 
services and all said prior Ordinances are superseded by this Water Code. 

10.07 Severability 

If any provision of this Ordinance or the application to any person or circumstances is held invalid, the 
remainder of the Ordinance or the application of such provisions to other persons or other circumstances 
shall not be affected.



 

11-1 

SECTION 11 - PUBLICATION, EFFECTIVE DATE AND ADOPTION 

11.01 Publication 

A summary of this Ordinance shall be prepared.  

At least five (5) days prior to the meeting at which this Ordinance is scheduled to be adopted, the District 
shall:  

1. Publish the summary; and 

2. Post a certified copy of this Ordinance in the District Clerk’s office. 
 
Within fifteen (15) after the adoption of this Ordinance, the District shall:  

1. Publish the summary; and 

2. Post a certified copy of this Ordinance in the District Clerk’s office, along with the names of the 
Board members voting for and against this Ordinance, or otherwise voting. 

11.02 Effective Date 

This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after its adoption. 

11.03 Adoption 

This Ordinance was introduced on September 13, 2023. This Ordinance is hereby adopted as a Twain 
Harte Community Services District Ordinance at a public hearing held by the District Board of Directors on 
October 11, 2023, by the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSTAIN: 
ABSENT: 
 
 
 
ATTEST:          
  Kimberly Silva, District Board Secretary 
 
 
As District Board President, I approve the foregoing Ordinance this October 11, 2023: 
 
 
      
Eileen Mannix, District Board President 
 



 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT A - AMENDMENTS 



Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

Introduce Ordinance #32 – Adoption of the Twain Harte Community Services District Wastewater Ordinance 
(Wastewater Code). 
 

SUMMARY:  

In accordance with Strategic Plan Objective 5.14, the District is reviewing and updating (as necessary) its 
ordinances.  After reviewing the District’s existing Wastewater Ordinance (Ordinance #29), which was adopted 
in 2009, staff determined that it needed updates.  
 
The District’s Wastewater Ordinance establishes requirements for the District’s wastewater system, including 
but not limited to charges and fees, billing administration, service connections, facility extensions, discharge 
requirements, and private sewer facility maintenance. The proposed Wastewater Ordinance (Ordinance #32) 
updates the District’s Wastewater Ordinance (or Wastewater Code) to provide consistency with the 
administration provisions of the District’s Water Ordinance. It also aligns with Tuolumne Utilities District’s 
(TUD) Wastewater Ordinance since TUD conveys and treats all of the District’s wastewater. The updated 
Ordinance also provides regulations for accessory dwelling units, as discussed and directed by the Board at its 
special meeting on July 18, 2023. 
 
If the Board approves introduction of this Ordinance #32, it will be posted according to the requirements of 
the law and will be considered for adoption at a public hearing held during the October Board meeting. If 
adopted, Ordinance #32 will supersede all other wastewater-related ordinances. 
 
The Board’s Water/Sewer Committee thoroughly reviewed Ordinance #32 at its September meeting and 
recommends that the Board introduce the Ordinance.  
 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Ordinance #32 – Adoption of the Twain Harte Community Service District Wastewater Ordinance 
(Wastewater Code)  

ITEM #: 06B ITEM TYPE:    ☐ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☒ Both 
 

SUBJECT: 
Introduction of Ordinance #32 – Adoption of the Twain Harte Community Services District 
Wastewater Ordinance (Wastewater Code)   

 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☒ N/A    ☐ Advances Goal/Objective #’s: __5.14______ 



 

i 

TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES 

DISTRICT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WASTEWATER CODE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

ii 

TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT  

ORDINANCE NO. 32 

 

ADOPTION OF THE TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
WASTEWATER ORDINANCE (WASTEWATER CODE) 

 

The Twain Harte Community Services District Board of Directors, hereby ordains as follows: 

  



 

iii 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION 1 - PURPOSE AND DEFINITIONS ........................................................... 1-1 

1.01 SHORT TITLE .................................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.02 PURPOSE .......................................................................................................................................... 1-1 
1.03 DEFINITIONS ..................................................................................................................................... 1-1 

SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS AND PROHIBITIONS ............................. 2-1 

2.01 SERVICE SUBJECT TO REGULATIONS ................................................................................................. 2-1 
2.02 SERVICE INTERRUPTIONS .................................................................................................................. 2-1 
2.03 DISTRICT RESPONSIBILITY FOR FACILITIES ......................................................................................... 2-1 
2.04 DAMAGE TO OR BLOCKAGE OF DISTRICT FACILITIES........................................................................... 2-1 
2.05 TAMPERING WITH DISTRICT FACILITIES ............................................................................................... 2-1 
2.06 REQUESTS TO CHANGE DISTRICT FACILITIES ..................................................................................... 2-1 
2.07 PROHIBITIONS ON DISCHARGES ......................................................................................................... 2-2 
2.08 PROHIBITIONS ON STORM DRAINAGE AND GROUNDWATER ................................................................. 2-2 

2.08.1 INDIVIDUAL CONNECTIONS .................................................................................................. 2-2 
2.08.2 COMMUNITY SEWER CONNECTIONS .................................................................................... 2-2 

2.09 PROHIBITION ON UNPOLLUTED WATER .............................................................................................. 2-3 
2.10 LIMITATION ON RADIOACTIVE WASTES ............................................................................................... 2-3 
2.11 LIMITATION ON THE USE OF GARBAGE GRINDERS ............................................................................... 2-3 
2.12 LIMITATIONS ON POINT OF DISCHARGE ............................................................................................... 2-4 
2.13 HOLDING TANK WASTE ..................................................................................................................... 2-4 
2.14 OTHER LIMITATIONS ON WASTEWATER .............................................................................................. 2-4 
2.15 GREASE TRAP AND GREASE INTERCEPTORS ...................................................................................... 2-5 
2.16 LIMITATIONS ON FLOW ...................................................................................................................... 2-6 
2.17 BACKFLOW PREVENTION DEVICES REQUIRED .................................................................................... 2-7 
2.18 ACCESS ............................................................................................................................................ 2-7 
2.19 RESPONSIBILITY FOR LATERAL OR SERVICE LINE ............................................................................... 2-7 
2.20 DISCHARGE REPORTS ....................................................................................................................... 2-7 
2.21 MONITORING FACILITIES .................................................................................................................... 2-8 
2.22 INSPECTION AND SAMPLING ............................................................................................................... 2-8 
2.23 PRETREATMENT ................................................................................................................................ 2-8 
2.24 PROTECTION FROM ACCIDENTAL DISCHARGE ..................................................................................... 2-9 
2.25 SPECIAL AGREEMENTS...................................................................................................................... 2-9 
2.26 APPROVAL OF PLANS FOR SEWERAGE CONSTRUCTION ...................................................................... 2-9 
2.27 INSPECTION OF CONSTRUCTION ......................................................................................................... 2-9 
2.28 PLAN APPROVAL NOT TRANSFERABLE .............................................................................................. 2-9 
2.29 MANHOLE RECONSTRUCTION NOTIFICATION AND IMPROVEMENTS ..................................................... 2-10 

SECTION 3 - CLASSIFICATION OF USERS, CHARGES AND FEES ..................... 3-1 

3.01 CLASSIFICATION OF USERS ............................................................................................................... 3-1 
3.02 DETERMINATION OF WASTEWATER DEMAND FLOW BY USER CLASSIFICATION ..................................... 3-1 

3.02.1 NORMAL DETERMINATION ................................................................................................... 3-1 
3.02.2 UNIFORMITY OF DETERMINATION ......................................................................................... 3-1 

3.03 ESTABLISHMENT OF CHARGES AND FEES ........................................................................................... 3-1 
3.04 PROPERTY OWNER RESPONSIBILITY FOR CHARGES AND FEES ........................................................... 3-1 
3.05 BASIS OF REGULAR WASTEWATER CHARGES AND FEES .................................................................... 3-1 
3.06 CONNECTION FEES AND CAPACITY CHARGES .................................................................................... 3-2 

3.06.1 CAPACITY CHARGES FOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS ...................................................... 3-2 
3.07 MISCELLANEOUS FEES ...................................................................................................................... 3-2 
3.08 CHANGE OF USE ............................................................................................................................... 3-2 
3.09 TEMPORARY SUSPENSION OF REGULAR SEWER SERVICE CHARGES ................................................... 3-3 



 

iv 

SECTION 4 - BILLING AND ENFORCEMENT FOR NON-PAYMENT ..................... 4-1 

4.01 BILLING ............................................................................................................................................ 4-1 
4.02 BILLING FREQUENCY ......................................................................................................................... 4-1 
4.03 DELIVERY OF BILLS ........................................................................................................................... 4-1 
4.04 DIRECT BILLING OF TENANTS ............................................................................................................ 4-1 
4.05 PRORATED BILLS .............................................................................................................................. 4-1 
4.06 BILL PAYMENT .................................................................................................................................. 4-1 
4.07 DELINQUENT BILLS ........................................................................................................................... 4-2 

4.07.1 DELINQUENT DATE ............................................................................................................. 4-2 
4.07.2 PENALTIES ......................................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.07.3 DELINQUENT NOTICES ........................................................................................................ 4-2 
4.07.4 DISPUTED BILLS ................................................................................................................. 4-2 
4.07.5 PAYMENT TO AVOID FLOW RESTRICTION OR SHUTOFF ......................................................... 4-2 
4.07.6 FLOW RESTRICTION OR SHUTOFF FOR NON-PAYMENT ......................................................... 4-3 

4.08 ALTERNATIVE PAYMENT PLANS, FEE WAIVERS AND ACCOUNT CREDITS ............................................. 4-3 
4.09 UNPAID ACCOUNTS – PROPERTY LIEN ............................................................................................... 4-3 
4.10 UNPAID ACCOUNTS – COUNTY TAX ROLL .......................................................................................... 4-3 
4.11 COLLECTION BY LEGAL ACTION ......................................................................................................... 4-3 

SECTION 5 - SERVICE CONNECTIONS .................................................................. 5-1 

5.01 APPLICATION FOR SERVICE ............................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.02 NEW SERVICE CONDITIONS................................................................................................................ 5-1 
5.03 GUARANTEE OF APPLICANT ............................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.04 QUOTES FOR SERVICE ....................................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.05 SERVICE CONNECTION REQUIREMENTS .............................................................................................. 5-2 
5.06 SERVICE CONNECTION SIZE, LOCATION, AND INSTALLATION ............................................................... 5-2 
5.07 CUSTOMER DISCONNECTION OF SERVICE PROHIBITED ........................................................................ 5-2 

5.07.1 EXCEPTIONS FOR CERTAIN PROJECTS ................................................................................ 5-3 
5.07.2 EXCEPTIONS FOR ABANDONED CONNECTIONS ..................................................................... 5-3 

5.08 DISCONNECTION OF SERVICE BY DISTRICT ......................................................................................... 5-3 
5.09 UNAUTHORIZED SERVICE CONNECTIONS ............................................................................................ 5-3 
5.10 FORCED CONNECTIONS BY DISTRICT ................................................................................................. 5-4 

5.10.1 AUTHORIZATION ................................................................................................................. 5-4 
5.10.2 FORCED CONNECTION COSTS ON COUNTY TAX ROLLS ........................................................ 5-4 
5.10.3 ENFORCEMENT OF LIEN ...................................................................................................... 5-4 

SECTION 6 - EXTENSION OR IMPROVEMENT OF FACILITIES ............................ 6-1 

6.01 REQUIRED EXTENSION OR IMPROVEMENT OF FACILITIES ..................................................................... 6-1 
6.02 EXTENSION OR IMPROVEMENT APPLICATION ...................................................................................... 6-1 
6.03 PROJECT APPROVAL ......................................................................................................................... 6-1 
6.04 ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW CHARGE .................................................................................................... 6-1 
6.05 DESIGN, INSTALLATION AND OWNERSHIP OF FACILITY EXTENSIONS .................................................... 6-1 
6.06 SIZING OF FACILITIES ........................................................................................................................ 6-2 
6.07 LOCATION OF FACILITIES ................................................................................................................... 6-2 
6.08 LAND RIGHT SCHEDULE .................................................................................................................... 6-2 
6.09 PAYMENT OF COSTS .......................................................................................................................... 6-2 
6.10 INSPECTION AND NOTICE OF COMPLETION .......................................................................................... 6-3 
6.11 ACCEPTANCE OF FACILITIES .............................................................................................................. 6-3 
6.12 WARRANTY RESPONSIBILITIES ........................................................................................................... 6-3 
6.13 DOCUMENTATION OF PROJECT COSTS ............................................................................................... 6-3 
6.14 COSTS REIMBURSED BY THE DISTRICT ............................................................................................... 6-3 

SECTION 7 - WASTEWATER DISCHARGE PERMITS FOR CRITICAL USERS .... 7-1 

7.01 MANDATORY DISCHARGE PERMITS .................................................................................................... 7-1 



 

v 

7.02 PERMIT APPLICATION ........................................................................................................................ 7-1 
7.03 DURATION OF PERMITS...................................................................................................................... 7-1 
7.04 TRANSFER OF A PERMIT .................................................................................................................... 7-2 
7.05 CHANGES IN OPERATION OR DISCHARGE ........................................................................................... 7-2 
7.06 REVOCATION OF PERMIT ................................................................................................................... 7-2 
7.07 PERMIT FOR TEMPORARY SERVICE .................................................................................................... 7-2 

SECTION 8 - PRIVATE SEWER LATERALS AND FACILITIES .............................. 8-1 

8.01 INFLOW AND INFILTRATION FROM PRIVATE SEWER FACILITIES ............................................................ 8-1 
8.02 OWNER RESPONSIBILITY TO MAINTAIN AND REPAIR PRIVATE SEWER FACILITIES ................................. 8-1 
8.03 REMEDY OF POORLY MAINTAINED PRIVATE SEWER FACILITIES ........................................................... 8-1 

8.03.1 PROPERTY OWNER NOTIFICATION ....................................................................................... 8-1 
8.03.2 NOTIFICATION OF OTHER AUTHORITIES ............................................................................... 8-2 
8.03.3 REPAIRS PERFORMED BY DISTRICT ..................................................................................... 8-2 

8.04 DISTRICT PRIVATE SEWER FACILITIES TESTING PROGRAM ................................................................. 8-2 
8.04.1 INTENT ............................................................................................................................... 8-2 
8.04.2 SCOPE OF TESTING ............................................................................................................ 8-2 
8.04.3 SPECIAL EVENTS REQUIRING TESTING ................................................................................ 8-2 

8.05 DISTRICT PRIVATE SEWER FACILITIES TESTING PROCEDURES ............................................................ 8-3 
8.05.1 GENERAL ........................................................................................................................... 8-3 
8.05.2 TESTING ............................................................................................................................ 8-3 
8.05.3 REQUIREMENT FOR CLEANOUTS ON LATERALS .................................................................... 8-3 
8.05.4 INITIAL TESTING TIMELINES ................................................................................................. 8-3 
8.05.5 AIR TESTING PROCEDURES ................................................................................................ 8-4 
8.05.6 WATER TESTING PROCEDURES ........................................................................................... 8-4 

8.06 FAILED TESTS ................................................................................................................................... 8-4 
8.07 TIME LIMITS FOR COMPLETION OF REPAIRS AND RETESTING ............................................................... 8-4 
8.08 DISTRICT INSPECTION COSTS ............................................................................................................ 8-5 
8.09 WAIVER OF TESTING REQUIREMENTS ................................................................................................. 8-5 

SECTION 9 - DISCHARGE VIOLATIONS AND ENFORCEMENT ........................... 9-1 

9.01 PUBLIC NUISANCE ............................................................................................................................. 9-1 
9.02 EMPLOYEE AWARENESS OF DISCHARGE REQUIREMENTS ................................................................... 9-1 
9.03 ACCIDENTAL DISCHARGES ................................................................................................................ 9-1 
9.04 DISCHARGES AND OBSTRUCTIONS THAT DAMAGE DISTRICT FACILITIES .............................................. 9-1 
9.05 CEASE AND DESIST ORDERS ............................................................................................................. 9-1 
9.06 TIME SCHEDULES .............................................................................................................................. 9-2 
9.07 INJUNCTION ...................................................................................................................................... 9-2 
9.08 CIVIL DAMAGES AND PENALTIES ........................................................................................................ 9-2 
9.09 CRIMINAL PENALTIES ........................................................................................................................ 9-2 
9.10 FALSIFYING OF INFORMATION ............................................................................................................ 9-2 

SECTION 10 - MISCELLANEOUS ............................................................................ 10-1 

10.01 INTERPRETATION AUTHORITY .......................................................................................................... 10-1 
10.02 ENFORCEMENT OF THIS CODE .......................................................................................................... 10-1 
10.03 UNLAWFUL ACTS ............................................................................................................................ 10-1 
10.04 APPEALS ........................................................................................................................................ 10-1 
10.05 SUPERSEDES .................................................................................................................................. 10-1 
10.06 SEVERABILITY ................................................................................................................................. 10-1 

SECTION 11 - PUBLICATION, EFFECTIVE DATE AND ADOPTION ..................... 11-1 

11.01 PUBLICATION .................................................................................................................................. 11-1 
11.02 EFFECTIVE DATE ............................................................................................................................. 11-1 



 

vi 

11.03 ADOPTION....................................................................................................................................... 11-1 

EXHIBIT A – DEMAND FLOW BY USER CLASSIFICATION .................................. 11-1 

EXHIBIT B - AMENDMENTS ..................................................................................... 11-2 



 

1-1 

SECTION 1 - PURPOSE AND DEFINITIONS 

1.01 Short Title 

This Ordinance shall be known as the “Twain Harte Community Services District Wastewater 
Code” and may be cited as such.  

1.02 Purpose 

This Wastewater Code sets uniform requirements for discharges into the wastewater collection 
and treatment system of the Twain Harte Community Services District (hereinafter referred to as 
"District").  It enables the District to comply with administrative provisions of the Clean Water 
Grant Regulations, the water quality requirements set by the Regional Water Quality Control 
Board and applicable effluent limitations, national standards of performance, toxic and 
pretreatment effluent standards, and any other discharge criteria which are required or authorized 
by State or Federal law.  Its purpose is to derive the maximum public benefit by regulating the 
quality and quantity of wastewater discharged into those systems.  This Ordinance also provides 
for the setting of user charges and fees for the equitable distribution of cost of all users, and the 
issuance of permits to certain users. 

1.03 Definitions 

Unless otherwise defined herein, terms shall be as adopted in the latest edition of Standard 
Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, published by the American Public Health 
Association, the American Water Works Association, and the Water Pollution Control Federation.  
Waste constituents and characteristics shall be measured by Standard Methods unless expressly 
stated, or as established by Federal or State regulatory agency. 

Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) – An attached or detached residential dwelling unit that 
provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons and is located on a lot 
with a proposed or existing primary residence. It shall include permanent provisions for living, 
sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation on the same parcel as the single-family or multifamily 
dwelling is or will be situated. An accessory dwelling unit also includes the following: (A) An 
efficiency unit. [and] (B) A manufactured home, as defined in Section 18977 of the Health and 
Safety Code. For billing purposes, a dwelling unit on a parcel zoned for multi-family residential will 
only be considered an accessory dwelling unit after all other dwelling units allowed under the 
specific parcel zoning have been constructed. 

Application for Service - Written application requesting Twain Harte Community Services 
District service to a specific parcel of land, as indicated on a form provided by the District, 
together with such plans, specifications and fees as the District's Regulations shall, from 
time-to-time, require. 

Board - The Board of Directors of the Twain Harte Community Services District. 

Building Sewer - A sewer conveying wastewater from the premises of a user to a community 
sewer. 
 
Beneficial Uses - Uses of the waters of the State that may be protected against quality 
degradation, including but not necessarily limited to, domestic, municipal, agricultural and 
industrial supply, power generation, recreation, aesthetic enjoyment, navigation and the 
preservation and enhancement of fish, wildlife and other aquatic resources or specified by 
Federal or State law. 
 



 

1-2 

Certificate of Lien - Written certificate of an overdue balance owing to the District by any user, 
duly recorded with the Tuolumne County Recorder. 

Change of Use - When the primary water use changes from one classification to another, 
increases quantity, and/or adds multiple uses.  

Code – See Wastewater Code. 

Connection Fees - A charge imposed upon all applicants for service at the time service is sought 
from the District.  “Connection fee” is a general term that encompasses a variety of one-time 
charges imposed upon applicants for service.  A “connection fee” includes, but is not limited to, 
the fees charged to make the physical connection to the District’s system, lateral installation 
charges, new account administration fees, and capacity charges (which compensate the District 
for expenses in incurred in providing existing capacity or an increase in needed capacity). 

Community Sewer - A sewer owned or operated by the District, or a sewer owned or operated 
by another person or entity which is tributary to and discharges into an interceptor, or a treatment 
or disposal facility owned or operated by the District. 
 
Compatible Pollutant - Biochemical oxygen demand, suspended solids, PH and fecal coliform 
bacteria, the District's treatment works were designed to treat, and removes to a substantial 
degree. 
 
Contamination - An impairment of the quality of the waters of the State by waste to a degree 
which creates a hazard to the public health through poisoning or through the spread of disease.  
Contamination shall include any equivalent effect resulting from the disposal of wastewater, 
whether or not waters of the State are affected. 
 
Critical User - A user whose user classification is identified in the Standard Industrial 
Classifications (SIC) Manual in any of Division A, B, D, E, and I, and who (1) has a discharge flow 
of 50,000 gallons or more per average work day, or (2) has a discharge flow greater than 5 
percent (5%) of the flow in the District's wastewater treatment system, or (3) has in his wastes 
toxic pollutants in toxic amounts as defined in standards issued under Section 307(a) of the 
Federal Act. 
 
Customer – Any person, including without limitation a parcel or property owner, or tenant, 
supplied or entitled to be supplied with wastewater service by the District in accordance with 
established rules, regulations, rates and charges. 
 
Demand Flow - The quantity of wastewater volume discharge demand assured for purposes of 
this Ordinance, weighted for wastewater constituents and characteristics in excess of the typical 
average strength of domestic wastewater. 
 
Developer - Any person who enters into an agreement with the District for the construction of 
sewer facilities to be transferred to the District for the provision of sewer service to a project or 
parcel(s). 
 
Disconnection - A property line cleanout has been removed and the service lateral has been cut 
and capped; or other permanent method has been employed to ensure that sewer is not able to 
flow from the property into the District’s collection system.  All capacity, including capacity 
previously provided by Developers, associated with a disconnected service line shall be 
permanently forfeited upon disconnection and monthly service charges shall cease upon approval 
by the District. 
 
District - Twain Harte Community Services District, a California Special District organized under 
Sections 61000 et. seq. of the Government Code.  May also be referred to as THCSD. 



 

1-3 

 
 
Dwelling Unit – Any structure containing living, sleeping, cooking, and sanitation facilities. At a 
minimum, cooking facilities shall include a sink that is separate from the bathroom sink. See 
Residential Living Unit.  

Equivalent Single-Family Residence (ESFR) - The estimated potential demand of the typical 
residential user expressed in terms of the volume of wastewater discharge, usually average 
monthly flow in gallons per month.  
 
Federal Act - The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, PL 92-500, and any amendments thereto; 
as well as any guidelines, limitations, and standards promulgated by the Environmental 
Protection Agency pursuant to the Act. 
 
Finance Officer – The Finance Officer of the Twain Harte Community Services District. 

Flow Restriction – A device placed on a customer’s meter by the District to restrict flow through 
the customer’s water service as a result of non-payment. The device shall significantly restrict 
flow, but provide enough water for basic human needs – drinking, cooking and sanitation.  

Guest Living Unit – Any accessory living area occupied by temporary guests, without 
compensation of any kind as a condition of occupancy, and used as sleeping quarters only.  A 
Guest Living Unit may have sleeping and sanitation facilities, but no living, cooking or 
housekeeping facilities. A Guest Living Unit includes either: (1) a structure detached from a 
primary residential living unit or (2) an independent living area attached to a primary residential 
living unit that has its own separate entrance.  

Holding Tank Waste - Any waste from Holding tanks such as vessels, chemical toilets, campers, 
trailers, septic tanks, grease traps or grease interceptors, and vacuum pump tank trucks. 
 
Incompatible Pollutant - Any pollutant which is not a compatible pollutant as defined in this 
section.  The pretreatment standard for incompatible pollutants introduced into a District 
treatment works by a major contributing industry not subject to Section 307© of the Federal Act 
shall be, for sources within the corresponding industrial or commercial category, that established 
by a promulgated effluent limitations guideline defining best practicable control technology 
currently available pursuant to Section 301(b) and 304(b) of the Federal Act.  Provided, that if the 
District's treatment works which receives the pollutants is committed, to remove a specified 
percentage of any incompatible pollutant, the pretreatment standard applicable to users of such 
treatment works shall be correspondingly reduced for that pollutant; and provided, further, that 
even when the effluent limitations guideline for each industry category is promulgated, a separate 
provision will be proposed concerning the application of such guidelines to pretreatment. 
 
Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit – A unit that is no more than 500 square feet in size and 
contained entirely within a single family residence. A junior accessory dwelling unit may include 
separate sanitation facilities or may share sanitation facilities with the existing structure. 

Lateral Inspection - Inspection carried out by District staff of the segment of service lateral 
originating at the connection to the sewer main through the property line cleanout and up to the 
connection to the customer’s private sewer service lateral. 
 
Lateral: Private Lateral – Private lateral is the portion of the sewer pipeline upstream of a 
District-approved sewer cleanout or manhole that is located near the property line, provided one 
exists and is accessible to the District, to the points of service within the property or properties.  
The private lateral is owned and maintained by the property owner.  If no District-approved 
cleanout or manhole exists near the property line then the entire lateral from the points of service 
to the lateral connection at the public sewer main is considered a private lateral.  



 

1-4 

 
Lateral: Public Lateral – Public lateral is the portion of the sewer pipeline downstream of a 
District-approved sewer cleanout or manhole that is located near the property line, provided one 
exists and is accessible to the District, to the lateral connection at the public sewer main.  The 
public lateral is owned and maintained by the District. If no District-approved cleanout or manhole 
exists near the property line then no portion of the lateral is considered public. 
 
Lateral Connection -The physical point in which the public or private sewer lateral meets and 
connects to the public sewer main.. 
 
Manager - The General Manager of the District, or his designated representative. 
 
Mass Emission Rate - The weight of material discharged to the sewer system during a given 
time interval.  Unless otherwise specified, the mass emission rate shall mean pounds per day of a 
particular constituent or combination of constituents. 
 
Mobile Home Park - A user which has a proper license and permit issued by Tuolumne County 
or as regulated by the State of California, to lease or rent mobile homes and which is defined in 
Tuolumne County Code, Title 17 Section 17.04.520. 
 
Multi-Family Residential - A parcel with a sewer service that serves a structure with more than 
one attached dwelling unit, such as duplexes, triplexes, apartments and accessory dwelling units. 
For the purposes of billing, detached accessory dwelling units will also be considered a multi-
family residential unit. 

Nuisance - Anything which is injurious to health, or is indecent or offensive to the senses, or an 
obstruction to the free use of property, so as to interfere with the comfort or enjoyment of life or 
property.  A public nuisance is one which affects at the same time an entire community or 
neighborhood or any considerable number of persons, although the extent of the annoyance or 
damage inflicted upon individuals may be unequal. 
 
Parcel - A piece of real property designated by the County of Tuolumne by a single assessor's 
parcel number, or other identifying information. 
 
Parcel Owner - The person or persons whose name or names appear on the Tuolumne County 
Tax Assessor’s latest equalized assessment roll as the owner of a parcel that is receiving utility 
service. The parcel owner is responsible for the payment of all rates, charges, and fees, including 
penalties thereon regarding such furnished services. 
 
Permit - Means a written permit issued by the Manager or his authorized representative. 
 
Person - Any individual, partnership, firm, association, corporation, or public agency, including 
the State of California and the United States of America. 
 
Pollution - An alteration of the quality of the waters of the State by waste to a degree which 
unreasonably affects such waters for beneficial use or facilities which serve such beneficial users.  
Pollution may include contamination. 
 
Premises - A parcel of real estate, including any improvements thereon, which is determined by 
the District to be a single user for purpose of receiving, using, and paying for service. 
 
Property Owner – See Parcel Owner. 
 
Residential Living Unit – Any structure containing living, sleeping, cooking, and sanitation 
facilities. At a minimum, cooking facilities shall include a sink that is separate from the bathroom 
sink. See Dwelling Unit. 



 

1-5 

Shall and Will - As used in this document shall both mean a mandatory or obligatory act or 
requirement. 
 
Single Family Residence – The primary residential dwelling unit on a parcel. For billing 
purposes, all separate/detached dwelling units on a parcel will be billed as separate single family 
residential units, unless the dwelling unit is classified as an accessory dwelling unit. 

Tenant – A person who occupies land or property rented from a landlord, including without 
limitation a parcel or property owner.  See Customer. 
 
THCSD – See District. 
 
Unimproved Property - Refers to parcels of land upon which no structure requiring wastewater 
service has heretofore been placed or presently exists. 

Unpolluted Water - Water containing no constituents which would render such water 
unacceptable to the agency having jurisdiction thereof for disposal to storm or natural drainages 
or directly to surface water. 
 
User - Any person that discharges, causes or permits the discharge of wastewater into a 
community sewer. 
 
User Classification - A classification of user based on the type of activity conducted on the 
premises. 
 
Waste - Includes sewage and any and all other waste substances, liquid, solid, gaseous, or 
radioactive, associated with human habitation, of human or animal origin, or from any producing, 
manufacturing, or processing operation. 
 
Wastewater - Waste and water, whether treated or untreated, discharged into or permitted to 
enter a community sewer. Also referred to as “sewer”. 
 
Wastewater Constituents and Characteristics - The individual chemical, physical, 
bacteriological and radiological parameters, including volume and flow rate and such other 
parameters that serve to define, classify or measure the contents, quality, quantity and strength of 
wastewater. 
 
Wastewater Code – The entirety of this Ordinance, which establishes requirements for design, 
methods of construction, operation and maintenance of both public and private water supply, 
storage and distribution facilities and water service connections served by the District’s water 
system.  

Wastewater Service – Water or water infrastructure that is provided, including but not limited to, 
residential, non-residential, agricultural, commercial and industrial customers. Also referred to as 
“sewer service”. 

Water of the State - Any water, surface or underground, including saline waters within the 
boundaries of the State. 
 
 



 

2-1 

SECTION 2 - GENERAL REGULATIONS AND PROHIBITIONS 

2.01 Service Subject to Regulations 

Wastewater service will be provided to properties within the Twain Harte Community Services 
District boundary in accordance with this Code, adopted and amended from time to time by the 
Board of Directors. By applying for or receiving wastewater service from the District, each user 
covenants and agrees to be bound by and to comply with all regulations of this Code.  

2.02 Service Interruptions 

The District reserves the right at any and all times to shut off wastewater delivery for the purpose 
of maintenance, making repairs, or alterations to the system.  Reasonable effort will be made 
when feasible to give advance notice of interruption of service to all wastewater users affected. 
The District shall not be liable for any loss or damage caused by accident, act of God, fire, strikes, 
riots, war or any other cause beyond the District’s control. 

2.03 District Responsibility for Facilities 

Operation, maintenance and replacement of the District-owned Wastewater System shall be 
under the exclusive control of the District under the direction of the General Manager. The 
District's ownership of and responsibility for operation and maintenance of Wastewater System 
facilities shall end at the connection of the property owner’s service connection lateral to the 
public sewer main, unless provided otherwise in this Wastewater Code.  

2.04 Damage to or Blockage of District Facilities 

The user shall be responsible to pay the District for costs of repairing or replacing any District 
facilities damaged as a result of construction or other work or activities on the user's property. 

The owner of the property served by the District's sanitary sewer system shall be responsible and 
liable for all costs involved in the repair of all damages caused by the owner or the owner’s 
tenant, occupant, customer, or agent, to the District's sanitary sewer system facilities, including 
but not limited to sewer obstructions, wherever located, and including any costs incurred by the 
District resulting from such damage or repairing the same.  

2.05 Tampering with District Facilities 

No person other than those designated and authorized by the District, shall at any time in any 
manner operate, interfere with, or tamper with the District’s property or Wastewater System.   

The cost of repairing any damage resulting from tampering with District Facilities will be billed to 
the responsible party and shall include, without limitation, the cost of labor, materials and 
equipment. Any tampering qualifying as a misdemeanor under the California Penal Code shall be 
referred to the District Attorney for prosecution. 

2.06 Requests to Change District Facilities 

Customers may request that the District make changes to its facilities (i.e. relocation of service 
lateral connection for customer convenience).  If the District deems that the requested changes 
are suitable for continued service and do not add an undue burden to the District’s operations, the 
District may make such changes. If changes are approved, the customer is required to make a 
payment sufficient to cover the District’s cost of work, as determined by the District, prior to the 
performance of work. 



 

2-2 

2.07 Prohibitions on Discharges 

No person shall discharge to a community sewer or District treatment facilities, wastes which 
cause, threaten to cause, or are capable of causing either alone or by interaction with other 
substances: 
 

A fire or explosion; 
 
Obstruction of flow in a sewer or injury of the system or damage to the wastewater 
collection, treatment or disposal facilities; 
 
Danger to life or safety of personnel; 
 
A nuisance, or prevention of the effective maintenance or operation of the sewer system, 
through having a strong, unpleasant odor; 
 
Air pollution by the release of toxic or malodorous gases or malodorous gas-producing 
substances; 
 
Interference with the wastewater treatment process; 
 
The District's effluent or any other product of the treatment process, residues, sludges, or 
scums, to be unsuitable for reclamation and reuse, or to interfere with the reclamation 
process; 
 
A detrimental environmental impact or a nuisance in the waters of the State or a condition 
unacceptable to any public agency having regulatory jurisdiction over the District; 
 
Discoloration or any other condition in the quality of the District's treatment works effluent 
in such a manner that receiving water quality requirements established by law cannot be 
met; 
 
Conditions at or near the District's treatment works which violate any statute or any rule, 
regulation, or ordinance of any public agency of State or Federal regulatory body; 
 
Quantities or rates of flow which overload the District's collection or treatment facilities or 
cause excessive District collection or treatment costs, or which use a disproportionate 
share of the District facilities. 

2.08 Prohibitions on Storm Drainage and Groundwater 

2.08.1 Individual Connections 

Storm water, groundwater, rainwater, street drainage, subsurface drainage or yard drainage shall 
not be discharged through direct or indirect connections to a community sewer unless a permit is 
issued by the District.  The District may approve the discharge of such water only when no 
reasonable alternative method of disposal is available. 

If a permit is granted for the discharge of such water into a community sewer, the user shall pay 
the applicable service connection fees and user charges and fees and meet such other conditions 
as required by the District. 

2.08.2 Community Sewer Connections 

Whenever, in the District's opinion, a community sewer connection is discharging quantities of 
effluent significantly in excess of the amounts that should be generated from the services within 



 

2-3 

the community sewer system, whether from storm water, groundwater, rainwater, street drainage, 
subsurface drainage, area drainage or other causes, then such excessive drainage shall be 
remedied, controlled and eliminated by the community sewer entity upon demand of the District, 
and for that purpose, the District may take any steps reasonably designed in its opinion to 
remedy, control and eliminate such excess effluent discharge into District facilities, including but 
not limited to: 

1. Imposition of a surcharge, including progressive surcharges, on such excessive 
discharge; 

2. Requiring the entity to conduct an infiltration/inflow analysis or other study to determine 
the causes, and to adopt and implement a plan to remedy or eliminate such excess 
discharge; 

3. Termination of service. 

2.09 Prohibition on Unpolluted Water 

Unpolluted water, including, but not limited to cooling water, process water or blow-down from 
cooling towers or evaporative coolers will not be discharged through direct or indirect connection 
to a community sewer unless a permit is issued by the District.  The District may approve the 
discharge of such water only when no reasonable alternative method of disposal is available.  
 
If a permit is granted for the discharge of such water into a community sewer, the user shall pay 
the applicable service connection fees and user charges and fees and shall meet such other 
conditions as required by the District. 

2.10 Limitation on Radioactive Wastes 

No person shall discharge or cause to be discharged, any radioactive waste into a community 
sewer, except; 

1. When the person is authorized to use radioactive materials by the State Department of 
Health or other governmental agency. 

2. When the waste is discharged in strict conformity with current California Radiation 
Control Regulations, and the Atomic Energy Commission regulations and 
recommendations for safe disposal; and 

3. When the person is in compliance with all rules and regulations of all other applicable 
regulatory agencies. 

4. When the person is undergoing medical procedures, treatments, or therapies.  

2.11 Limitation on the Use of Garbage Grinders 

Waste from garbage grinders shall not be discharged into a community sewer except: 

1. Waste generated in preparation of food normally consumed on the premises; or 

2. Where the user has obtained a permit for that specific use from the District and agrees to 
undertake whatever self-monitoring is required to enable the District to equitably 
determine the user charges based on the Wastewater Constituents.   

Such grinders must shred the waste to a degree that all particles will be carried freely under 
normal flow conditions prevailing in the community sewer.  Garbage grinders shall not be used for 
grinding plastic, paper products, inert materials, or garden refuse. 



 

2-4 

2.12 Limitations on Point of Discharge 

No person shall discharge any substances directly into a manhole or other opening in a 
community sewer other than through an approved building sewer, unless upon written application 
by the user and payment of the applicable user charges and fees, the District issues a permit for 
such direct discharges. 

2.13 Holding Tank Waste 

A user proposing to discharge holding tank waste into a community sewer must secure a permit.  
Unless allowed by the District under the terms and conditions of the permit, a separate permit 
must be secured for each separate discharge.  This permit will state the specific location of 
discharge, the time of day the discharge is to occur, the volume of the discharge and the 
wastewater constituents and characteristics.  If a permit is granted for discharge of such waste 
into a community sewer, the user shall pay the applicable service connection fees and user 
charges and fees and shall meet such other conditions as required by the District. 

2.14 Other Limitations on Wastewater 

Users shall comply with the following limitations: 

1. No person shall discharge into a sewer wastewater containing in excess of: 
  0.1 mg/L arsenic 
  0.2 mg/L cadmium 
  5.6 mg/L copper 
  1.0 mg/L cyanide 
  1.0 mg/L lead 
  0.01 mg/L mercury 
  1.0 mg/L nickel 
  0.2 mg/L silver 
  0.5 mg/L total chromium 
  3.0 mg/L zinc 
 
Groundwater remediation projects: 

1.0 mg/L Benzene, Toluene, Ethyl benzene, Xylene (BTEX) 
10.0 mg/L Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (TPH) 

2. No person shall discharge into a sewer any wastewater: 

a. Having a temperature higher than 150 degrees F (65 degrees C.) 

b. Containing more than 300 mg/L of oil or grease of animal or vegetable origin. 

c. Containing more than 100 mg/L of oil or grease of mineral or petroleum origin. 

d. Having a pH lower than 6.0. 

e. Containing in excess of 0.02 mg/L total identifiable chlorinated hydrocarbons. 

f. Containing an excess of 1.0 mg/L phenolic compounds. 

3. No person shall discharge or cause to be discharged to any public sewer which directly 
or indirectly connects to the District sewer system any toxic or other wastes if in the 
opinion of the Manager such wastes may have an adverse or harmful effect on service 
maintenance personnel, wastewater treatment plant personnel or equipment, treatment 
plant effluent quality, public or private property or may otherwise endanger the public, the 
environment, or create a public nuisance. 



 

2-5 

4. Effluent limitation promulgated by the Federal Act shall apply in any instance where they 
are more stringent than those in this Ordinance.  Under section 307(b) of the Act, Federal 
pretreatment standards are designed to achieve two purposes:  (1) to protect the 
operation of publicly owned treatment works, and (2) to prevent the discharge of 
pollutants which pass through such works inadequately treated.  Users in commercial 
and industrial categories subject to effluent guidelines of the Act, which are discharging 
incompatible pollutants to publicly owned treatment works, are required to adopt best 
practicable control technology currently available, as defined by the Administrator.  
Where the District treatment works was designed to and does achieve substantial 
removal of pollutants other than the four pollutants listed in the definition for compatible 
pollutants, it is not appropriate to require the commercial or industrial user to achieve best 
practicable control technology currently available, since this would lead to an 
uneconomical duplication of treatment facilities.  While the term "substantial removal" is 
not subject to precise definition, it generally contemplates removals in the order of 80 
percent (80%) or greater.  Minor incidental removals in the order of 10 to 30 percent 
(10-30%) are not considered "substantial".  For some industrial categories it may be 
necessary to define pretreatment guidelines for problems that may arise as a result of the 
discharge into publicly owned treatment works.  However, any adjustment required for 
particular categories should be considered in connection with the District's requirements, 
rather than in the national pretreatment standards.  Limitations on wastewater strength in 
this Ordinance may be supplemented with more stringent limitations: 

a. If the District or the district that treats its wastewater determines that the 
limitations in this section may not be sufficient to protect the operation of the 
District's treatment works; or 

b. If the District or the district that treats its wastewater determines that the 
limitations in this section may not be sufficient to enable the District's treatment 
works to comply with water quality standards or effluent limitations specified in 
the Waste Discharge Requirements specified by the California Regional Water 
Quality Control Board for the District. 

2.15 Grease Trap and Grease Interceptors 

Requirements for grease traps and grease interceptors are as follows: 

1. Any type of business or other establishment such as, but not limited to, restaurants, 
bakeries, donut shops, takeout or drive-in eating establishments, ice cream parlors, 
hospitals, hotels, markets, or commercial kitchens in schools, churches, recreation or 
reception halls, etc., where any grease or other objectionable materials may be 
discharged into a public sewer main or disposal system, shall have a "gravity grease 
interceptor" or a "hydromechanical grease interceptor", herein referred to generally as 
“interceptor”, unless waived by the District Manager upon evidence that an interceptor is 
not required, which determination shall be made at the sole discretion of the District.. Any 
modification to operations upon which a waiver was granted may require installation of a 
grease interceptor. 

2. Any type of business or facility such as, but not limited to, car washes, quick lubes, and 
automotive repair shops, where any grease of mineral or petroleum origin is generated 
and which may be discharged into a public sewer main or disposal system, shall have a 
“oil liquid interceptor”, herein referred to generally as “interceptor”, unless waived by the 
District Manager upon evidence that an interceptor is not required, which determination 
shall be made at the sole discretion of the District. Any modification to operations upon 
which a waiver was granted may require installation of a grease interceptor 

3. Interceptors shall be sized and constructed in accordance with District standard 



 

2-6 

specifications and the latest edition of the District’s Fats, Oils and Grease Control 
Program.  All designs shall be submitted for approval by the District Manager prior to 
installation. 

4. Each interceptor shall be so installed and connected in a location that is easily accessible 
for inspection at all times and to provide for cleaning and removal of the intercepted 
grease.  A gravity grease interceptor may not be installed in any part of a building where 
food is handled.  Locations of interceptors shall meet the latest edition of the California 
Plumbing Code and the approval of the District Manager. 

5. Each business establishment for which an interceptor is required shall have an 
interceptor, which shall serve only that business establishment. 

6. Buildings remodeled for use requiring interceptors shall be subject to these regulations. 

7. Waste discharge from fixtures and equipment in the above-mentioned types of 
establishments which may contain grease or other objectionable materials, including, but 
not limited to, scullery sinks, pot and pan sinks, dishwashers, food waste disposals, soup 
kettles, etc., and floor drains shall not drain through the interceptor without prior approval 
by the District Manager.  Toilets, urinals, and other fixtures containing fecal material may 
not flow through the interceptor. 

8. The interceptors shall be maintained in efficient operating condition by periodic removal 
of the accumulated grease.  No such collected grease shall be emptied or discharged 
into any drainage piping or public or private sewer.  Such materials shall not be disposed 
of at the District’s Regional Wastewater Treatment Plant. 

9. Abandoned grease interceptors shall be emptied and filled as provided for in the latest 
edition of the California Plumbing Code and in accordance with the requirements of the 
Tuolumne County Environmental Health Department 

10. The cover or lid for interceptors shall be designed for the loads imposed on the structure 
as required by the District Manager.  The cover shall be gas-tight on all interceptors and 
the waste shall enter the interceptor through the inlet pipe only.  The use of proper vent 
per the most recent edition of the California Plumbing Code shall be required. 

11. Interceptors shall be installed in such a manner as to prevent drainage from outside the 
intended area of use. 

12. If, upon inspection by the District, an interceptor is found to be absent or ineffective as 
solely determined by the District Manager, the owner/user shall be required to make 
immediate repairs or corrections within thirty (30) days after receiving written notification 
of deficiency from the District.  If the interceptor requires pumping and servicing, as 
determined by the inspector, the owner/user shall be required to have the interceptor 
pumped by a licensed hauler within ten days after receiving notification by the inspector.  
Failure to make such repairs or corrections shall result in disconnection from the public 
sewer, and if the District supplies water service to the premises, such water service shall 
be shut off. 

13. The owner/user shall keep records of interceptor cleaning, maintenance, and grease 
removal and report on such maintenance to the District in the format and at the frequency 
required by the District Manager.  The District Manager may require the owner/user to 
provide results of periodic measurements of its discharge which is to include chemical 
analysis of fats, oils and grease content. 

2.16 Limitations on Flow 



 

2-7 

When in the opinion of the District, the quantity of wastewater discharged to the collection 
facilities are in any way detrimental to said facilities or are in excess of the capacity of that 
system, the District may require the implementation of flow limiting devices by individual users.  
The flow limiting devices shall be of a type approved by the District and shall be installed on those 
fixtures designated by the District and at the user's expense.  User charges may then be adjusted 
as provided for in Chapter 4 of this Ordinance. 

All applicants for new sewer service connections may be required to furnish proof of installation in 
residential, commercial and/or industrial buildings, ultra-low flow toilets with a maximum tank size 
or flush capacity and shower heads maximum flow rates as determined by California law 

2.17 Backflow Prevention Devices Required 

The District requires that a backflow prevention device be installed, operated, maintained and 
replaced at the sole expense of the parcel owner where wastewater from the public sewer may 
back up into the user's building sewer.  Such backflow prevention device shall be installed on the 
property of the user and become part of the user's private sewer lateral.  Protection of property 
from damage caused by wastewater backup from the public sewer is the sole responsibility of the 
user.  Failure of the District to notify the user of any known or unknown hazards which may result 
from the user's connection to the public sewer and/or failure of the District to require the 
installation of such backflow prevention device shall not relieve the user of this sole responsibility.  
The District shall not be responsible for nor shall it compensate for damages resulting from any 
such backup of wastewater. 

2.18 Access 

District personnel shall have a right of access to any premises the sewage discharge from which 
reaches the District's sewer system, to determine whether there is compliance or non-compliance 
with this Ordinance. District personnel shall further have a right of access to go upon any 
premises on which a sewer line is located that is serving more than one parcel or building for the 
purpose of inspection of the sewer line and to shut off, terminate, repair or reconnect sewer 
service, for any other purpose related to the operation of the sewer system, including the 
inspections relating to grease interceptors.  All Critical Users will be required to install an 
inspection/sampling chamber, the type and location of which will be determined by the District. 

2.19 Responsibility for Lateral or Service Line 

The property owner shall be responsible for maintenance and repair of the sewer lateral from the 
building to its interconnection with the District’s main. If the homeowner installs a District-
approved sewer cleanout at the property line adjacent to a public right-of-way, and the cleanout is 
accessible to the District’s satisfaction, The District will maintain the portion of the lateral 
downstream of the cleanout in the public right-of-way. District approval of a cleanout will require 
District inspection of both the cleanout and portion of lateral within the public right of way. If the 
portion of lateral within the public right of way is not in an acceptable condition in the opinion of 
the District, then the customer may be required to repair or replace the lateral within the public 
right-of-way before the District will assume maintenance. All such approvals shall be in writing. 

All new construction requires installation of a District-approved cleanout at the property line 
adjacent to the public right-of-way in a location accessible to the District’s satisfaction. 

In no case will the District maintain sewer laterals on private property unless the District 
specifically agrees under special circumstances, such as where the lateral serves more than one 
parcel and an easement is granted to and accepted by the District. 

2.20 Discharge Reports 



 

2-8 

The District may require that any person discharging or proposing to discharge wastewater into a 
community sewer file a periodic discharge report.  The District may require that the discharge 
report include, but not be limited to, nature of process, volume, rates of flow, mass emission rate, 
production quantities, hours of operation, number of employees, or other information which 
relates to the generation of waste, including wastewater constituents and characteristics in the 
wastewater discharge.  The District may also require that such reports include the chemical 
constituents and quantity of liquid or gaseous materials stored on site, even though they may not 
normally be discharged.  In addition to discharge reports, the District may require information in 
the form of Wastewater Discharge Permit applications and self-monitoring reports. 

2.21 Monitoring Facilities 

The District may require any user to construct, at his own expense, monitoring facilities to allow 
inspection, sampling and flow measurements of the building sewer or internal drainage systems, 
including grease traps and grease interceptors, and may also require sampling or metering 
equipment to be provided, installed, and operated at the user's expense.  The monitoring facility 
should normally be situated on the user's premises, but the District may, when such a location 
would be impractical or cause undue hardship on the user, allow the facility to be constructed in 
the public street or sidewalk area under an encroachment permit of the governing agency and 
located so that it will not be obstructed by landscaping or parked vehicles. 
 
If the monitoring facility is inside the user's fence, there shall be accommodations to allow access 
for District personnel, such as a gate secured with a District lock.  There shall be ample room in 
or near such sampling facility to allow accurate sampling and composing of samples for analysis.  
The manhole or other facility, and the sampling and measuring equipment shall be maintained at 
all times in a safe and proper operating condition at the expense of the user. 
 
Whether constructed on public or private property, the sampling and monitoring facilities shall be 
provided in accordance with the District requirements and all applicable local agency construction 
standards and specifications.  Construction shall be completed within ninety (90) days following 
written notification by the District, unless a time extension is otherwise granted by the District. 

2.22 Inspection and Sampling 

The District may inspect the facilities of any user to ascertain whether any purposes of this 
Ordinance are being met and all requirements are being complied with.  Persons or occupants of 
premises where wastewater is created or discharged shall allow the District or its representative 
ready access at all reasonable times to all parts of the premises for the purpose of inspection or 
sampling or in the performance of any of their duties.  The District shall have the right to set up on 
the user's property such devices as are necessary to conduct sampling or metering operations.  
Where a user has security measures in force which would require proper identification and 
clearance before entry into their premises, the user shall make necessary arrangements with their 
security guards, so that upon presentation of suitable identification, personnel from the District will 
be permitted to enter without delay for the purpose of performing their specific responsibilities. 

2.23 Pretreatment 

Users shall make wastewater acceptable under the limitations established herein before 
discharging to any community sewer.  Any facilities required to pretreat wastewater to a level 
acceptable to the District shall be provided and maintained at the user's expense.  Detailed plans 
showing the pretreatment facilities and operating procedures shall be submitted to the District for 
review, and shall be acceptable to the District before construction of the facility.  The review of 
such plans and operating procedures will in no way relieve the user from the responsibility of 
modifying the facility as necessary to produce an effluent acceptable to the District under the 
provisions of this Ordinance.  Any subsequent changes in the pretreatment facilities or method of 
operation shall be reported to and must be acceptable to the District. 



 

2-9 

2.24 Protection from Accidental Discharge 

Each user shall provide protection from accidental discharge of prohibited materials or other 
wastes regulated by this Ordinance.  Such facilities shall be provided and maintained at the 
user's expense.  Detailed plans showing facilities and operating procedures to provide this 
protection shall be submitted to the District for review, and shall be acceptable to the District 
before construction of the facility. 
 
The review of such plans and operating procedures will in no way relieve the user from the 
responsibility of modifying the facility as necessary to provide the protection necessary to meet 
the requirements of this Ordinance. 

2.25 Special Agreements 

Special agreements and arrangements between the District and any persons or agencies may be 
established when in the option of the District unusual or extraordinary circumstances compel 
special terms and conditions. 

2.26 Approval of Plans for Sewerage Construction 

No person, other than employees of the District or persons contracting to do work for the District, 
shall construct or cause to be constructed, or alter or cause to be altered, any public sewer, 
lateral sewer, house connection or industrial connection, sewage pumping plant, pollution control 
plant, grease interceptor, or other sewerage facility within the District where existing or proposed 
wastewater flows will discharge directly or indirectly to facilities of the District without first 
obtaining approval of sewerage construction plans from the District. 

The applicant shall submit to the District for approval, construction plans and such specifications 
and other details as required to describe fully the proposed sewerage facility.  The plans shall 
have been prepared under the supervision of and shall be signed by an engineer of suitable 
training registered in the State of California. 
 
Plans for sewerage construction shall not be approved by the District for any facility which will 
convey industrial wastewater until the District has determined if a Wastewater Discharge Permit is 
required for the facility. 
 
Plans for sewerage construction shall meet all design requirements of the District. 
 
An approval of plans for sewerage construction shall expire one year after date of approval 
unless construction has been initiated. 

2.27 Inspection of Construction 

All sewer construction, including on-site grease interceptor facilities, shall be inspected by 
personnel of the District during construction.  In making a connection to a trunk sewer, no 
physical alterations of the District's facilities shall commence until an inspector is present. 
 
Sewerage facilities which will be connected to a District sewer, will be inspected routinely by the 
District during construction.  Upon completion of construction and prior to removal of the 
downstream bulkhead and upon receiving 48-hour notice, the District will inspect the work to 
determine if it has been constructed in a satisfactory manner and to determine if all facilities are 
cleaned of construction debris that could be flushed into the District's sewers.  

2.28 Plan Approval Not Transferable 



 

2-10 

Approval of plans for sewerage construction and connections to trunk sewers is not transferable 
from one person to another person or from one location to another location without written 
consent of the District. 

2.29 Manhole Reconstruction Notification and Improvements 

Access to District manholes shall not be obstructed for a period longer than forty-eight (48) hours 
without written approval of the District.  Adjustments to District manholes shall be performed in 
accordance with established procedures of the District.  A designated person from the entity 
proposing to perform work necessitating the adjustment of manholes on District's sewers to a 
new grade shall be responsible for notifying the District in advance of the work at least forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to performing the work. 
 

  



 

3-1 

SECTION 3 -  CLASSIFICATION OF USERS, CHARGES AND FEES 

3.01 Classification of Users 

The District hereby establishes the user classifications attached hereto as Exhibit A, to which 
each user shall be assigned according to the principal activity conducted on the user's premises 
and the typical quantities of wastewater Demand Flow (volume discharge demand, constituents 
and characteristics). The purpose of such classification is to facilitate the regulation of wastewater 
discharges, provide an effective means of source control and to provide a basis for the fixing and 
levying of charges and fees for services on an equitable basis to all users.  All classifications not 
specifically listed in Exhibit A will be determined by the General Manager from the most similar 
classification listed or from usage records of a similar establishment. 

3.02 Determination of Wastewater Demand Flow by User Classification 

3.02.1 Normal Determination 

The District hereby determines the quantities of wastewater Demand Flow for each user 
classification in Exhibit A.  Demand Flow is an estimate of wastewater discharge volume for a 
typical user within a given user classification based on actual average winter water usage of 
users within each user classification. The estimate is determined by the District to be a 
reasonable and equitable determination within and between user classifications. For the purpose 
of setting charges, the District may apply a weighted factor to Demand Flows for specific user 
classifications to equitably account for quantities of wastewater constituents and characteristics 
attributable to that user classification in excess of the typical strength of domestic wastewater. If 
such factors are applied, they shall be noted in Exhibit A. 

3.02.2 Uniformity of Determination 

The demand flow measured in residential equivalents (Equivalent Single Family Residence or 
ESFR) for each user within a user classification is assumed for purposes of this Ordinance to be 
uniform.  Flow monitoring devices such as sewage meters are not a feasible, practical or 
acceptable means of determining demand flow for individual users. 

3.03 Establishment of Charges and Fees 

The District Board shall, by resolution, establish a schedule of charges and fees for wastewater 
service and new wastewater connections. Wastewater service charges and fees shall be set and 
established in accordance with law. The District may from time to time increase its charges and 
fees or adopt new charges and fees pursuant to applicable provisions of law. 

3.04 Property Owner Responsibility for Charges and Fees 

The Property Owner is responsible for the timely payment of all charges and fees related to 
wastewater service for his/her property. 

3.05 Basis of Regular Wastewater Charges and Fees 

The basis for the allocation of the cost of providing wastewater service shall be Demand Flow, 
per occurrence, per connection or other basis related to the nature of the service provided. 
Service charges shall be based on Demand Flows established in Exhibit A.  

Regular wastewater service charges provide for ongoing operation, maintenance, repair, and 
improvement of the District’s wastewater system. The District finds that the District’s wastewater 
system provides a benefit to all of its customers and all customers have a responsibility to pay 



 

3-2 

wastewater charges in order to maintain the wastewater system whether or not they discharge 
wastewater to the system. 

Guest living units will not be subject to regular wastewater charges beyond those attributed to the 
customer’s residential dwelling unit(s). 

3.06 Connection Fees and Capacity Charges 

Applicants for new service connections shall be required to pay all applicable connection fees and 
capacity charges related to user classification. Connection fees and capacity charges will be 
established by the District Board, by resolution, and specifically determined for each proposed 
connection by the General Manager or his/her designee.  Connection fees and capacity charges 
shall be paid prior to District’s approval of new service connection application. 

3.06.1 Capacity Charges for Accessory Dwelling Units  

Capacity charges will not be applied to accessory dwelling units that are less than 750 square 
feet.  Capacity charges for accessory dwelling units larger than 750 square feet shall be 
proportional to the capacity required to serve said unit. 

3.07 Miscellaneous Fees 

The District shall adopt, and amend as needed, a miscellaneous fee policy to establish 
reimbursement of miscellaneous sewer-related services provided for the direct benefit of a 
customer, agency or other party. Such services include, but are not limited to: additional billings, 
property transfers, account set-up, tenant account set-up, new service application, applications, 
appeals, service flow reduction/shutoff, door notice for service flow reduction/shutoff, after hours 
reinstatement of service or after hours call, monitoring service, and cleanout inspections. Some 
services provided to the customer may be billed based on actual costs incurred by the District. 

3.08 Change of Use 

Wastewater Users shall immediately notify the District in writing if the user makes any property 
changes or improvements that alters the user classification, type of water use, or the size, 
character or extent of private water facilities in a manner that would increase or decrease 
wastewater charges and fees. “Immediately” shall mean at the time a building permit is issued for 
altering the property or at the time the change of use actually commences (if no permit is issued). 

Examples of changes in use include, but are not limited to, the following changes:  

1. Improvements that change the classification of use (i.e. changing from general 
commercial to restaurant) or add a new classification of use to the existing use (i.e. 
adding commercial use to an existing residential use). 

2. Improvements that change property use, including, but not limited to, addition of dwelling 
units, parcel splits, additional buildings, additional commercial units, or other possible 
multiple use divisions. 

 
At the discretion of the General Manager, changes in use may require the submittal of an 
amended application for service. A change in use may require payment of additional capacity 
fees and/or additional or modified service connections. If the change requires an increase in 
service charges, said increase will be implemented on, or applied retroactively to, the date at 
which the change of use actually commences. If the change requires a decrease in service 
charges, said decrease will be implemented at the time the District receives and verifies 
notification. 



 

3-3 

Failure to report a change of use, when discovered by the District, may require payment equal to 
twice the avoided user charges in effect during the period of time since such unauthorized 
change of use was made and twice the additional connection fee in effect at the time of 
discovery. Properties found to have unauthorized changes of use may be disconnected or be 
subject to flow reduction until payment of said payments are paid.   

The General Manager, at his/her discretion, may reduce said penalties for changes of use based 
on the specific circumstances related to the change of use. 

3.09 Temporary Suspension of Regular Sewer Service Charges 

At the sole discretion of the General Manager, the District may allow a maximum six-month 
suspension of monthly service charges in the event that the customer requests services be shut 
off as a result of a catastrophic event that renders a dwelling unit uninhabitable (such as fire, 
etc.). Such suspensions will only be granted to customers who have continuously used and 
maintained their wastewater service in an active billing status for at least one year. 

 

 



 

4-1 

SECTION 4 -  BILLING AND ENFORCEMENT FOR NON-PAYMENT 

4.01 Billing 

Charges for wastewater service will be billed to customers who: 

1. Receive wastewater service from the District; or 

2. Have capacity allocated to the property, regardless of whether a service lateral has been 
installed. 

A customer account will be billed whether or not the property is vacant, or wastewater is being 
discharged.  No credit or discount will be allowed or approved for any vacant properties 
regardless of the reason for the vacancy.  

4.02 Billing Frequency 

Wastewater service charges will be billed on a monthly basis. 

4.03 Delivery of Bills 

Bills will be sent physically and/or electronically to the customer at the address of the property 
owner or tenant (should the property owner agree to have the tenant billed directly). Customer 
shall be responsible to keep the District advised of the address to which the bills are to be 
delivered. Non-receipt of a bill shall not relieve the owner of any obligation to the District. 

4.04 Direct Billing of Tenants 

As a courtesy, property owners that rent or lease property with water service may have the billing 
sent directly to their tenant or tenant’s agent.  To accomplish this, the owner shall first complete 
an Owner – Authorization for Tenant Service which application may be required to be updated 
from time to time at the District’s sole determination.  The tenant is then required to complete a 
Tenant – Water/Sewer Agreement for Service prior to the District changing the billing name and 
address. Even with completion of both agreements, if the tenant becomes delinquent, the 
property owner shall ultimately be responsible for all delinquent charges, fees, interest, and 
penalties. The property owner shall have access to information regarding the account status of 
their tenant upon request.  If tenant becomes more than 30 days delinquent, the District may 
revoke tenant billing privileges and the account will be closed in the tenant’s name and billing will 
be placed back into the owner’s name. Billing will remain in property owner’s name once tenant 
privileges have been revoked.  

4.05 Prorated Bills 

For bills calculated for less than a full billing period, the bill will be prorated from the first day of 
the billing period to the date of service or from the commencement of service until the last day of 
the billing period.  

4.06 Bill Payment 

Bill payment requirements are as follows: 

1. Responsibility: The Property Owner is responsible for the timely payment of all rates, 
charges and fees related to water service for his/her property, even if the property 
owner’s tenant is a customer. 

2. Due Date: Wastewater charges are due and payable to the District on the first working 
day of each month for service received the preceding month. 



 

4-2 

3. Delivery of Payment: Customer shall make bill payments to the District in a manner 
acceptable to the District as provided on the bill and/or the District’s website.  

4.07 Delinquent Bills 

4.07.1 Delinquent Date 

Payments shall be considered delinquent at the close of business on the 20th day of the month. 

4.07.2 Penalties 

Should any bill not be paid in full before becoming delinquent, a one-time penalty charge of ten 
and one-half percent (10.5%) shall be added. The penalty charge will continue to be added to any 
new balances that become delinquent until all delinquent charges, fees, penalties and interest are 
paid in full. Current charges due and payable will not be accepted without payment of all 
delinquent charges, fees, penalties and interest.. 

Failure to pay delinquent bills will result in the District placing a flow restriction device on the 
customer’s water service connection, as described below. 

4.07.3 Delinquent Notices 

Delinquent notices shall be delivered as follows: 

1. First Notice (15-day): Prior to any service flow restriction for non-payment, the District 
shall mail a written notice to the customer stating that the bill is delinquent and that water 
service flow will be restricted fifteen (15) days after the date of the notice. The notice shall 
provide contact information for the District, the past due amount, and any opportunities to 
request alternative payment plans through the latest revision of the District’s alternative 
payment plan policy. 

2. Second Notice (48-hour): A second notice shall be delivered to the customer, either in 
person or by mail, forty-eight (48) hours prior to a flow restriction device being placed on 
the customer’s service for non-payment. The notice shall be considered delivered if hung 
on the door or entry way to the building receiving water service. A separate fee will be 
charged to the customer for delivery of the second notice. 

3. Tenants and Owners: If the property owner and tenant have entered into agreements 
with the District to have the account in the tenant’s name, the first delinquent notice shall 
be sent to both the tenant and the property owner.  

4.07.4 Disputed Bills 

Delinquency notices shall inform the customer that any disputed portion of the billing may be 
reviewed with the General Manager or Finance Director within thirty (30) days of the date of the 
Notice. The customer shall send a written statement supporting the basis for dispute to the 
District office, attention of the General Manager. Billing adjustments may be considered based on 
a history of no greater than 6 months from the date of most recent billing period. 

4.07.5 Payment to Avoid Flow Restriction or Shutoff 

To avoid service flow restriction and or shutoff for non-payment, even if the customer has 
disputed the bill, the customer must provide full payment of the past due amount of the bill prior to 
the date of flow restriction or shutoff provided in the delinquent notices. Customers may also 
contact the District to request an alternate payment plan per the District’s latest adopted 
alternative payment plan policy.  



 

4-3 

4.07.6 Flow Restriction or Shutoff for Non-Payment 

If customers fail to pay the past due balance by the date provided in the delinquent notices, the 
District will restrict flow through or shutoff the customer’s service connection due to non-payment. 
Flow restriction or shutoff shall be subject to the following: 

1. Flow Restriction: Flow restriction devices installed on a customer’s service line will 
significantly restrict flow through the customer’s water service connection. The restricted 
water flow is considered sufficient to provide for basic drinking, cooking and sanitation 
needs, although such water may be supplied at an inconvenience to the customer due to 
the reduced flow rate and pressure.  

2. Shutoff: At its option, the District may choose to shutoff water services for non-payment. 
Should the District opt to shutoff services for non-payment, it must adopt and implement 
a separate shutoff policy that fully complies with the requirements of California law. 

3. Restriction/Restoration of Flow: Water service will only be restricted and/or restored from 
restriction between 8:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. on business days (excludes weekends and 
holidays). After full payment of past due bill balances and fees, the customer may request 
that water service be restored after hours or on a weekend or holiday. If, at the discretion 
of the District, an operator is available to make such restoration, the customer may opt to 
pay a fee to have water service restored. 

4. Continued Billing: Customers will continue to be billed normal wastewater service 
charges even if their water service connection is restricted or shutoff. 

4.08 Alternative Payment Plans, Fee Waivers and Account Credits 

The District Board shall adopt, and update as it deems necessary, a policy to provide for 
alternative payment plans to provide alternatives that help customers avoid service flow 
restrictions and/or disconnections. The policy shall also provide conditions for waiver of fees and 
account credits. 

4.09 Unpaid Accounts – Property Lien 

All unpaid wastewater service accounts may become a lien against the real property to which the 
service is rendered when the General Manager or the Finance Officer has determined that the 
recovery of the amount due may be uncertain, then the General Manager or the Finance Officer 
shall cause to be filed with the County Recorder a Certificate of Lien, setting forth the amount of 
the delinquent charges, including any interest and penalties therein, the name and address of the 
property owner. 

4.10 Unpaid Accounts – County Tax Roll 

The amount of any charges for wastewater service that are delinquent and unpaid for sixty (60) 
days or more on or before July 1st of each year, shall be added to and become a part of the 
annual taxes upon such property, and shall constitute a lien on that property as of the same time 
and in the same manner as general taxes upon such property. The Finance Officer shall furnish 
to the County Board of Supervisors and the County Auditor a statement of such delinquent and 
unpaid charges on or before August 10th of that year and shall provide all other notifications 
required by law. 

4.11 Collection by Legal Action 

The General Manager is authorized and directed to institute and prosecute, in the name of the 
District, appropriate legal action for the collection of the delinquent wastewater charges and fees. 



 

5-1 

SECTION 5 -  SERVICE CONNECTIONS 

5.01 Application for Service 

Application for wastewater service shall be made in writing on forms provided by the District, and 
signed by the legal owner of the subject property.  Applications shall be supported by plot maps, 
assessor's parcel number, description of proposed construction, construction type, number of 
dwelling units, date the service is to begin, the name and billing address of the owner, and where 
deemed necessary by the District the domestic water requirements in gallons per day. 

5.02 New Service Conditions 

The following requirements must be met to obtain a service connection: 

1. The property to be served must be within the geographical boundaries of the Twain Harte 
Community Services District, and within or adjacent to an area being served or servable 
by the District. 

2. The property to be served and the proposed location of the new service must be located 
adjacent to an existing District sewer main. 

3. The District’s Wastewater System must possess adequate capacity to collect, pump and 
treat wastewater discharged from the property, as determined solely by the District. 
Should the determination reveal that the District's existing facilities are inadequate to 
serve a new connection, the new service or services shall not be allowed to connect into 
the system unless and until the applicant provides such adequate extension and 
improvements and/or pays capacity charges as required by the District.  The location, 
capacity and design of such extensions and improvements shall be determined solely 
and conclusively by the District. 

4. Use of the service must not significantly impair service to existing District customers. 

5. The Property Owner must pay all connection and capacity fees and any other applicable 
charges and fees. In areas where the District also provides water service, the Property 
Owner must apply and pay connection fees for both treated water and sewer service 
simultaneously. Service connections will not be installed prior to payment of said fees. 

5.03 Guarantee of Applicant 

The submission of an application shall constitute the Property Owner’s agreement to comply with 
all the Regulations in this Code and other ordinances, policies and regulations relating to water 
service, including, but not limited to, the timely required payment for water service. 

5.04 Quotes for Service 

The District will respond to requests for general information on fee schedules within an area 
serviced by the District’s Wasteater System free of charge.  The District will also provide quotes 
for new service capacity and connection fees for connection of specific properties that can be 
readily served by the District’s Wastewater System. To receive a property-specific quote, 
applicants must complete an application for service to determine specific use and service needs. 
Quotes for service are subject to the following: 

1. The District will guarantee quotes for 60 days for new services, where the applicant is the 
property owner as of the date of the quote. 

2. Provision of a quote does not include a guarantee of service. 



 

5-2 

3. Material differences between an application and the subsequent intended use of District 
services, as determined by the General Manager, may render the quote invalid. 

4. Quotes will not be provided for properties that require an extension of facilities. 

5.05 Service Connection Requirements 

The following requirements must be met for all service connections: 

1. Separate Services per Parcel. A service connection shall not serve more than one parcel.  
However, the property owner may apply for as many separate services for the same 
parcel as he/she may reasonably require. The District’s General Manager may, at his/her 
sole discretion, require separate services for each separate dwelling unit or commercial 
building located on the same parcel. Each service will be subject to normal service 
charges and fees.  

The District reserves the right to limit the number of houses or buildings, or the area of 
the land under one ownership, to be served by one service connection.  A service 
connection shall not be used to serve adjoining property of a different owner or to supply 
the property of the same owner on opposite sides of a public street or alley, unless 
approved by the District General Manager. 

2. Division of Presently Serviced Parcels. When a parcel which is presently serviced by the 
District is divided into two or more parcels, the existing service connection shall be 
considered as belonging to the parcel which it directly enters. Prior to provision of 
wastewater service to the new parcel(s), the new parcel(s) shall require installation of a 
new service connection and payment of appropriate capacity and connection fees. 

3. District-Approved Cleanout. The customer shall, at his/her own expense, install, maintain, 
repair and replace a District-approved sewer cleanout at the property line adjacent to a 
public right-of-way. The cleanout must, in the opinion of the District, be easily accessible 
to District staff. 

4. Backflow Prevention Devices. The customer shall, at his/her own expense, install, 
operate, maintain, repair and replace a District-approved backflow prevention device to 
protect the customer’s building sewer from being impacted by back up of wastewater 
from the public sewer. Such backflow prevention device shall be installed on the property 
of the user and become part of the user's private sewer lateral.  Protection of property 
from damage caused by wastewater backup from the public sewer is the sole 
responsibility of the user. 

5.06 Service Connection Size, Location, and Installation 

The District will furnish and install a service lateral of such size and location as it approves. The 
service will typically be installed from its public sewer main to the curb line or property line of the 
parcel or the edge of District easement. Unless the District, at its discretion, opts to install service 
connections, the customer will be responsible to obtaining a qualified contractor to install his/her 
service connection. All such installation work will require District inspection and acceptance. 

5.07 Customer Disconnection of Service Prohibited 

Once a service line is extended to a parcel, the customer may not disconnect the service under 
any circumstances and the property owner shall be responsible for all related monthly charges 
and fees.  No refunds of connection or capacity fees shall be allowed. Capacity shall not be 
allowed to be transferred amongst parcels except through the conditions of approval contained in 
a development agreement for a subdivision which development agreement is issued by the 
District. 



 

5-3 

5.07.1 Exceptions for Certain Projects 

At the sole discretion of the General Manager, an exception may be granted for existing service 
lines not utilized by a development, redevelopment or demolition project.  Customers must 
request such disconnection in writing along with copies of any applicable permits issued by local 
agencies prior to consideration by the District.  In cases where the project does not require a 
permit, such as in certain demolition projects, a site inspection by the District shall be required.  
An approved disconnection requires customers to remove, at their expense, the unneeded 
service line(s) at the main or another location determined by the District Engineer.  All capacity, 
including capacity previously provided by Developers, associated with a disconnected service line 
shall be permanently forfeited upon disconnection and monthly service charges shall cease upon 
final approval by the District.  Once disconnected, if service is desired at the property in the 
future, owner shall submit a new service application along with payment of the current connection 
and/or capacity fees applicable at time of application. 

5.07.2 Exceptions for Abandoned Connections 

At the sole discretion of the General Manager an exception may be granted under this section for 
existing service lines where it can be determined, to the District’s satisfaction, that service has not 
been utilized for a period of ten years or more and there is no structure on the property.  
Customers must request disconnection in writing with documentation demonstrating the property 
has not been occupied for at least ten years.  A site inspection by the District may be required.   
An approved disconnection requires customers to remove, at their expense, the unneeded 
service line(s) at the main or another location determined by the District Engineer.  All capacity, 
including capacity previously provided by Developers, associated with a disconnected service line 
shall be permanently forfeited upon disconnection and monthly service charges shall cease upon 
approval by the District.  Once disconnected, if service is desired at the property in the future, 
owner shall submit a new service application along with payment of the current connection and/or 
capacity fees applicable at time of application. This exception shall not apply to commercial 
properties and will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis for residential properties located within 
a subdivision where water mains were previously constructed to serve the parcel in question. 

5.08 Disconnection of Service by District 

The District reserves the right to disconnect any connection to its wastewater collection system, 
to discontinue wastewater service, and/or to shutoff the customer’s water service for any of the 
following reasons, without notice unless otherwise indicated. 

1. The customer fails to comply with any of the regulations in this Wastewater Code, after 
notice by mail or in person; 

2. The service is being furnished without proper authorization or application; 

3. There is evidence of unauthorized tampering or interference with the District's facilities; 

4. The District or a State or County Public Health Officer finds that there exists a known or 
potential hazard to the health or safety of the customer or any other person, hazards 
resulting from discharges from the customer’s private sewer facilities; 

5. The customer discharges wastewater that causes or threatens to cause a condition of 
contamination, pollution or nuisance as defined in this Wastewater Code. 

5.09 Unauthorized Service Connections 

No person shall cause a service connection to be made without prior authorization of the District, 
and every person who does so shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.  Such person may be required 
to pay a penalty for the unauthorized service connection equal to twice the estimated user’s 
charges in effect during the period of time such unauthorized service connection was made and 



 

5-4 

used and twice the Connection Fee in effect at the time connection is authorized.  Such 
unauthorized connections may be disconnected by District at such person’s expense, until such 
service connection is authorized and the penalties and other charges or fees are paid.  The 
payment penalties as provided herein may be reduced to 25% of the user charges and 
then-applicable Connection Fee provided such person makes application and pays all charges 
and fees within ten (10) working days of written notification that such service connection is 
unauthorized and provided that the connection is not in violation of any other provisions contained 
herein or as provided by law. 

5.10 Forced Connections by District 

If it appears that the use of a septic system tank, cesspool or other local means of sewage 
disposal is contaminating any surface or underground water, or creating a public health hazard or 
is a public nuisance within the District, the General Manager shall report that fact and the 
evidence in support thereof to the Board. The Board may thereupon give written notice to the 
owner and occupants of such dwelling unit that the Board will, not less than ten (10) days after 
the giving of such notice, determine whether such condition has occurred or is occurring.  Notice 
shall be given by mailing to the address of the owner as shown on the County Assessment roll, 
and to the occupants by mailing to the address of the premises, or by hand delivery to an adult 
person residing on the premises, or by posting at the entry or other conspicuous place on the 
premises.  Any person interested may appear at said hearing and be heard on the matter. If the 
Board finds, at the conclusion of said hearing that such condition is occurring or that it has 
occurred, the Board may order the owner of said premises to connect such dwelling unit, together 
with all toilets, sinks and other plumbing therein, properly vented, and in a sanitary manner, to the 
District’s wastewater system, within a time to be specified by the Board.  Upon the failure to do 
so, the Board shall order that said work be done, at a reasonable cost, by the District's own 
forces or by another person contracting with the District therefore.  The District shall thereupon 
have a lien upon said property for all applicable connection fees or charges, and the District, or 
such other person doing such work at the District's request, shall thereupon have a lien upon said 
property for the work done and materials furnished, and such work and materials furnished shall 
be held to have been done and furnished at the insistence of the owner, and any persons 
claiming or having any interest in said real estate. 

5.10.1 Authorization 

It is the intent of this Chapter that the Board shall have all of the powers and authority conferred 
upon District by Section 31103 of the Water Code (declaring the use of septic tanks to be a public 
nuisance), and under section 5463 and 5464 of the Health and Safety Code (relating to 
procedures upon refusal or failure to connect dwellings with sewers), but nothing herein shall 
preclude the District to utilize any other power or authority for violations or enforcement.  "Owner" 
as used in this Chapter shall also mean and include reputed owner.  

5.10.2 Forced Connection Costs on County Tax Rolls 

Alternatively to the enforcement of the lien to pay for forced connection costs, the Board may 
declare that the amount of the costs of such work and the administrative expenses incurred by 
the Board, together with connection charges and other applicable charges, be transmitted to the 
County Assessor and Tax Collector, whereupon it shall be the duty of such officers to add the 
amount of the assessment to the next regular bill for taxes levied against the lot or parcel of land. 

5.10.3 Enforcement of Lien 

The liens provided for herein shall be enforced in the same manner as those provided for in 
(commencing with Section 8000), Part 6 of the Civil Code. 



 

6-1 

SECTION 6 -  EXTENSION OR IMPROVEMENT OF FACILITIES 

6.01 Required Extension or Improvement of Facilities 

When water is requested for property within the District which does not abut an adequate public 
sewer collection facility, an extension or improvement of the District's system shall be required. 
Such facilities may include, but not limited to, collection pipes, manholes, backflow prevention 
devices, pump stations and cleanouts. 

6.02 Extension or Improvement Application 

An extension or improvement of facilities shall be initiated by completing an application and 
depositing an application fee with the District, as described herein.  The application must be 
signed by the property owner.  The application shall become null and void: 

1. Three (3) months after the date of the application unless an extension has been granted 
or improvement of facilities agreement has been signed by the Board of Directors and the 
developer. 

2. Eighteen (18) months after the date of the executed agreement unless construction has 
been completed, and accepted by District.  A maximum twelve (12) month extension of 
time may be granted upon request of the developer and approved in writing by the 
General Manager. 

6.03 Project Approval 

Extension or improvement of facilities applications shall be reviewed by the District Engineer or 
District Engineer's designate.  If further information is required, the developer's Engineer, at the 
developer's expense, will prepare the additional information needed.  The property owner shall 
sign the extension or improvement of facilities agreement which incorporates the requirements of 
the District. The agreement will not be effective unless approved by the District’s Board of 
Directors. No work shall commence until the agreement has been signed by all parties. 

6.04 Environmental Review Charge 

Unless any required environmental processing has been done by the County or another agency, 
the District may determine that an initial study or environmental impact report is required for a 
proposed extension facility necessary to serve a developer's land.  The developer shall be 
responsible for the costs of preparing such a study and/or report, including associated costs 
incurred by the District for overhead, preparation, and hearings.  

6.05 Design, Installation and Ownership of Facility Extensions 

The character and design of the extension or improvement of facilities required to serve any 
parcel of land shall be determined solely by the District.  The developer shall have the facilities 
designed by a qualified registered civil engineer.  All costs associated with facilities design and 
installation shall be borne by the developer.  Design of the facilities shall be in accordance with 
good engineering practice and not less than the District's Minimum Design Standards.  
Improvement plans shall be approved by the District Engineer.  The facilities shall be installed in 
accordance with the approved plans and specifications and the District's Standard Plans and 
Specifications as they exist at the time of approval. 

Unless installed by the District, the developer shall have the facilities installed by an experienced, 
licensed contractor approved by the District.  District reserves the right to waive this requirement 
at its discretion. 



 

6-2 

All construction materials such as pipe, valves, fittings, concrete, sand, asphalt, etc., shall be 
supplied in accordance with Standard District Specifications.  The District reserves the right to 
construct, with its own personnel or by contract, taps on existing mains, extensions involving 
complicated connection to, or interference with the District's existing facilities or other unusual 
facilities.  The developer may be required to furnish an irrevocable letter of credit, bond or other 
acceptable surety to insure payment for construction of any facilities for which the District 
assumes responsibility.  Upon completion, inspection and acceptance by the District, the facilities 
shall be owned and operated by the District as part of its water system. 

6.06 Sizing of Facilities  

Pipeline sizing shall be in accordance with the following: 

1. The normal minimum public sewer pipeline size shall be six (6) inches (except as 
provided below).  

2. The District Engineer or his designate may require larger or allow smaller pipeline size, if 
in his opinion, a larger size is needed or a smaller pipeline size would be appropriate. 

3. For applications involving proposed developments that will have ten (10) or more new 
connections at build-out, the applicant shall pay the District to model the flows from the 
project to a point of the District’s determining. 

6.07 Location of Facilities 

The extension or improvement of facilities shall be located only on land owned by the District in 
fee, in streets with an acceptable encroachment permit, existing public utilities easements, or in 
an easement granted to the District.  The location is subject to the District's approval of 
alignment, accessibility and safety of the facilities.  The developer shall convey or grant to the 
District without cost such land and/or easements the District determines necessary for the 
facilities.  The District may also require an easement for future extensions.  Land shall be 
conveyed to the District, free and clear of liens or encumbrances except encumbrances of record 
that are acceptable to the District.  Easements shall be granted in a form satisfactory to the 
District.  The pipeline shall abut all parcels served. An easement shall be granted to District along 
the entire length of the developer's parcel except in cul-de-sacs, dead-end roadways or other 
situations where the District determines that the pipeline may terminate and remote service be 
provided.  

6.08 Land Right Schedule 

The developer shall provide all land, easements and rights-of-way to the District prior to District 
acceptance of facilities. 

6.09 Payment of Costs 

The developer shall pay the District's actual costs including, but not limited to:  Engineering 
analysis, designs, plan review or preparation of environmental impact documents, hearings, 
review or preparation of improvement plan, construction inspection, as-built drawings, project 
management and usual overhead expenses allocated to such work.  The developer shall deposit 
District's estimate of engineering review, inspection, and project administrative costs prior to 
performance of any work by the District.  Upon completion of the work, if the amount deposited 
with the District is less than actual costs, the difference shall be paid to the District prior to the 
commencement of service.  Any amount deposited in excess of actual cost will be refunded. 

 



 

6-3 

6.10 Inspection and Notice of Completion 

The District shall inspect the construction of all facilities to be owned and operated by the District.  
The District will not accept or provide service through a facility which has not been inspected, is 
satisfactory to and is accepted by the District Engineer.  

6.11 Acceptance of Facilities 

Upon completion of the construction, final inspection and approval by the District Engineer, 
submission of as-built drawings acceptable to the District and payment of any outstanding monies 
due, the project shall be accepted by the District.  The District shall then issue proof of service to 
the County Building Department.  The facilities shall be owned, operated and maintained by the 
District except as otherwise specified in an agreement. 

6.12 Warranty Responsibilities 

For a period of two (2) years from the date of acceptance by the District, the property owner shall 
warrant for the repair of all defects, leaks or failure occurring in the facilities, which are, as 
determined by the District, due to negligence in the manufacture and/or installation of the facilities 
and not due to improper operation of the system by the District or its agents, acts of a third party 
or acts of God.  Failure by the property owner to pay for any of the repairs described above after 
being billed by the District may result in a discontinuance of service. 

The developer, or the developer's representative, shall submit a two (2) year warranty surety 
bond, (in form acceptable to the District), certificate of deposit, or irrevocable letter of credit, in an 
amount established by contract with the District. 

6.13 Documentation of Project Costs 

The developer shall provide the District with copies of all invoices for materials, equipment, labor 
and District costs for construction of the portion of the project that is to be deeded to the District.  
Those invoices shall be marked "PAID" and signed by the developer or his authorized agent, or at 
Districts' option an estimate may be prepared at the developer's expense either by the District or 
by a registered professional engineer establishing the best possible value of the project for 
accounting, warranty and other purposes.  

6.14 Costs Reimbursed by the District 

Reimbursement of documented project costs to a developer for extension or improvement of 
permanent facilities, when other users later benefit from such facilities, shall be subject to a 
reimbursement agreement.  It shall be the intent of this regulation to provide a fair and equitable 
return to the original developer provided others within an area designated by the District make 
use of the extended or improved facilities within a ten year period following completion of 
construction.  The District will collect and disburse funds for repayment of verified project costs 
under the conditions set forth below. 

1. The District shall be under no obligation to make any reimbursement payment 
whatsoever, except as outlined in this section.  All questions as to the meaning of any 
portion of this section shall be as interpreted by the District. 

2. Reimbursable facilities must be constructed in accordance with District's standard 
specifications from plans submitted and approved prior to construction, inspected by the 
District during and after construction and the costs must be documented to District's 
satisfaction. 

3. Any applicant within an Area of Benefit designated by the District who requires service 



 

6-4 

through facilities or improvements constructed by others pursuant to a reimbursement 
agreement and who did not contribute to the cost of construction or required in-lieu fees, 
shall pay a pro rata reimbursement fee prior to service being supplied, including an 
Administrative Fee of 3% or $250, whichever is greater.  An area of benefit which 
identifies parcels having access to the constructed facility or improvement shall be 
determined by District's Engineer and a map of the area shall be attached as Exhibit A to 
the reimbursement agreement.  In no case shall reimbursement exceed the documented 
cost of construction less the proportionate share of the project utilized by the original 
developer.  Reimbursement payments required of future applicants for service within the 
area of benefit shall be based solely upon parcel area according to the following formula: 

Developer's  Verified Construction  Area of 
Payment  Cost (dollars)_______  Applicant's 
Obligation     =  Total Area of Benefit      X Parcel 
(dollars)   (acres)   (acres) 

  
Where extensions are constructed in subdivisions, reimbursement amounts may be 
based on the number of lots within the area of benefit instead of acreage. 

4. On an annual date specified in the reimbursement agreement, the District will disburse 
collected reimbursement funds to the developer without interest.  Developer shall keep 
the District informed of any change of mailing address.  If the developer is an entity of 
more than one individual, District shall disburse funds to a designated escrow account 
and shall have no responsibility or liability for the further distribution of such funds. 

5. The developer's rights to reimbursement funds shall not be transferable or assignable 
without the express written consent of the District Board of Directors. 

6. Any expense for collection, enforcement, disbursement, litigation or any other reason 
connected with administration of a reimbursement agreement which exceeds the 
administration fee cited in paragraph four (4) above, may be deducted from 
reimbursement funds collected by the District before disbursement of the remainder of 
such funds to the developer. 

7. The District will not administer reimbursement from the developer's own existing or 
proposed parcels or from parcels to be acquired by the Developer. 

8. Parcel owners within the area of benefit will not be required to connect to the developer's 
extension if an alternate route is preferable in the sole opinion of the District.  



 

7-1 

SECTION 7 - WASTEWATER DISCHARGE PERMITS FOR CRITICAL USERS 

7.01 Mandatory Discharge Permits 

All critical users proposing to connect or to discharge into the District’s sewer system must obtain 
a Wastewater Discharge Permit before connecting to or discharging into a community sewer.  All 
existing critical users connected to or discharging into a community sewer must obtain a 
Wastewater Discharge Permit within ninety (90) days after the effective date of this Ordinance. 

 
Any applicant for sewer service may be required to obtain a wastewater discharge permit if 
contemplated discharge is found by the General Manager to have significant impact, either singly 
or in combination with other contributing discharges, on the treatment or collection system. 

7.02 Permit Application 

Users seeking a Wastewater Discharge Permit shall complete and file with the General Manager, 
an application in the form prescribed by the General Manager, accompanied by the applicable 
fees, and signed by the applicant.  The applicant may be required to submit, in units and terms 
appropriate for evaluation, the following information: 

1. Name, address and SIC number of applicant; 

2. Volume of Wastewater to discharge; 

3. Wastewater constituents and characteristics including but not limited to those mentioned 
in Section 2.08 as determined by a laboratory approved by the District. 

4. Time and duration of discharge; 

5. Average and 30-minute peak wastewater flow rates, including daily, monthly and 
seasonal variations, if any; 

6. Site plans, floor plans, mechanical and plumbing plans and details to show all sewers 
and appurtenances by size, location and elevation; 

7. Description of activities, facilities and plant process on the premises, including all 
materials, processes and types of materials which are or could be discharged. 

8. Each product produced by type, amount, and rate of production; 

9. Hours of work; 

10. Any other information as may be deemed by the General Manager to be necessary to 
evaluate the permit application. 

 
The General Manager will evaluate the data furnished by the user and may require additional 
information.  After evaluation and acceptance of the data furnished, the General Manager may 
issue a Wastewater Discharge Permit, subject to terms and conditions provided herein. 

7.03 Duration of Permits 

Permits may be issued for a specified time period.  A permit may be issued for a period less than 
a year or may be stated to expire on a specific date.  If the user is not notified by the District thirty 
(30) days prior to the expiration of the permit, the permit shall be extended one (1) additional 
year.  The terms and conditions of the permit may be subject to modification and change by the 
District during the life of the permit, if any limitations or requirements as identified in Section 2.08 
are modified, changed or made more stringent.  The user shall be informed of any proposed 
changes in his permit at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of change.  Any changes 
or new conditions in the permit shall include a reasonable time schedule for compliance. 



 

7-2 

7.04 Transfer of a Permit 

Wastewater Discharge Permits may be issued for a specific operation on a specific premise.  
Such wastewater Discharge Permits shall not be reassigned or transferred or sold to a new 
owner, or a new user without the expressed written consent of the District Engineer. 

7.05 Changes in Operation or Discharge 

A user to whom a permit has been issued shall promptly report in writing to the General Manager 
any changes in his operations, or wastewater constituents or characteristics, that are significantly 
different from that provided in his permit application. 

7.06 Revocation of Permit 

Any user who violates this Ordinance or applicable State and Federal regulations, or any of the 
following, is subject to having his permit revoked: 

1. Failure of a user to accurately report the wastewater constituents and characteristics of 
his discharge; 

2. Failure of the user to report significant changes in operations, or wastewater constituents 
and characteristics; 

3. Refusal of reasonable access to the user's premises for the purpose of inspection or 
monitoring; or 

4. Any of conditions of the permit. 

7.07 Permit for Temporary Service 

Temporary wastewater discharge permits shall be limited to one year or less, and thereafter 
renewable at the discretion of the District General Manager.  Service charges shall be determined 
at rates established by this ordinance. 



 

8-1 

SECTION 8 -  PRIVATE SEWER LATERALS AND FACILITIES 

8.01 Inflow and Infiltration from Private Sewer Facilities 

The District’s sanitary sewer system has a recurring problem of receiving excessive inflows 
during the wet seasons.  As a result of infiltration and inflows into broken, cracked, and poorly 
maintained private sewer facilities, including private sewer laterals, flows occasionally overload 
the conveyance and treatment capacity of the District’s Regional Sewer System.  In addition, 
plugging and blockage of private sanitary sewer pipelines caused by root intrusions, grease 
accumulation, offset joints, flat spots or bellies, can result in overflows, difficulties in operation, 
contamination of surface waters, and nuisances and endangerment to the public health, safety, 
and welfare. Therefore, it is hereby found and determined that the District must adopt an 
aggressive policy of inspection of such private sewer facilities that discharge wastewater into the 
District’s sanitary sewer system and to require property owners to repair or replace such facilities 
when such conditions are found to occur. 

8.02 Owner Responsibility to Maintain and Repair Private Sewer Facilities 

The owner of a property served by the District's sanitary sewer system shall at all times maintain, 
at the owner’s cost and expense, the private sanitary sewer facilities serving the property in a 
good condition and repair so that the owner’s private sewer facilities do not allow the infiltration, 
inflow or discharge of stormwater, rainwater, groundwater, subsurface or street drainage into the 
District’s sanitary sewer system.  The owner shall be responsible for the operation, maintenance, 
and repair of such private sanitary sewer facilities, including pipelines and all devices or 
safeguards required by this section which are part of such private sanitary sewer facilities serving 
the owner’s property (collectively, “private sewer facilities”).  The owner’s operation, maintenance, 
and repair responsibility is from the building to the connection at the District’s sewer main, or to 
the cleanout at the property line on the sewer lateral when a District-approved cleanout has been 
installed and is accessible to the District’s satisfaction.  
 
The owner’s responsibility shall extend to and include the private sanitary sewer pipelines, 
manholes, equipment, pump stations, and related appurtenances serving the owner’s parcel.  
The District shall not be responsible for any loss or damage caused by improper or defective 
installation of such private sanitary sewer facilities, whether inspected and/or approved by the 
District.  All such installations of private sanitary sewer facilities shall conform to all federal, state, 
county, city, District and local laws, rules, regulations and ordinances. 

8.03 Remedy of Poorly Maintained Private Sewer Facilities 

All private sewer facilities found in need of repair as a result of testing procedures required by this 
chapter shall be repaired, upgraded and/or installed to the standards set forth in the District 
Standards at the owner’s expense.  If the repairs are not made promptly pursuant to notice being 
given and to the satisfaction of the District, the District may take any of the enforcement actions 
described in this Ordinance, including the termination of service to the premises.  The District 
may also at its option cause the improvements or repairs to be made by the District at the owner’s 
cost and to collect the same as a delinquent account by any of the procedures described in in this 
Ordinance, including the establishment of a lien against the property.  

8.03.1 Property Owner Notification 

Any of the following shall constitute the giving of notice by the District under this section:   

1. Notice to both the owner and to any tenant, either by notice in person, by telephone, or 
by hand delivery of a notice , or; 

2. Posting such notice in a conspicuous place on the premises and the expiration of 48 



 

8-2 

hours after posting, plus the mailing of notice by first class mail with postage prepaid in 
the U.S. mail to the owner and any such tenant and the expiration of 72 hours after such 
mailing. 

8.03.2 Notification of Other Authorities 

The District may also notify the county building inspector, county health inspector, health officer, 
or other affected county office of any apparent violation of a county ordinance or state law related 
to sanitary sewers, or any contamination, pollution as nuisance relating thereto. 

8.03.3 Repairs Performed by District 

The General Manager is authorized, at his/her discretion, upon the request of any owner or 
tenant in writing to provide emergency repairs to any broken, plugged or inoperative private 
sewer lateral when assurance is given for the District to be reimbursed for the costs thereof. If the 
costs are not paid to the District pursuant to such assurances or within 30 days after such billing, 
the District may utilize any remedies for the collection thereof that are available for collection of 
unpaid sewer charges, including but not limited to shutting off the water supply to the premises 
and by establishing a lien against the property.  

8.04 District Private Sewer Facilities Testing Program 

8.04.1 Intent 

It is the intent of the District to test and as necessary, video inspect the private sewer laterals, 
pipelines, and connections of customers served by the District’s sewer system on a rotating 
basis, at a frequency determined by the District, or when one of the events described in this 
section occurs, for the purposes of reducing sanitary sewer overflows and eliminating inflow and 
infiltration into the District’s sewer system.  Video inspection may be used to identify defects in 
the private sanitary sewer facilities including, but not limited to unacceptable construction 
materials, leaks, breaks, plugs, blockages, root intrusion, grease accumulation, offset joints, flat 
spots or bellies. 

Owner, user or occupant of a house, building, or property connected to the District's sanitary 
sewer system shall maintain private sanitary sewer facilities in a condition such that the tests and 
inspections described below can be successfully accomplished.  

8.04.2 Scope of Testing 

Testing will apply to all private sanitary sewer facilities and pressurized (septic effluent) lateral 
sewers, including those serving or intended to serve residential, multiple residential, commercial, 
and industrial users connected to the District's sanitary sewer system.   

8.04.3 Special Events Requiring Testing 

Testing be conducted at the owner’s expense when any of the following occur:   

1. New construction of a service connection; 

2. Remodeling of the house, building, or property served to an extent of more than 25 
percent of the square footage before improvements; 

3. Repair or replacement of all or part of the private sanitary sewer facilities, including 
sewer lateral(s), or private lift station components; 

4. Installation of an additional sewer lateral pipeline; 



 

8-3 

5. Change of use of the house, building, or property serviced from residential to business 
or commercial, or from non-restaurant commercial to restaurant commercial; 

6. Addition of living quarters, such as accessory dwelling on the property served, or 
conversion of garages into living quarters with plumbing fixtures, or addition of 
structures on the parcel that may, in the opinion of the District, impact an existing sewer 
lateral or increase fixture units; 

7. When an inspection by the District indicates reasonable cause; or 

8. Upon determination of the District that testing or sanitary sewer facility replacement is 
required for the protection of the public health, safety, and welfare. 

8.05 District Private Sewer Facilities Testing Procedures 

8.05.1 General 

The owner of a house, building, or property connected to the District's sanitary sewer system 
shall conduct all private sanitary sewer facility upgrades and testing required pursuant to Section 
9.02 at the owner’s sole expense and shall notify the District 48 hours prior to testing.  Testing 
and repair or replacement shall be conducted by a contractor determined qualified by the District.  
All testing shall be witnessed by a District Inspector and carried out in accordance with one of the 
methods described in subsection D below. 

8.05.2 Testing 

All sewer laterals and privately owned sewer pipelines shall be tested by either an air or water 
method, at the discretion of the District. In the case of sewer laterals, the test section shall be 
from the building cleanout to the property line cleanout.  The test section shall include all private 
pipelines, including joint laterals, which provide sanitary sewer service to the parcel in question. 
Privately owned sewer pipelines shall be tested their full length. No allowances shall be made for 
length, age or material. 

8.05.3 Requirement for Cleanouts on Laterals 

If a cleanout has not been installed at the easement/property line, a cleanout per District 
standards shall be installed prior to testing.  If there is no cleanout located outside the building 
foundation (within two (2) feet of the foundation wall), then a cleanout per District standards shall 
be installed.  A backflow prevention device shall be installed, per District standards, on at least 
one cleanout.  If the building lateral exits the foundation under an existing deck or concrete patio, 
the location of the building cleanout near the foundation may be modified on a case-by-case 
basis as determined by the District.  The owner shall be responsible for such installation.   

8.05.4 Initial Testing Timelines 

Initial testing shall be completed by the owner in a timely manner as follows: 

1. Within thirty (30) days of written notification from the District of a defective sewer 
discovered by video inspection, service call, or maintenance records; or 

2. Immediately if it is determined by the District that testing and repair are necessary to 
protect public health and the integrity of the sanitary sewer system. 

3. Time extensions may be granted on a case-by-case basis by the District Engineer. 
 
Once the private sanitary sewer facilities have passed the required tests, the District Inspector 
shall notify the District office of its acceptance and written notice shall be provided to the property 
owner, city or county, as applicable. 



 

8-4 

8.05.5 Air Testing Procedures 

Air test, consisting of plugging each end of the pipeline and applying a pressure of 3.5 pounds per 
square inch to the section being tested.  The pipeline shall be allowed a loss in pressure of up to 
½ pound per square inch in five (5) minutes.  If the loss exceeds ½ pound per square inch, the 
test may be attempted one additional time.  A second loss of pressure over ½ pound per square 
inch constitutes a failure of the pipeline, whereupon the pipeline shall be replaced or repaired, as 
needed, and retested in accordance with this section.  

8.05.6 Water Testing Procedures 

Water test, consisting of plugging the downstream end of a pipeline, and placing a vertical water 
column of at least seven (7) feet above the bottom of the pipe at the building cleanout.  If a seven 
(7) foot high water column cannot be created or the water column height at the property line 
cleanout exceeds twelve (12) feet, the air test method must be used.    

The pipeline shall be allowed a maximum loss of water level of 1 inch in 5 minutes for a 4-inch or 
6-inch pipeline per ninety (90) feet in length.  If the loss exceeds the allowable, the pipeline may 
be retested one additional time.  A second loss exceeding the allowable constitutes a failure of 
the pipeline, whereupon the pipeline shall be repaired or replaced, as needed, and re-tested in 
accordance with this section. 

8.06 Failed Tests 

In the event of a failed test, the Owner or the Owner’s Contractor must do one of the following:  

1. Repair or replace the sewer lateral. Repairs or replacement of 50 percent or more of a 
sanitary sewer pipeline may be cause for total pipeline replacement as determined by 
the District.  In the case of total pipeline replacement, the pipeline shall be installed in 
accordance with the District standards; or 

2. Arrange for a video inspection of the sewer lateral extending from the house to the 
property line cleanout in order to ascertain the location needing repair. A copy of the 
video inspection shall be furnished to the District for review. Following completion of a 
video inspection, the property owner may opt, with approval from the District Engineer, 
to undertake one of the following: 

a. Dig and replace the entire sewer lateral from the building cleanout to the 
property line cleanout; or 

b. Dig and spot repair deficient sections of the lateral as identified in the video 
inspection. The method of repair must be approved by the District Engineer; 
or 

c. Arrange for trenchless rehabilitation of the entire sewer lateral from the 
building cleanout to the property line cleanout.  The method of rehabilitation 
must be approved by the District Engineer. 

3. All permits including, but not limited to, encroachment permits, building permits, etc. 
necessary to complete the repair work will be the property owner’s responsibility to 
obtain and said work shall be in compliance with the conditions of such permits. 

8.07 Time Limits for Completion of Repairs and Retesting 

If a private sewer facility fails any of the above described tests, including defects discovered 
during video inspection, the owner shall cause corrective work and retesting to be performed 
within thirty (30) days from the date of written notification by the District.  All repairs shall be 
inspected by the District.  



 

8-5 

Time extensions may be granted on a case-by-case basis from the District Engineer.  However, 
the maximum time extension shall be eight (8) months. 

In the event that testing would be required during the period from October 15 to April 15 or during 
such other periods when such work may be impractical due to weather conditions, the District 
Engineer or his/her designee may defer such requirement upon posting of a performance bond 
with and satisfactory to the District guaranteeing completion that is satisfactory to the District.  
The posting of the performance bond is intended to assure funds are available to conduct the 
testing, and to repair and/or replace the sanitary sewer facilities in question if needed when 
weather conditions permit.  The amount of the performance bond shall be calculated by the 
District Engineering staff and based on estimated testing costs, the current local construction 
costs, the lineal footage of the building lateral, the number of cleanouts and other related 
appurtenances to be installed as well as the removal and replacement of existing physical 
obstacles and structures affected by the test.  

Once the new or repaired sewer connection and lateral meet District standards and pass required 
tests, the District Inspector shall notify the District office of its acceptance and written notice shall 
be provided to the property owner. 

In the event that a private sanitary sewer facility has not been successfully tested within the 
required time period, the District may discontinue sewer service to the property pursuant to this 
Wastewater Code. 

8.08 District Inspection Costs 

The property owner will be responsible to pay a fee for each District inspection required by this 
section, including observation of air or water tests, re-inspections and District review of video 
inspections.   

8.09 Waiver of Testing Requirements 

The General Manager, or his/her designee, shall have the authority to waive testing requirements 
if: 

1. The private sewer facility was newly installed and tested within a prior twenty (20) year 
period and there have been no substantial changes to the property including the 
addition of landscaping, property grading, decks or other improvements which may 
have damaged the sewer; or 

2. The existing private sanitary sewer facility was tested within a prior ten (10) year period 
and, due to pipe material type and site conditions, there is good reason to believe that 
such testing is not necessary; or 

3. The private sanitary sewer pipeline is of such a length that testing is not practical; or 

4. The private sanitary sewer facilities are part of a central private sanitary sewer system 
and the District has an established written agreement concerning specific testing 
requirements. 

 



 

9-1 

SECTION 9 -  DISCHARGE VIOLATIONS AND ENFORCEMENT 

9.01 Public Nuisance 

Discharges of wastewater in any manner in violation of this Ordinance or of any order issued by 
the General Manager as authorized by this Ordinance, is hereby declared a public nuisance and 
shall be corrected or abated as directed by the General Manager.  Any person creating a public 
nuisance is guilty of a misdemeanor. 

9.02 Employee Awareness of Discharge Requirements 

In order that the employees of users be informed of the District's requirements, users shall make 
available to their employees copies of this Wastewater Code and together with such other 
wastewater information and notices which may be furnished by the District from time to time 
directed toward more effective water pollution control.  A notice shall be furnished and 
permanently posted on the user's bulletin board advising employees whom to call in case of an 
accidental discharge in violation of this ordinance. 

9.03 Accidental Discharges 

A user shall notify the District immediately upon accidentally discharging wastes in violation of 
this ordinance, to enable countermeasures to be taken by the District to minimize damage to the 
community sewer, treatment facility, treatment processes and the receiving waters. 

This notification shall be followed within fifteen (15) days of the date of occurrence, by a detailed 
written statement describing the causes of the accidental discharge and the measures being 
taken to prevent future occurrences. 

Such notification will not relieve users of liability for any expense, loss or damage to the sewer 
system, treatment plant, or treatment process, or for any fines imposed on the District on account 
thereof under Section 13350 of the California Water Code or for violations of Section 5650 of the 
California Fish and Game Code. 

9.04 Discharges and Obstructions that Damage District Facilities 

When a discharge of wastes causes an obstruction, damage, or any other impairment to District 
facilities, the District may assess a charge against the user for the work required to clean or repair 
the facility and add such charge to the user's charges and fees. 

Tree roots originating from trees on private property or within a utility easement that penetrate the 
pipe and which appear to be a cause of obstruction or infiltration may be severed at the District’s 
discretion. The District shall not be responsible for the corresponding impact to the tree, 
replacement of the tree, or for compensation to the owner. 

9.05 Cease and Desist Orders 

When the District finds that a discharge of wastewater has taken place, in violation of prohibitions 
or limitations of this ordinance, or the provisions of a Wastewater Discharge Permit, the General 
Manager may issue an order to cease and desist and direct that those persons violating or not 
complying with such prohibitions, limits, requirements, or provisions to: 

1. Comply forthwith; 

2. Comply in accordance with a time schedule set forth by the District; or 

3. Take Appropriate remedial or preventive action in the event of a threatened violation. 



 

9-2 

9.06 Time Schedules 

When the District finds that a discharge of wastewater has been taking place, in violation of 
prohibitions or limitations prescribed in this Ordinance, or wastewater source control 
requirements, effluent limitations or pretreatment standards, or the provisions of a Wastewater 
Discharge Permit, the District may require the user to submit for approval, with such modifications 
as it deems necessary, a detailed time schedule of specific actions which the user shall take in 
order to prevent or correct a violation of requirements. 

9.07 Injunction 

Whenever a discharge of wastewater is in violation of the provisions of this Ordinance or 
otherwise causes or threatens to cause a condition of contamination, pollution or nuisance, the 
District may file an action in the Superior Court for the issuance of a preliminary or permanent 
injunction or both, as may be appropriate in restraining the continuance of such discharges. 

9.08 Civil Damages and Penalties 

Any person who violates any provision of this Ordinance or permit condition or who discharges 
wastewater which causes pollution, or who violates any cease and desist order, prohibition, 
effluent limitation, national standard of performance, pretreatment or toxicity standard shall be 
liable civilly for all damages incurred, and for a penalty not to exceed $10,000 for each day in 
which such violation occurs.  The attorney of the District, upon order of the District's Board of 
Directors, shall file an action in the Superior Court to determine, impose, assess, and recover 
such sums. 

9.09 Criminal Penalties 

Any person who intentionally or negligently violates any provision of this Ordinance or permit 
condition or who discharges wastewater which causes pollution or who violates any cease and 
desist order, prohibition, effluent limitation, national standard of performance, pretreatment or 
toxicity standard shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. 

9.10 Falsifying of Information 

Any person who knowingly makes any false statement, representation, record, report, plan or 
other document filed with the District or who falsifies, tampers with, or knowingly renders 
inaccurate any monitoring device or method required under this Ordinance, is guilty of a 
misdemeanor. 



 

10-1 

SECTION 10 - MISCELLANEOUS  

10.01 Interpretation Authority 

The General Manager is authorized to make interpretations of this Wastewater Code. 

10.02 Enforcement of this Code 

The General Manager, or his/her designee, are authorized by Government Code sections 53069.4 and 
61064 to cite violators of District Ordinances, including all provisions of this Wastewater Code, and they 
shall perform the aforementioned task in a professional manner without malice or personal bias. 

10.03 Unlawful Acts 

The District will cause the prosecution of all violations of Sections 498, 624 and 625 of the Penal Code of 
the State of California and all Ordinances and Codes which make the interference with the orderly supply 
of water to the District users a crime. 

10.04 Appeals 

Any person or entity dissatisfied with an imposed condition or decision of the General Manager or other 
authorized District employee relating to any subject covered by this Water Code, may appeal to the 
District Board of Directors.  

All appeals shall be submitted in writing to the District within 30 days after the party has been made 
aware of the decision. The written appeal shall clearly state the following: 

1. Identity of the appellant and their interest in the decision. 

2. The decision or imposed condition being appealed. 

3. Specific reasons why the appellant believes the decision or conditions imposed were unjustified 
or unappropriated. 

4. A statement of appellant’s goal or desired outcome of proposed Board action regarding the 
appeal. 

10.05 Supersedes 

This Water Code shall supersede all prior Ordinances related to the District’s wastewater system and 
sewer services and all said prior Ordinances are superseded by this Wastewater Code. 

10.06 Severability 

If any provision of this Ordinance or the application to any person or circumstances is held invalid, the 
remainder of the Ordinance or the application of such provisions to other persons or other circumstances 
shall not be affected. 



 

11-1 

SECTION 11 - PUBLICATION, EFFECTIVE DATE AND ADOPTION  

11.01 Publication 

A summary of this Ordinance shall be prepared.  

At least five (5) days prior to the meeting at which this Ordinance is scheduled to be adopted, the District 
shall:  

1. Publish the summary; and 

2. Post a certified copy of this Ordinance in the District Clerk’s office. 
 
Within fifteen (15) after the adoption of this Ordinance, the District shall:  

1. Publish the summary; and 

2. Post a certified copy of this Ordinance in the District Clerk’s office, along with the names of the 
Board members voting for and against this Ordinance, or otherwise voting. 

11.02 Effective Date 

This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after its adoption. 

11.03 Adoption 

This Ordinance was introduced on September 13, 2023. This Ordinance is hereby adopted as a Twain 
Harte Community Services District Ordinance at a public hearing held by the District Board of Directors on 
October 11, 2023, by the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSTAIN: 
ABSENT: 
 
 
 
ATTEST:          
  Kimberly Silva, District Board Secretary 
 
 
As District Board President, I approve the foregoing Ordinance this October 11, 2023: 
 
 
      
Eileen Mannix, District Board President 
 

 

 



 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT A – DEMAND FLOW BY USER CLASSIFICATION 

  

User Classification

Residential - Single Family 1.0 per living unit

Single family residential dwelling unit, fire stations and other primary residence.

Residential - Multi-Family and Accessory 0.85 per living unit

General Commercial 0.7 per commercial unit

Offices, retail stores, service stations, barbers, salons, post offices, banks, chiropractic, 

recreation and other general commercial uses.

Lodging 0.3 per room

Hotels, motels, bed and breakfast, rooming houses, cottages and other commercial lodging.

Restaurant - Small 1.4 per facility

Restaurants, cafes, coffee shops, ice cream shops and other food services.  

Indoor Dining Area < 500 SF or 

Average 5-year Winter Water Use < 5,000 gallons/month

Restaurant - Large 3.6 per facility

All restaurants and other food services exceeding the requirements of the "Restaurant - Small" 

classification.

Medical 2.0 per facility

Doctor offices, veterinarians, dentists and other medical facilities.

Super Market By Calculation

Grocery, butcher, produce and other food products.

Laundromat 0.5 per washer

Car Wash 2.4 per stall

Schools 10.1 per campus

Church 1.1 per facility

Public Restrooms 1.3 per facility

Multi-Use By Calculation

NOTES

1 Demand flow is measured in Equivalent Single Family Residence (ESFR) units.  

2

3 Demand flow is calculated based on the average winter water usage of individual users within each user classification.

Winter water usage is used to reasonably estimate actual wastewater discharges by eliminating non-wastewater usage,

such as irrigation.

4 Demand flows for users who do not specifically fit within a user classification will be determined by the District Manager

from the most similar classification or from usage records of a similar establishment.

Demand Flow (ESFR Units)

Multi-family dwelling units, apartments, accessory dwelling units.

Demand flow for wastewater connections serving combinations of the above user classifications.  

Demand flow will be calculated based on demand flow units for each type of use.

Demand flow is determined to be uniform for each user within a given user classification. 



 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT B - AMENDMENTS 

 

 



Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:  

Review draft 5-year revenue requirements and provide staff with direction regarding the potential elimination 
of previously adopted rate study goals and structure of possible 5-year rate increases. 

 
SUMMARY:  

In accordance with District Strategic Plan Objective 5.21, staff is developing a 2023 Water and Sewer Rate 
Study.  On February 8, 2023, the Board adopted the 2023 Water and Sewer Rate Study Principles and Goals, 
which provides guiding principles in the creation of the rate study.  On April 12, the Board discussed 
preliminary revenue requirements and 5-year rate increase options. Since that time, Tuolumne Utilities District 
(TUD) adopted rates that significantly impact the District’s water and sewer expenses.  
 
The attached 5-year water and sewer revenue requirements has been updated to illustrate the amount of 
additional revenue that will be needed to meet projected water and sewer revenue and expenses over the 
next five years, including TUD’s adopted increases.  Projected operating expenses are primarily based on the 
average of the following two values:  the average of actual expenses over the previous five years and the 
current fiscal year budget.  Projected salaries are based on current employees remaining with the District over 
the next five years.  Projected capital expenses are based on the District’s adopted 5-Year CIP plans. 
 
The updated revenue requirement analyses show that water and sewer rate increases are needed to meet 
projected expenses and financial planning goals over the next five years.  Rate increases can be structured in 
several different ways over five years, which have varied impacts on customers and reserves.  To gain a general 
perspective on rate increase magnitude and 5-year increase structures, staff has presented the three options 
below.  At the April Board meeting, the Board expressed consensus for a front-loaded rate structure that 
decreased each year.  After review of the updated options, the Board’s Water/Sewer Committee 
recommended that the front-loaded structure be slightly modified as described in option 2 below and that all 
options be re-presented to the Board for discussion. 

1. Increase rates to meet actual revenue requirement each year. 
2. Increase rates with a large increase in initial years and relatively even increases in subsequent years. 
3. Increase rates relatively evenly over five years.  

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• 5-Year Water and Sewer Revenue Requirement Analysis 

• 5-Year Rate Increase Options 

ITEM #: 06C ITEM TYPE:    ☐ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☒ Both 
 

SUBJECT: Discussion/action regarding updated draft water and sewer rate study revenue requirements. 
 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☐ N/A    ☒ Advances Goal/Objective #’s: __5.21__________________ 



22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28
Est. Actuals Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget

Operating Expenses

Salaries 335,173$              344,769$              360,956$              380,929$              399,578$              416,098$              

Benefits 176,905                201,287                204,018                211,869                221,512                231,424                

Equip, Auto, Maint, & Repairs 172,838                152,300                149,132                155,097                161,300                167,751                

Materials & Supplies 42,085                  49,440                  45,847                  47,681                  49,589                  51,572                  

Outside Services 173,441                446,148                26,812                  27,885                  29,001                  30,161                  

Other (Purchased Water, Utilities, Regulatory Fees etc.) 229,615                247,100                255,134                264,251                273,591                283,267                

Total Program Expenses 1,130,057$          1,441,044$          1,041,898$          1,087,712$          1,134,570$          1,180,274$          

Administrative Cost Allocation 358,361                381,544                393,056                409,248                426,833                441,265                
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 1,488,418$          1,822,588$          1,434,954$          1,496,960$          1,561,403$          1,621,539$          

Capital and Debt Service

Debt Service 188,614$              110,684$              110,539$              110,389$              110,272$              110,070$              

Capital Outlay 313,276                1,803,810             530,000                315,000                115,000                265,000                

Total Capital & Debt Service 501,890$             1,914,494$          640,539$             425,389$             225,272$             375,070$             

Reserve Funding Requirements

Transfer To/(From) Capital Reserve (27,266)                 (675,750)              (493,703)              

Transfer To/(From) Operating Reserve 10,311                  16,111                  15,034                  15,405                  

Transfer To/(From) Stabilization Reserve
Total Transfers To/(From) Reserve Accounts (27,266)$              (675,750)$            (483,392)$            16,111$                15,034$                15,405$                

TOTAL REVENUE REQUIRED 1,963,042$          3,061,331$          1,592,101$          1,938,460$          1,801,710$          2,012,013$          

Current Revenue

Service Charges 1,463,949$          1,463,949$          1,463,949$          1,463,949$          1,463,949$          1,463,949$          

Fees 17,925                  17,980                  17,980                  17,980                  17,980                  17,980                  

Taxes & Assessments 40,096                  40,078                  40,880                  41,697                  42,531                  43,382                  

Grants & Donations 353,554                1,487,978             -                             

Other Revenue 85,337                  48,000                  36,000                  24,000                  24,000                  24,000                  
Total Program Revenue 1,960,861$          3,057,985$          1,558,809$          1,547,626$          1,548,460$          1,549,311$          

Administrative Cost Allocation 2,181                    3,346                    3,346                    3,346                    3,346                    3,346                    
GRAND TOTAL CURRENT REVENUE 1,963,042$          3,061,331$          1,562,155$          1,550,972$          1,551,806$          1,552,657$          

21.72% 3.88% 7.48% 5.22% 3.30% 3.30%

Additional Rate Revenue Required (0)$                        (0)$                        (29,947)$              (387,487)$            (249,904)$            (459,356)$            

Twain Harte Community Services District

WATER PROJECTIONS WITH CURRENT RATES

5 Year Revenue Requirement Analysis

GRAND TOTAL RATE REVENUE REQUIRED: $1,126,695



23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28
Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget

Operating Expenses

Salaries 344,769$              360,956$              380,929$              399,578$              416,098$              

Benefits 201,287                204,018                211,869                221,512                231,424                

Equip, Auto, Maint, & Repairs 152,300                149,132                155,097                161,300                167,751                

Materials & Supplies 49,440                  45,847                  47,681                  49,589                  51,572                  

Outside Services 446,148                26,812                  27,885                  29,001                  30,161                  

Other (Purchased Water, Utilities, Regulatory Fees etc.) 247,100                255,134                264,251                273,591                283,267                

Total Program Expenses 1,441,044$          1,041,898$          1,087,712$          1,134,570$          1,180,274$          

Administrative Cost Allocation 381,544                393,056                409,248                426,833                441,265                
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 1,822,588$          1,434,954$          1,496,960$          1,561,403$          1,621,539$          

Capital and Debt Service

Debt Service 110,684$              110,539$              110,389$              110,272$              110,070$              

Capital Outlay 1,803,810             530,000                315,000                115,000                265,000                

Total Capital & Debt Service 1,914,494$          640,539$             425,389$              225,272$              375,070$              

Reserve Funding Requirements

Transfer To/(From) Capital Reserve (625,000)              (348,181)              (149,721)               50,827                  (96,862)                 

Transfer To/(From) Operating Reserve -                        10,311                  16,111                  15,034                  15,405                  

Transfer To/(From) Stabilization Reserve -                        -                        -                         -                         -                         
Total Transfers To/(From) Reserve Accounts (625,000)$            (337,870)$            (133,610)$            65,861$                (81,457)$               

TOTAL REVENUE REQUIRED 3,112,081$          1,737,623$          1,788,739$          1,852,537$          1,915,151$          

Current Revenue

Service Charges 1,514,699$          1,639,418$          1,701,716$           1,764,679$           1,826,443$           

Fees 17,980                  17,980                  17,980                  17,980                  17,980                  

Taxes & Assessments 40,078                  40,880                  41,697                  42,531                  43,382                  

Grants & Donations 1,487,978             -                             -                             -                             -                             

Other Revenue 48,000                  36,000                  24,000                  24,000                  24,000                  
Total Program Revenue 3,108,735$          1,734,277$          1,785,393$          1,849,190$          1,911,805$          

Administrative Cost Allocation 3,346                    3,346                    3,346                     3,346                     3,346                     
GRAND TOTAL CURRENT REVENUE 3,112,081$          1,737,623$          1,788,739$          1,852,536$          1,915,151$          

3.88% 7.48% 5.22% 3.30% 3.30%

Additional Rate Revenue Required (0)$                        0$                          0$                          (0)$                         (0)$                         

Percentage Increase 6.4% 5.3% 3.8% 3.7% 3.5%

$/month/Base Rate 4.57$                    3.99$                    3.04$                     3.07$                     3.01$                     

Twain Harte Community Services District

WATER PROJECTIONS WITH FRONT LOADED INCREASE

5 Year Revenue Requirement Analysis



 $-

 $2.00

 $4.00

 $6.00

 $8.00

 $10.00

 $12.00

 $14.00

 $16.00

 $18.00

 $20.00

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 TOTAL

$-   

$1.46 

$17.44 

$-   $-   

$18.91 

$3.82 $3.80 $3.75 $3.73 $3.81 

$18.91 

$4.57 

$3.99 

$3.04 $3.07 $3.01 

$17.69 

Water Rate Analysis

As Needed Level Front Load



22/23 23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28
Est. Actuals Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget

Expenses

Salaries 185,286$               186,563$               195,727$               206,429$               216,416$               225,179$               

Benefits 98,000                    109,937                  110,602                  116,058                  121,333                  126,736                 

Equip, Auto, Maint, & Repairs 69,351                    66,500                    69,160                    71,927                    74,804                    77,796                    

Materials & Supplies 5,112                      6,000                      6,240                      6,489                      6,749                      7,018                      

Outside Services 4,285                      30,350                    28,444                    29,582                    30,765                    31,995                    

Other (TUD Treatment & Disposal, Utilities, Regulatory Fees etc.) 529,590                  611,758                  696,177                  703,905                  714,236                  727,174                 

Total Program Expenses 891,624$               1,011,107$            1,106,350$            1,134,391$            1,164,303$            1,195,897$            

Administrative Cost Allocation 190,618                  202,949                  209,072                  217,685                  227,039                  234,716                 
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 1,082,242$            1,214,056$            1,315,422$            1,352,076$            1,391,342$            1,430,613$            

Capital and Debt Service

Capital Outlay 77,170                    301,500                  215,000                  150,000                  150,000                  220,000                 

Debt Service 16,976                    16,958                    16,862                    

Total Capital & Debt Service 94,146                    318,458                  231,862                  150,000                  150,000                  220,000                 

Reserve Funding Requirements

Transfer To/(From) Capital Reserve (53,568)                  (318,458)                (294,181)                

Transfer To/(From) Operating Reserve 47,685                    25,342                    9,163                      9,817                      9,817                      10,730                   

Transfer To/(From) Stabilization Reserve -                          
Total Transfers To/(From) Reserve Accounts (5,883)$                  (293,116)$              (285,018)$              9,817$                    9,817$                    10,730$                 

TOTAL REVENUE REQUIRED 1,170,505$            1,239,398$            1,262,266$            1,511,893$            1,551,159$            1,661,343$            

Current Revenue

Service Charges 1,137,469$            1,137,469$            1,137,469$            1,137,469$            1,137,469$            1,137,469$            

Fees 13,758                    13,758                    13,758                    13,758                    13,758                    13,758                    

Other Revenue 18,118                    18,118                    13,118                    8,118                      8,118                      8,118                      
Total Program Revenue 1,169,345$            1,169,345$            1,164,345$            1,159,345$            1,159,345$            1,159,345$            

Administrative Cost Allocation 1,160                      1,780                      1,780                      1,780                      1,780                      1,780                      
GRAND TOTAL CURRENT REVENUE 1,170,505$            1,171,125$            1,166,125$            1,161,125$            1,161,125$            1,161,125$            

ADDITIONAL RATE REVENUE REQUIRED (0)$                          (68,273)$                (96,141)$                (350,768)$              (390,034)$              (500,218)$              

Twain Harte Community Services District

SEWER PROJECTIONS WITH CURRENT RATES

Revenue Requirements Analysis

GRAND TOTAL RATE REVENUE REQUIRED: $1,405,434



23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28

Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget

Expenses

Salaries 186,563$           195,727$            206,429$           216,416$           225,179$                

Benefits 109,937             110,602              116,058             121,333              126,736                  

Equip, Auto, Maint, & Repairs 66,500                69,160                 71,927                74,804                77,796                    

Materials & Supplies 6,000                  6,240                   6,489                  6,749                  7,018                       

Outside Services 30,350                28,444                 29,582                30,765                31,995                    

Other (TUD Treatment & Disposal, Utilities, Regulatory Fees etc.) 611,758             696,177              703,905             714,236              727,174                  

Total Program Expenses 1,011,107$       1,106,350$        1,134,391$       1,164,303$        1,195,897$            

Administrative Cost Allocation 202,949             209,072              217,685             227,039              234,716                  
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 1,214,056$       1,315,422$        1,352,076$       1,391,342$        1,430,613$            

Capital and Debt Service

Capital Outlay 301,500             215,000              150,000             150,000              220,000                  

Debt Service 16,958                16,862                 -                           -                           -                               

Total Capital & Debt Service 318,458             231,862              150,000             150,000              220,000                  

Reserve Funding Requirements

Transfer To/(From) Capital Reserve (318,458)            (184,954)             (57,078)              (11,906)              (40,243)                   

Transfer To/(From) Operating Reserve 17,450               13,933                9,817                  9,817                  13,757                    

Transfer To/(From) Stabilization Reserve -                      

Reserve Funding (301,008)            (171,021)             (47,261)              (2,089)                 (26,486)                   

TOTAL REVENUE REQUIRED 1,231,506$       1,376,263$        1,454,815$       1,539,253$        1,624,127$            

Current Revenue

Service Charges 1,197,850$        1,347,607$         1,431,159$        1,515,597$        1,600,471$            

Fees 13,758                13,758                 13,758                13,758                13,758                    

Grants & Donations -                           -                            -                           -                           -                               

Other Revenue 18,118                13,118                 8,118                  8,118                  8,118                       
Total Program Revenue 1,229,726$       1,374,483$        1,453,035$       1,537,473$        1,622,347$            

Administrative Cost Allocation 1,780                  1,780                   1,780                  1,780                  1,780                       
GRAND TOTAL CURRENT REVENUE 1,231,506$       1,376,263$        1,454,815$       1,539,253$        1,624,127$            

Revenue Requirement (Shortage)/Surplus (0)$                      (0)$                       0$                        0$                        (0)$                           

Percentage Increase 9.80% 7.90% 6.20% 5.90% 5.60%

$/month/ESFR 5.73$                  5.08$                   4.30$                  4.34$                  4.37$                      

Twain Harte Community Services District

SEWER PROJECTIONS WITH FRONT LOADED RATE INCREASE

5 Revenue Requirements Analysis



 $-

 $5.00

 $10.00

 $15.00

 $20.00

 $25.00

 $30.00

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 TOTAL

$6.52 

$0.52 

$8.91 

$5.51 $5.76 

$27.22 

$4.91 $4.92 $4.92 $5.09 $5.37 

$25.21 

$5.73 
$5.08 

$4.30 $4.34 $4.37 

$23.82 

Sewer Rate Analysis

As Needed Level Front Load



Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

Adopt revisions to Policy #2011 – On-Call Duty. 
 

SUMMARY:  

On July 12, 2023, the Board adopted Resolution #23-28, which adjusted the Fiscal Year 2023-24 budget to 
change the Utility Maintenance Worker Position from a part-time to full-time position.  This budget 
adjustment also included a variety of cost-saving operational changes made possible by the change in Utility 
Maintenance Worker status.   
 
One of the operational changes included revision of the District’s after-hours standby program to have only 
one operator on-call instead of two. It also provided budget to incentivize operators who are not on-call to 
respond to an after-hours emergency when more than one operator is needed. 
 
The proposed revisions to District Policy #2011 (On-Call Duty) make the District’s policy consistent with the 
operational changes approved in the July Board meeting.  The changes generally include: 

• Changes the required number of on-call operators to one instead of two, except in special 
circumstances when the Operations Manager believes it is necessary to have more operators on-call. 

• Provides an incentive for operators who are not on-call, but respond to a request to assist the on-call 
operator in an after-hours emergency. Said incentive is pay for a minimum of three hours for said 
response. 

 
The Board’s Finance/Policy Committee reviewed the proposed revisions to Policy #2011 and recommends 
Board approval. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

Implementation of this policy revision is anticipated to result in more than $18,000 in savings, split between 
the Water and Sewer Funds. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Policy #2011 On Call Duty (Redlines Version) 

• Policy #2011 On Call Duty (Clean Version) 

ITEM #: 06D ITEM TYPE:    ☐ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☒ Both 
 

SUBJECT: Discussion/action to adopt revisions to Policy #2011 – On-Call Duty. 
 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☒ N/A    ☐ Advances Goal/Objective #’s:  __________ 



THCSD 2011 On-Call Duty 
Page 1 of 2 

 
 
POLICY TITLE:   On-Call Duty 
POLICY NUMBER:   2011 

ADOPTED:    October 11, 2007 

AMENDED:   November 9, 2022  
 

 
2011.10   PURPOSE 

Due to the potential health and safety risks that can be caused by emergencies 
in water and wastewater operations, the District must have Operators available 
and on-call after normal working hours, including nights, weekends and holidays.  
This Policy establishes requirements for an On-Call Duty system that requires 
Operators to be available twenty-four (24) hours a day to respond to any 
emergency which may arise.   
 
2011.20  SCHEDULING 

The Operations Manager will be responsible to create and post an On-Call Duty 
schedule for operations and maintenance employees that provides continuous 
on-call coverage of off-shift, night, weekend and holiday emergency work.  The 
schedule will rotate assignments to be fair to all employees.  Any employee so 
scheduled will be on-call as scheduled, including holidays. The Operations 
Manager shall be responsible to create clear guidelines to address schedule 
conflicts, trade requests, leaves of absence, etc. 
   
2011.30  ON-CALL DUTY REQUIREMENTS 

The general On-Call Duty requirements are listed below. The Operations 
Manager shall have authority to add to or clarify these requirements to best serve 
the District’s operational needs; however, changes that impact wages, hours or 
conditions of employment will require the District to meet and confer with the 
Labor Union prior to implementation.   
 

1. The District shall have at least two one Operators on-call during normal 
non-working hours. Only However, the Operations Manager may 
determine that certain emergencies situations will require response from 
bothmore than one on-call Operators. In such cases, Tthe Operations 
Manager will be responsible to determine who is the primary response 
Operator and who is the back-up Operator and may also identify the types 

 TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
 Policy and Procedure Manual  

kim
Typewritten text
REDLINES VERSION



THCSD 2011 On-Call Duty 
Page 2 of 2 

of calls that require response by any or all of the Operators assigned to 
On-Call Duty. 
 

2. Operators assigned to On-Call Duty may use time spent while on-call 
primarily for their own benefit; however, they must be accessible by 
telephone or pager at all times. 
 

3. Operators assigned to On-Call Duty shall promptly respond to emergency 
calls and must report to the District within 30 minutes whenever needed. 
No after hours calls or pages shall be ignored. 
 

4. Operators assigned to On-Call Duty must remain fit for duty at all times. 
This includes refraining from use of alcohol and other substances that 
inhibit the performance of work.  

  
2011.40  ON-CALL DUTY COMPENSATION 
 

2011.41 On-Call Pay. Operators assigned to On-Call Duty shall receive a 
daily stipend, whether or not they are called out for service. Stipend rates 
shall be negotiated and established in a Board-approved Union Labor 
Contract.  
 
2011.42 Call-Out Pay. Operators called back to work after the regular work 
shift (call-out) shall be entitled to call-out pay, which is a minimum of two 
(2) hours of overtime. Call-out pay shall be the subject to the following 
requirements: 
 

1. Once an employee is dispatched to respond to a call-out, time is 
counted as overtime and is paid at on and on-half (1 ½) times the 
employee’s normal hourly rate.  Time begins when the employee 
gets the call and starts travel to the work site and ends when the 
employee returns home. The employee shall record the date, time, 
reason for call-out, and the amount of call-out duty worked. 

 

2. Special tours of duty scheduled in advance (24-hour notice) are not 
considered call-out hours for purposes of this section. 

 

3. An employee need not be assigned to On-Call Duty to receive call-
out compensation. If an employee not assigned to On-Call Duty 
responds to assist the On-Call Duty operator with a call-out, he/she 
will receive a minimum of three (3) hours of overtime as an 
incentive for responding when not assigned to On-Call Duty. The 
Operations Manager, or his/her designee, will be responsible for 
determining which types of call-out situations warrant the 
assistance from an operator not assigned to On-Call Duty.   



THCSD 2011 On-Call Duty 
Page 1 of 2 

 
 
POLICY TITLE:   On-Call Duty 
POLICY NUMBER:   2011 

ADOPTED:    October 11, 2007 

AMENDED:   November 9, 2022  
 

 
2011.10   PURPOSE 

Due to the potential health and safety risks that can be caused by emergencies 
in water and wastewater operations, the District must have Operators available 
and on-call after normal working hours, including nights, weekends and holidays.  
This Policy establishes requirements for an On-Call Duty system that requires 
Operators to be available twenty-four (24) hours a day to respond to any 
emergency which may arise.   
 
2011.20  SCHEDULING 

The Operations Manager will be responsible to create and post an On-Call Duty 
schedule for operations and maintenance employees that provides continuous 
on-call coverage of off-shift, night, weekend and holiday emergency work.  The 
schedule will rotate assignments to be fair to all employees.  Any employee so 
scheduled will be on-call as scheduled, including holidays. The Operations 
Manager shall be responsible to create clear guidelines to address schedule 
conflicts, trade requests, leaves of absence, etc. 
   
2011.30  ON-CALL DUTY REQUIREMENTS 

The general On-Call Duty requirements are listed below. The Operations 
Manager shall have authority to add to or clarify these requirements to best serve 
the District’s operational needs; however, changes that impact wages, hours or 
conditions of employment will require the District to meet and confer with the 
Labor Union prior to implementation.   
 

1. The District shall have at least one Operator on-call during normal non-
working hours. However, the Operations Manager may determine that 
certain situations will require more than one on-call Operators. In such 
cases, the Operations Manager will be responsible to determine who is 
the primary response Operator and who is the back-up Operator and may 
also identify the types of calls that require response by any or all of the 
Operators assigned to On-Call Duty. 

 TWAIN HARTE COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 
 Policy and Procedure Manual  

kim
Typewritten text
PROPOSED REVISIONS - CLEAN VERSION



THCSD 2011 On-Call Duty 
Page 2 of 2 

 
2. Operators assigned to On-Call Duty may use time spent while on-call 

primarily for their own benefit; however, they must be accessible by 
telephone or pager at all times. 
 

3. Operators assigned to On-Call Duty shall promptly respond to emergency 
calls and must report to the District within 30 minutes whenever needed. 
No after hours calls or pages shall be ignored. 
 

4. Operators assigned to On-Call Duty must remain fit for duty at all times. 
This includes refraining from use of alcohol and other substances that 
inhibit the performance of work.  

  
2011.40  ON-CALL DUTY COMPENSATION 
 

2011.41 On-Call Pay. Operators assigned to On-Call Duty shall receive a 
daily stipend, whether or not they are called out for service. Stipend rates 
shall be negotiated and established in a Board-approved Union Labor 
Contract.  
 
2011.42 Call-Out Pay. Operators called back to work after the regular work 
shift (call-out) shall be entitled to call-out pay, which is a minimum of two 
(2) hours of overtime. Call-out pay shall be the subject to the following 
requirements: 
 

1. Once an employee is dispatched to respond to a call-out, time is 
counted as overtime and is paid at on and on-half (1 ½) times the 
employee’s normal hourly rate.  Time begins when the employee 
gets the call and starts travel to the work site and ends when the 
employee returns home. The employee shall record the date, time, 
reason for call-out, and the amount of call-out duty worked. 

 

2. Special tours of duty scheduled in advance (24-hour notice) are not 
considered call-out hours for purposes of this section. 

 

3. An employee need not be assigned to On-Call Duty to receive call-
out compensation. If an employee not assigned to On-Call Duty 
responds to assist the On-Call Duty operator with a call-out, he/she 
will receive a minimum of three (3) hours of overtime as an 
incentive for responding when not assigned to On-Call Duty. The 
Operations Manager, or his/her designee, will be responsible for 
determining which types of call-out situations warrant the 
assistance from an operator not assigned to On-Call Duty.   



Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 
 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

Approve a letter of support for proposed constitutional amendment ACA 13 – Voting Thresholds. 
 

SUMMARY:  

In 2022, the Board adopted a resolution opposing Initiative 21-0042A1, which would have devastating impacts 
on the District’s ability to establish sufficient rates to provide reliable services to its customers. If Initiative 21-
0042A1 passed, it would raise voting thresholds for the passage of certain types of proposed increases in 
public agency charges to two-thirds of voters.  
 
Proposed Assembly Constitution Amendment 13 (ACA 13) requires any constitutional initiative proposing to 
increase voter thresholds to only pass if it meets the same voter threshold it proposes. In practical terms, the 
successful passage of ACA 13 would mean that Initiative 21-0042A1 would be required to garner the approval 
of two-thirds of voters in order for the initiative constitutional amendment to be considered approved. Failure 
to garner the approval of two-thirds of voters in this scenario would mean that the entire measure and all of 
its provisions would fail to become law. 
 
California Special Districts Association (CSDA) has supported ACA 13 because it will protect local control in 
communities throughout California by preserving the majority vote and preventing a smaller percentage of 
statewide voters from overruling the actions of local voters related to essential local services and 
infrastructure. Because ACA 13 protects the democratic process in local communities, CSDA is encouraging its 
members to submit letters of support.  
 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None.  
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• ACA 13 Support Request Email. 

• ACA 13 Support Letter. 

ITEM #: 06E ITEM TYPE:    ☐ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☒ Both 
 

SUBJECT: 
Discussion/action to approve a letter of support for proposed constitutional amendment ACA 13 
– Voting Thresholds. 

 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☒ N/A    ☐ Advances Goal/Objective #’s:  __________ 



1

Tom Trott

From: Dane Wadle <danew@csda.net>
Sent: Friday, August 18, 2023 4:38 PM
To: Dane Wadle
Subject: ACA 13 Support Request

Good afternoon:  
 
I’m reaching out to you on a development related to Initiative 21-0042A1 (the CBRT Initiative). CSDA previously received 
a copy of your agency’s opposition to this measure. 
 
Assembly Member Christopher Ward has amended Assembly Constitutional Amendment 13, related to ballot measures. 
There is significant interplay between ACA 13 and Initiative 21-0042A1— in short, successful passage of ACA 13 is 
expected to protect public agencies from the potentially disastrous effects of the initiative measure.  
 
For that reason, I believe your agency would be interested in supporting Assembly Member Ward’s ACA 13. 
 
ACA 13, if passed by two-thirds of the California Legislature, would propose to voters the following: 

 If an initiative constitutional amendment includes provisions that impose vote thresholds greater than a simple 
majority of votes cast, then that initiative constitutional amendment must receive a percentage of votes in support 
equal to those increased vote thresholds. 

o i.e., if an initiative constitutional amendment includes a provision that would impose a supermajority (e.g., 
three-fifths, two-thirds, four-fifths, etc.) voter approval threshold, then that initiative would be required to 
gain the approval of the same super majority (three-fifths, two-thirds, four-fifths, etc.; whatever threshold 
the initiative proposes) of California voters in order to pass 

o if the initiative constitutional amendment includes provisions that impose a supermajority vote threshold 
and fails to gain the corresponding supermajority of voters in support of the underlying amendment, the 
initiative constitutional amendment would not be considered approved, thereby failing in its entirety 

 
As you may recall, Initiative 21-0042A1 imposes thresholds requiring the approval of two-thirds of voters in various places 
throughout the text of the measure. The successful passage of ACA 13 would mean that Initiative 21-0042A1 would be 
required to garner the approval of two-thirds of voters in order for the initiative constitutional amendment to be considered 
approved; failure to garner the approval of two-thirds of voters in this scenario would mean that the entire measure and all 
of its provisions would fail to become law. 
 
Here's where you and your district come in… 
 
CSDA is encouraging agencies opposed to Initiative 21-0042A1 to consider supporting ACA 13, and to submit a letter of 
support to that effect. To make this process easy, CSDA has developed a sample letter your agency can use to express 
its support.  
 

LINK TO SAMPLE LETTER 
 
These letters to the author will demonstrate how important this is to public agencies, including special districts.  
 
Please feel free to reach out to me with any questions. Thank you for your continued support of CSDA’s advocacy efforts. 
 
Sincerely,  
Dane 
 
Dane Wadlé, CPFO 
Senior Public Affairs Field Coordinator – Sierra Network 

  
Join us for the 2023 CSDA  Annual Conference & Exhibitor Showcase 
August 28 – 31, 2023 in Monterey 
 



2

California Special Districts Association 
1112 I Street, Suite 200 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
877.924.2732 office 
916.947.6432 cell 
916.442.7889 fax 
www.csda.net 
 
A Proud California Special Districts Alliance Partner. 
California Special Districts Association 
Special District Risk Management Authority 
CSDA Finance Corporation 
  

 
 



Twain Harte Community Services District 
22912 Vantage Pointe Dr ▪ Twain Harte, CA 95383 

Phone: (209) 586-3172 ▪ Fax: (209) 586-0424 
www.twainhartecsd.com 

                  Directors: Eileen Mannix ▪ Charlotte Bohlman ▪ Gary Sipperley ▪ Kathryn deGroot ▪ Richard Knudson 

 

September 13, 2023 
 
The Honorable Christopher Ward     
California State Assembly 
1021 O Street, Suite 6350 
Sacramento, CA 95814 
 
RE: Assembly Constitutional Amendment 13 (Ward) – Support [As Amended August 17, 2023] 
 
Dear Assembly Member Ward: 
 
The Twain Harte Community Services District is pleased to support your Assembly Constitutional Amendment 13, 
related to protecting the majority vote. The Twain Harte Community Services District provides water, sewer, park 
and recreation, fire protection and hydroelectric services to an approximate 3-square mile area, consisting of 
Twain Harte's downtown residential and commercial zones (approximate 2,500 population). 
 
Under current law, an initiative constitutional amendment that proposes to amend the California Constitution 
requires a simple majority of voters casting votes in favor of the measure for the amendment to be approved. 
Notably, this simple majority requirement is irrespective of any of the provisions contained within the proposed 
constitutional amendment; should the text of the proposed constitutional amendment contain provisions that 
would otherwise require voter thresholds in excess of a simple majority in the future, those increased vote 
thresholds may nonetheless be imposed with a simple majority of voters. Phrased another way, this allows a 
simple majority of voters to insert a three-fifths, two-thirds, four-fifths, or higher vote threshold into the 
California Constitution, even without the corresponding level of support in terms of votes cast in favor of the 
original amendment proposal. 
 
ACA 13 would propose to California voters a solution to this problem with the initiative process: if placed on the 
ballot by the California Legislature, California voters would be asked to decide whether an initiative constitutional 
amendment containing provisions that increase vote thresholds should be required to attain the same proportion 
of votes in favor of the amendment that the proposed increased vote thresholds would demand. In this way, ACA 
13 would ensure that a proposal cannot impose vote thresholds on our communities and our State that exceed 
the level of support for imposing such thresholds.  
 
ACA 13 protects the democratic process in local communities by ensuring that a simple majority of statewide 
voters cannot restrict the will of a supermajority of voters in a local community. For these reasons, Twain Harte 
Community Services District is pleased to support Assembly Constitutional Amendment 13. Please feel free to 
contact me with any questions.   
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
 
Eileen Mannix 
Board President  
Twain Harte Community Services District  
 



 

 

CC: The Honorable Jim Patterson  
 The Honorable Marie Alvarado-Gil 
 Marcus Detwiler, Legislative Representative, California Special Districts Association [advocacy@csda.net] 
 



Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

None. 

 

SUMMARY:  

This item provides an opportunity for individual Board members to provide a verbal report of District-related 

activities undertaken in the previous month. 

  

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None.  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

None.  

ITEM #: 07A ITEM TYPE:    ☒ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☐ Both 
 

SUBJECT: President and Board member reports.   
 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☒ N/A    ☐ Advances Goal/Objective #’s: ________________________ 



Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

None. 

 

SUMMARY:  

This item includes a written and verbal report from the Fire Chief regarding general operations of the District’s 

Fire Division over the previous month. 

  

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 Fire Operations Report  

 CERT Monthly Newsletter 

ITEM #: 07B ITEM TYPE:    ☒ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☐ Both 
 

SUBJECT: Fire Chief’s report.   
 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☒ N/A    ☐ Advances Goal/Objective #’s: ________________________ 



AUGUST 2023
Operations Report

Fire Division





Deployments 

Captain Albert Desrosiers deployed
to the South Fork Complex as a

Fire-Line E.M.T.

 Captain Orozco, Engineer Giglio,
and Engineer McNeal deployed to
the South Fork Complex Fire in

Hayfork, CA.  



FLEET/FACILITIES 

The Twain Harte Community
Center floors have been completed,
and the new TVs and the Internet
have been installed. Big thank you

to the fire staff for all the hard
work. 



Community Meeting

On August 1st, THFD participated in
National Night Out, Sponsored by the

Tuolumne County Sheriff's Department. 

On August 1st, Chief Gamez attended a
FEMA-sponsored Active Shooter tabletop

exercise. Numerous agencies from Tuolumne
County attended. 



Vegitation Manegament
Orgiance update

Before 

After



Vegitation Manegament
Orgiance update

Properties Inspected- 210
Letters of Compliance issued -184

Letters returned-1
Properties re-inspected and passed-24



August Responses-23 

On August 10th, C-720 and E-721
responded to a vegetation fire in the

Crystal Falls area. 



August  Training Hours-120

August's training topic was mini-fire pumps. Crews
practice setting up and breaking down each style of

fire pump.  



THFD INCIDENT STATISTICS  
August 2023.

EMS Incidents-56%

Grass Fires -6%

Structure Fires -12%

Good Intnet- 12%

False Alarms 3%

Hazardous Conditions 11%



Responses by District
August 2023

Twain Harte District-68%

Tuolumne County Fire-
28%

Cal Fire-4%



Serving Our Community

Twain Harte Area

Contents:

N o t e s  F r o m  T h e  
P r o g r a m  M a n a g e r                      P a g e  1

N a t i o n a l  N i g h t  O u t  2 0 2 3           P a g e  2

P a p a  S m u r f  U p d a t e                    P a g e  4  

M u s i c  I n  T h e  A i r                P a g e s  5  &  6

O u r  S u m m e r  V a c a t i o n s   P a g e s  7  t o  1 0

W h e r e  d o e s  t h e  t i m e  g o ?          P a g e  1 4

J u l y  E v e n t s                                P a g e  1 4

Monthly Update |  page 01

MONTHLY UPDATE
A u g u s t  2 0 2 3

Mary Schreiner, Editor & PIO
twainhartecert@gmail.com

As we watch the seasonal changes happen so go the

seasons of life,  changing without much notice.

Here we are at the end of summer and on the cusp of

seeing the beautiful fall  colors.  Along with those changes,

we find ourselves noting the changes in our own life.  We

are growing older each day, which is hard to measure

because we are so busy. But somehow when fall  arrives

the change is unmistakable, noticeable, and real!  We see

the color change, the leaves fall  to the ground, and the

trees preparing for the inevitable cold winter.

This autumn let us all  relish in the change, embrace the

coolness of the air,  and the light breeze that will  blow

the leaves to the ground. Along with this,  let’s appreciate

our relationships, embrace our friends and family, and

enjoy the lighthearted breeze of conversation.

August was a very busy month for us all .  We all  had

personal things to attend to but we balanced it with

volunteering for our community. As you will  read in the

newsletter we kept ourselves occupied. I hope you enjoy

reading all  about our activities.   All  I  can say is that I am

very grateful for the Twain Harte Area CERT staff and

volunteers; you color my life with happiness and joy.

NOTES FROM THE 
PROGRAM MANAGER
by Carol Hallett

E m e r g e n c y  P r e p  T r a i n i n g         P a g e  1 1

T w a i n  H a r t e  D r i v e             P a g e s  3  &  4

Paradise

S e p t e m b e r  S a f e t y  T i p s              P a g e  1 2

T w a i n  H a r t e  F i r e m e n ’ s  P a n c a k e
B r e a k f a s t                                    P a g e  1 3

When you know you live in

Photo by: Christy Olson



NATIONAL NIGHT OUT 2023
by Mary Schreiner, PIO 

Monthly Update |  page 02

National Night Out is an annual event, sponsored by the Sheriff’s Office,

that was created as a community-building campaign to improve police-

community partnerships. Typically held the first Tuesday in August,  this year, the event

was held at Eproson Park in Twain Harte. 

Along with the Sheriffs Office, many

other agencies participated: CalFire

Tuolumne-Calaveras Unit,  California

Department of Fish and Wildlife,

California State Parks, CHP-Sonora,

FEMA, Sonora Police Department,

Tuolumne County Animal Control,  TC

District Attorney’s Office, TC Probation

Dept, TCSO Community Services Unit,

TCSO Search and Rescue Unit,  TC Social

Services Dept, Twain Harte Fire, and, of

course, THA-CERT. 

Kids of all  ages enjoyed seeing the SWAT
and SAR vehicles,  fire engines, police canine units,  and fire fighting equipment,

including “jaws of life”.  You could experience using a fire hose, practice your radio

skills,  and cool down in THA-CERT’s Cooling Station. 

It was a fun evening that was very well attended by friends and neighbors who not only

the got to meet the first responders and agencies listed above, but also enjoy treats that

were available from SaveMart,  Twain Harte Pizza Factory, Kona Shaved Ice, Rock It

Tacos, and Simply Amazing Kettle Corn. 

Mark your calendars for the first Tuesday of August 2024 so you don’t miss out on this

fun and informative event. We will  post the location as soon as we know where it will  be

held.

THA-CERT members pose in front of the Cooling Station with a
member of the TCO

Members of all of the participating agencies pose for a group photo



TWAIN HARTE DRIVE LANE CLOSED
by Mike Mandell,  Team Leader

Monthly Update |  page 03

We received a request for deployment from Twain Harte Community 

Services District (THCSD) crew, specifically Miguel Fernandez.  Once we received

approval from Carol Hallett & Chief Gamez, we were ready to go… well sort of!

Miguel explained to Carol 

that they needed to pick up 

piles of debris along Twain 

Harte Drive (between 

Wayne’s Service Station and 

Marquis).   They would use 

shovels and a tractor and 

would load all  the piles into 

a trailer pulled by a truck.  

It  was obvious that we would 

need to close down a lane. 

We could have closed the entire lane from one end to the next but it  was early Friday

morning and Carol,  thinking about how this would affect the people who needed to get

to work or appointments, chose to close the lane just enough to keep the crews safe.

It was going to be a challenge to keep

everyone safe, keep traffic moving, and clean

up the piles along the roadway. Carol had a

brief with us before we got started, we were

assigned our jobs, given radios, and then we

waited. Carol was clear on what needed to be

done and we wanted to make sure the team

was all  there, along with the caution signs and

all the equipment. Once everything was in

place we got started. 

We closed the lane but just the distance 

needed for the crew. They cleaned up

the piles and loaded them into the

bucket of the tractor. Once the bucket

was full ,  we heard the announcement

over the radio from Carol requesting to

hold traffic in both directions so that

the tractor could load it into the trailer.

Then the tractor moved up the road to

the next pile along with the truck and

trailer.  That is when we heard another

transmission over the radio from Carol 



PAPA SMURF UPDATE
by Bob Schreiner, Logistics Section Chief

TWAIN HARTE DRIVE LANE CLOSED , cont'd

Monthly Update |  page 04

to move the line. We picked up the cones and

moved them up the road, while keeping enough

cones in place to keep the crew and our volunteers

safe and behind the orange cone line. Carol,  Mike,

Bob, and Mary D moved the cones like a

synchronized swimming team. Victoria and Lise

kept the traffic moving by communicating on the

radio. 

We heard positive comments from residents who

were caught up in the traffic.  This traffic control

project,  although different from most,  went very

smoothly. 

The Crew (from left): Mike Mandell, Lise Lemonnier, Victoria Forrester,
Linda Postma, and Mary Dearborn. Not pictured: Bob Schreiner and Carol

Hallett

The project of converting our land-sea container, affectionately referred to

as “Papa Smurf” (because it ’s “Smurf blue”),  into a climate-controlled storage and work

space is coming along. I ordered all  of the lumber, insulation, screws, nails,  and staples

that we will  need. All of the materials will  be delivered in early September and we can

start building walls and adding insulation. Installation of the electrical elements will

happen at a later date.

Once complete, all  of our equipment will  be able to be housed in one unit,  which will

make maintenance and inventory much easier, as well as being more efficient when we

need to load up for a deployment or event.  

Stay tuned for photos of our project in process and the finished product!



MUSIC IN THE AIR
by Ed Proctor,  Cooling/Warming Unit Leader

Monthly Update |  page 05

The third annual Sierra Bigfoot Music Festival occurred Friday, August 

25th, through Sunday, August 27th. It was a very well-run event with more

than 24 bands, musical artists,  and performers and 50 craft and food vendors. Twain

Harte Area CERT was requested by the organizers to deploy our cooling station for the

weekend, so we were able to enjoy the music (and the delicious food),  while providing a

place for everyone to cool off.  

We were able to setup on Thursday, and found out that there would be no EMTs

available during the weekend. This caused us to include first aid and AED equipment,

along with the pop-up tent and mist fan. 

The first shifts on Friday covered by

Carol Hallett,  my wife Odette, and myself.

The weather cooperated in not being too

hot, and the entire day was fairly quiet.

Mary Schreiner, Bob Schreiner, Carol,

and Victoria Forrester covered Saturday.

There were two aid events: one with a

woman experiencing a blood pressure

issue, and another who overheated.

Carol,  Mike Mandell,  and Mary Dearborn covered

Sunday. Again, there were several aid events involving

bandages being provided for several scrapes and cuts.

We were able to shut down the cooling tent by 4:30,

and we were all  finished by 5:30.

Both setup and take down were done by Carol,  Mary

and Bob Schreiner, Mike, and myself.

My thanks to all  who helped and volunteered.

Enjoying the mist beneath her wings



MUSIC IN THE AIR...THE HELPERS

Monthly Update |  page 06

Our volunteers,  the “Cool Kids”:

S e t  u p  a n d  t e a r  d o w n  c r e w :  M i k e  M a n d e l l ,  
M a r y  S c h r e i n e r ,  B o b  S c h r e i n e r ,  a n d  E d  P r o c t o r .  N o t

p i c t u r e d ,  C a r o l  H a l l e t t

Odette and Ed Proctor

Carol Hallett and Victoria Forrester

Mary Dearborn and Mike Mandell

Mike Mandell just hosing around

Mary and Bob Schreiner



OUR SUMMER VACATIONS
by THA-CERT Staff

Monthly Update |  page 07

This summer my favorite place

to be was at the beach on my

property, better known as Nana's

Beach.  Sitting there with my

bare feet in the cool water is the

best medicine ever.  No matter

what else is happening in our

lives being in your happy place

is important for the soul.

Carol Hallett ,  Program Manager

Growing up with no aunts,  uncles,  or first cousins

here in California, I  look forward to any

opportunity to connect with my east coast

relatives. There was an “impromptu mini-family

reunion in Maryland and I flew east to be there.

Ok, it  was my Aunt Jeanne’s memorial,  but as she

exceeded her goal of living to 100 by well over a

year, it  felt more like a family reunion. It was

great to see my cousins, their children, and their

children’s rapidly-growing families.  Despite the

circumstances, it  was a fun gathering and

wonderful to meet the newest members of the

family.

Mary Schreiner,  Public Information Officer

Great sighting in the Grand Tetons

this summer.

Margaret Lawrence,  Training Officer

Family time in Montreal.

Lise Lemonnier,  Planning Section Chief



OUR SUMMER VACATIONS, cont’d

Monthly Update |  page 08

I spent my summer evenings at

Bucks Patio Bar! The perfect escape!

 John Buckingham, Safety Officer  

Didn't really do much this year. Mostly

complained about the heat.  

Made it to the coast a couple of times. It was good

to get away. It 's  always good. Thought we might

get to Yosemite for a few days. Didn't happen.

Why is that? We can drive three plus hours to the

crazy Bay Area, but not two to pristine Yosemite?

What's wrong with this picture?

Speaking of pictures, I  have none. I gotta get out

more!

Bob Wagner,  Finance Section Chief

(Editor: Generic California coast photo, since Bob didn’t take any)

Not taking vacation until  October, but every

Wednesday evening during the summer you can

find us at the Concert in the Park. We pack up a

picnic dinner, the dog, chairs,  and a blanket

and head down to Tuolumne Memorial Park.  

Our Standard Poodle, Lulu, is always a hit with

everyone who stops by. The concerts are a great

break in the middle of the week and a nice way

to reconnect with neighbors and friends.. .  and

we get to enjoy some good music while doing it .

It ’s always sad when the concerts end, along

with summer, but we always look forward to

next year.

Bob Schreiner,  Logistics Section Chief



This is what I did for the

summer.. .dealt with a contractor,

counter guys, and cabinet guys who

couldn’t get along. Finally got it

done. 

Mike Mandell ,  Team Leader

Lost in the symphony.
Michelle Wagner,  UAS Unit Leader

Finding tranquility.

Randie Revilla,  Firefighter Rehab Unit Leader

OUR SUMMER VACATIONS, cont’d

Monthly Update |  page 09

El Nedo, Phillipines, living the

good life!

Matt Kain, Operations Section Chief



OUR SUMMER VACATIONS, cont’d

Monthly Update |  page 10

We went to see Cirque du Soleil  "Corteo" in

Sacramento for my birthday. Yes, that is a small

woman flying underneath a balloon above the

audience.

Ed Proctor,  Cooling/Warming Unit Leader

Great American Restoration Tour with Patriot friends in North

Carolina, Texas, and Oklahoma.

Linda Postma, Fund Raiser Coordinator



Monthly Update |  page 11

EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS TRAINING
by Margaret Lawrence, Training Officer

Twelve members of our community are now prepared  to evacuate their 

homes quickly in the event of an emergency. Carol Hallett,  THA-CERT 

Program Manager, did a great Go Bag demonstration for our August training. Carol also

talked about the need for first aid and emergency kits.  

Items to consider for your first aid kit,

along with extra bandaids, include

antiseptic wipes, gauze/sterile pads,

cold packs, triangle bandages to make a

sling if needed, hand sanitizer, and

soap. Items you might want to include

in your emergency kits include toilet

paper, N-95 masks (to keep smoke

particulate matter out of your lungs),

mylar emergency blankets,  flash light,  

extra drinking  water/dehydrated food, duct

tape, body wipes, can opener and solar

lanterns.

Having your Go Bag and first aid/emergency

kits ready to go at a moment’s notice is

critical in an emergency situation. Make sure

you are prepared today.

For more information, please visit our website

at:  https://www.thacert.org

LUCAS Device
The Twain Harte Summer Outdoor Festival

was a fundraiser for the LUCAS Device.  We

tallied about $2K in profit .   So our grand

total so far is $6K. 

Thank you to all  who so generously donated

and to the volunteers who made this all

happen.

Our next fundraiser for this device is the

Twain Harte Fireman’s Pancake Breakfast.   

All  proceeds go towards the purchase of a

Lucas Device for Twain Harte Area.  There

are only 2 devices in Toulumne County and

they are both down the hill .

https://www.thacert.org/


SEPTEMBER SAFETY TIPS 
by John Buckingham, Safety Officer

Monthly Update |  page 12

September is National Preparedness Month. We at THA-CERT are all  

about being prepared. In addition to the suggestions below, check out our

web page at https://www.thacert.org for information and videos to help you prepare for

an emergency.

 1)  Learn your risks and responses. Be informed of your options. Receive alerts wherever

you are or what you are doing. In Tuolumne County, sign up to receive automated alerts

from TCSO via you home phone, email,  text message, or a combination of these options.

To sign up, go to: https://www.tuolumnecounty.ca.gov/1170/Emergency-Alerts

 2) Make a plan or plans to deal with risks.  Develop an exit strategy from the risky

situations. Go to https://www.ready.gov/ for more information on making a plan.

 3) Build a supply kit to escape with. Go to https://www.ready.gov/ for lists and

suggestions on what to pack. 

 4) Get involved with community 

groups and nonprofits to keep 

you informed.. .  l ike THA-CERT! 

Our monthly training meetings 

are open to all  and are 

no cost/no obligation. Our 

monthly newsletter keeps you

updated on upcoming trainings. 

Being prepared helps protect 

you and your family from the devastating consequences of a disaster or emergency. 

Editor’s  note:  In light of  the internet and cell  phone

outages experienced in Tuolumne county August

30th and 31st,  it  is  a reminder that being part of  a

radio network is  an important part of  preparedness.

The Twain Harte Radio Net meets twice a week,

Wednesday at 7:00pm and Sunday at 9:00am. 

https://www.thacert.org/
https://www.tuolumnecounty.ca.gov/1170/Emergency-Alerts
https://www.ready.gov/
https://www.ready.gov/


Monthly Update |  page 05Monthly Update |  page 13

TWAIN HARTE PANCAKE BREAKFAST IS ON SUNDAY



Monthly Update |  page 05

WHERE DOES THE TIME GO?
by Lise Lemonnier,  Planning Section Chief

The total THA-CERT volunteer hours for August are:        

Administration =     203 

Training =                 45

Deployment =            74

Total August hours =322  

Meetings
THCSD Board Meeting
https://www.twainhartecsd.com/board-meetings             CERT & Fire Association Board Meeting
Wednesday, September 13, 2023, 9:00 am                            Thursday, September 14, 2023, 9:30 am
                                                                                                                                                          

Radio Net
Join the Twain Harte Radio Net.  We meet
twice a week.  Wednesday at 7:00 pm and
Sunday at 9:00 am.  If you want to borrow a
radio to test, we have some available; once you
test it, you should purchase one for yourself.  
Each of you should be on this net.  

Events
Visit Tuolumne County:
https://www.visittuolumne.com/events

Twain Harte Chamber of Commerce:
https://www.twainhartecc.com/events

Monthly Update |  page 14

Training

We hope you enjoy this month's  issue.  Our goal is  to provide information to the community,

focusing on safety and health.  If  you have a suggestion for future articles ,  please contact

twainhartecert@gmail.com for consideration of the topic by the board.

Save The Date!

What training would you  be interested in
attending in 2024? Contact us at
twainhartecert@gmail.com with your
suggestions. 

https://www.twainhartecsd.com/board-meetings
https://www.visittuolumne.com/events
https://www.twainhartecc.com/events
mailto:twainhartecert@gmail.com


Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

None 

 

SUMMARY:  

This item includes a written and verbal report from the Operations Manager regarding general operations of 

the District’s Operations Division over the previous month. The Operations Division is responsible for water, 

sewer, and parks and recreations services. 

  

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 Operations Manager Report  

 

ITEM #: 07C ITEM TYPE:    ☒ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☐ Both 
 

SUBJECT: Operations Manager’s report.   
 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☒ N/A    ☐ Advances Goal/Objective #’s: ________________________ 



 
1 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

Water/Sewer/Park 

Division 

 

 

For August 2023 

 

 

Board Meeting 9/13/23 

 

 

 

 

TWAIN HARTE CSD 
OPERATIONS 

REPORT 

 

• We provided a tour to Richard Knudson’s 

family and friends of the SWTP. 

 

• Semiannual State of California sanitary 

inspection of all water facilities was 

performed. The state’s engineering report is 

pending. We received congratulations from 

their representatives on the great condition of 

our facilities and felt that our system could be 

an example of the right way of running a water 

system for other and even much larger 

systems. 

 

• The Bigfoot Festival at our park facilities 

occurred successfully. The organizers loved 

the new ballfield lights. 

What’s New 

thank 

 



 
2 | P a g e  
 

Highlights 

• MG #2 Tank rehab status: Roof is complete and interior sanding has begun. 

 

• 1 service line leak on Sierra and 1 main line break in Sherwood Forest was 

repaired. 

 



 
3 | P a g e  
 

 

• Shadybrook Liftstation experienced a pumping problem. We requested TUD’s 

assistance to use their large capacity pump truck. We were unable to contact our 

normal electricians to troubleshoot an electrical issue and TUD assisted us with that 

as well. 

 

 

Sewer 



 
4 | P a g e  
 

 

• Community Trail pickup road flagging was assisted by THA CERT  

• Sinkholes status: No Change. The County of Tuolumne is waiting on FEMA 

inspectors to complete an inspection of the area as part of the funding process. 

Tom Trott is working with the County and the storm water grant and can answer 

specific questions. 

 

 

• Routine oil changes on 2 trucks.  

• Replace rear tires on the backhoe. 

• Generator Preventative Maintenance Services provided at both of our large 

generators at the SWTP and Shadybrook sites. The fuel pump was replaced 

in the SWTP generator. 

 

Vehicles and Equipment 

Parks and Recreation 



 
5 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Water 

• Number of customer service calls were below average for this time of year (25-

40) for a total of 24.  

• 23 USA North Dig Alerts marked out (context in development). 

• Valves inspected and maintained out of 575: 225 or 39.1%.  (Context: 97 were 

inspected and maintained by this time last year). 

 

Water, Sewer and Parks Statistics 
 

0

50

100

150

200

250 Valve Exercising

Valves Turned Per Month 2023 Total Valves Turned 2023

25% Goal (144)



 
6 | P a g e  
 

Sewer 

• Number of customer service calls were average for this time of year (1-10) 

for a total of 5. 

• Sewer main footage cleaned out of 142,072’: 39,724’ or 28.0%. (Context: 

60,542,’ were cleaned by this time last year with an annual goal of 25% 

cleaned). 

• Manholes inspected and maintained out of 468: 79 or 16.8%. (Context: 

183 were cleaned by this time last year with an annual goal of 25%). 

 

 

0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

January February March April May June July August September October November December

Sewer Cleaning

Monthy Footage Cleaned 2023 Total Footage For The Year 2023

25% Goal (35,518') 
 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

January February March April May June July August September October November December

Manhole Inspections

Manholes Inspected Per Month 2023 Total Manholes Inspected For The Year 2023

25% Goal (117)



 
7 | P a g e  
 

Parks 

• Number of Parks surveys submitted for August was 4 plus 

one “comedic” submittal. 

 

 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

January February March April May June July August September October November December

Park Surveys

Number of Surveys Received Running Average Average Rate By Month



 
8 | P a g e  
 

Year: 2023          

Month 

Treatment 
Plant                
(Gal) 

Well #1          
(Gal) 

Well #2       
(Gal) 

Well #3 
(Gal) 

Total 
Recycled    

(Gal) 

Total 
Production  

(Gal)  

2013 Total 
Production 

(Gal) 

Decrease 
in Demand 

(%)  

Rain        
(inches) 

Snow      
(inches) 

Jan 
4,323,056 662,674 1,734,171 104,686 554,865 6,824,587   8,304,262 17.82%   14.53 7.63 

Feb 
4,903,690 0 0 0 376,325 4,903,690   5,836,362 15.98%   1.46 77 

Mar 
5,518,276 708,141 1,364,973 0 456,740 7,591,390   5,776,198 -31.43%   15.95 21.26 

Apr 
6,407,049 0 0 0 430,598 6,407,049   6,737,931 4.91%   0.38 0.52 

May 
5,932,501 308,793 1,318,443 0 467,854 7,559,737   9,624,851 21.46%   2.43 0 

Jun 
8,598,359 0 0 0 450,852 8,598,359   11,912,958 27.82%   0.33 0 

Jul 
10,608,454 0 0 0 450,386 10,608,454   14,740,484 28.03%   0.03 0 

Aug 
8,883,455 0 0 0 571,325 8,883,455   14,605,710 39.18%   0.71 0 

Sep 
          0             

Oct 
          0             

Nov 
          0             

Dec           0             

Total 55,174,840 1,679,608 4,417,587 104,686 3,758,945 61,376,721   77,538,756 20.84%   35.82 106.4 
 



Board Meeting Agenda Item Summary 
September 13, 2023                  

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

None. 

 

SUMMARY:  

This item includes a written and verbal report from the General Manager regarding overall District operations 

and operations of the District’s Administration Division over the previous month.  

  

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

None. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 General Manager’s Report  

 

ITEM #: 07D ITEM TYPE:    ☒ Discussion   ☐ Action   ☐ Both 
 

SUBJECT: General Manager’s report.   
 

RELATION TO STRATEGIC PLAN: ☒ N/A    ☐ Advances Goal/Objective #’s: ________________________ 



  

 

GM REPORT 
September 12, 2023 

 

nion  

 

 

 

 

   

ADMIN ACTIVITIES MEETINGS OF INTEREST 

CAPITAL PROJECTS PLANNING PROJECTS  

Motor Control Center (MCC) Upgrade 
Budget: $185,000 

Construction submittals to replace the MCC at the water treatment 
plant have been reviewed and approved. Manufacturer delays will 
push installation to March 2024 during low water demand months. 

Twain Harte Meadows Park 
Budget: $2,600,000 

Njirich & Sons started construction on a grant-funded project to 
build a new, community-designed park next to Eproson Park. 
Grading and utilities are expected to be complete this fall. Project 
completion is anticipated in early fall 2024. 

Million Gallon Tank #2 Rehabilitation 
Budget: $1,275,000 

Paso Robles Tank, Inc. was awarded this grant-funded project to 
replace tank roof and recoat the tank.  Construction is in progress 
and is anticipated to be complete in October 2023. 

Tennis/Pickleball Court Improvements  
Budget: $295,000 

Expansion/resurfacing of the pickleball courts with a sport grid 
surface and resurfacing of the tennis courts with a clay surface is 
currently in design. Pickleball construction is anticipated in spring. 

Community Center Improvements 
Budget: $67,000 Fire / $67,000 Park 

Kitchen remodel, ADA bathrooms, flooring and exterior repaint is 
complete. Parking lot is anticipated to be complete by November. 

FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES  

Water System Evaluation/Analysis 
Budget: $777,151 

Hydraulic model, water loss analysis and risk 
assessment and identification/prioritization of 
capital projects is complete. Design of Sherwood 
Forest water lines replacement is nearing 60%. 

• Water Ordinance Update 

• Wastewater Ordinance Update 

• TH Meadows Park Construction Management, 
Community Outreach, and Funding Request 

• Million Gallon Tank #2 Construction Management 

• FEMA Storm Damage Reimbursement Coordination 

• Records Retention Reorganization 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8/10 TH Meadows Pre-Construction Meeting 

8/18  County Drought Task Force 

8/23 SWRCB Water Facility Inspection  

8/28-31 CSDA Annual Conference  

9/14 TH Meadows Groundbreaking Ceremony 

 

FEMA SAFER GRANT - $2.7M 
Full-Time Firefighters / Award: Fall 2023 

MULTI-BENEFIT DROUGHT GRANT - $650K 
Turf Replacement / Award: Fall 2023 

MULTI-BENEFIT DROUGHT GRANT - $950K 
Shadybrook Silt Removal / Award: Fall 2023 

MULTI-BENEFIT DROUGHT GRANT - $1.7M 
Water Line Replacement / Award: Fall 2023 

STATE REVOLVING FUND - $4.5M 
TH Pipeline Project / Award: Spring 2024 

PROP 68 RURAL RECREATION - $1.25M 
TH Meadows Park / AWARDED 

MULTI-BENEFIT DROUGHT GRANT - $1.275M 
MG Tank #2 Rehab / AWARDED 

 


	Agenda -  September 13, 2023.pdf (p.1-3)
	05A-1 - Summary - Financial Statements.pdf (p.4)
	05A-2 - Financial Statements through 8.31.23.pdf (p.5)
	05B-1 - Summary - Minutes.pdf (p.6)
	05B-2 - Minutes Regular Meeting August 9, 2023.pdf (p.7-9)
	05C-1 - Summary - Annual Review of Policy #2002 - Discrimination.pdf (p.10)
	05C-2 - THCSD 2002 Discrimination Policy.pdf (p.11-12)
	05D-1 - Summary - Annual Review of Policy #3030 - Injury and Illness Prevention Program.pdf (p.13)
	05D-2 - THCSD 3030 Injury Illness Prevention Program.pdf (p.14-25)
	06A-1 - Summary - Introduction of Water Ordinance - Copy.pdf (p.26)
	06A-2 - Ordinance 31 - Water Code.pdf (p.27-66)
	06B-1 - Summary - Introduction of Sewer Ordinance.pdf (p.67)
	06B-2 - Ordinance 32 - Wastewater Code.pdf (p.68-115)
	06C-1 - Summary - Rate Study.pdf (p.116)
	06C-2 - Rate Study Analysis.pdf (p.117-122)
	Revenue Requirement Analysis 9.2023.pdf (p.1-4)
	Water Graph Analysis 9.2023.pdf (p.5)
	Sewer Graph Analysis 9.2023.pdf (p.6)

	06D-1 - Summary - Policy #2011 On Call Duty.pdf (p.123)
	06D-2- THCSD 2011 On-Call Duty_REV 2023-09-13 REDLINES.pdf (p.124-125)
	06D-3 - THCSD 2011 On-Call Duty_REV 2023-09-13 CLEAN REVISIONS.pdf (p.126-127)
	06E-1 - Summary - ACA 13.pdf (p.128)
	06E-2 - ACA 13 Support Request Email.pdf (p.129-130)
	06E-3 - ACA 13 Support Letter.pdf (p.131-132)
	07A-1 - Summary - Board Reports.pdf (p.133)
	07B-1 - Summary - Fire Chief's Report.pdf (p.134)
	07B-2 - Fire Ops Report - August 2023.pdf (p.135-145)
	07B-3 -August 2023 THA-CERT Newsletter.pdf (p.146-159)
	07C-1 - Summary - Water-Sewer Report.pdf (p.160)
	07C-2 - Operations Report - August 2023.pdf (p.161-168)
	07D-1 - Summary - GM Report.pdf (p.169)
	07D-2 - GM Report.pdf (p.170)


